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General Matters 
 

Unless otherwise noted or the context otherwise indicates, “GoviEx” or the “Company” 

refer to GoviEx Uranium Inc. and its direct and indirect subsidiaries. 

 

For reporting purposes, the Company presents its financial statements in United States dollars 

and in conformity with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”). 

 

Unless otherwise indicated, references to “$” or “dollars” in this Form 2A are references to 

the lawful currency of the United States, references to “Cdn$” are references to the lawful 

currency of Canada, references to “€” or “Euro” are references to the lawful currency of the 

19 European Union countries that use the common currency established under the Maastricht 

Treaty and references to “XOF” or “CFA francs” are references to the lawful currency of the 

West African Monetary Union. 

 

This document contains forward-looking information within the meaning of applicable 

securities laws. All information and statements other than statements of current or historical 

facts contained herein are forward-looking information. Forward-looking statements are 

subject to various risks and uncertainties concerning the specific factors disclosed here and 

elsewhere in GoviEx’s periodic filings with Canadian securities regulators. When used 

herein, words such as “will”, “could”, “plan”, “estimate”, “expect”, “intend”, “may”, 

“potential”, “should,” and similar expressions, are forward-looking statements. The 

information provided herein is necessarily summarized and may not contain all available 

material information. 

 

Forward-looking statements include, without limitation, statements regarding completion and 

expected benefits of the Rockgate Acquisition and other statements that are not facts. 

Forward-looking statements are based on a number of assumptions and estimates that, while 

considered reasonable by management based on the business and markets in which GoviEx 

operates, are inherently subject to significant operational, economic and competitive 

uncertainties and contingencies. 

 

The risk factors described or referred to in the section entitled “Financial Risks and 

Management Objectives” in GoviEx’s annual MD&A, available on the SEDAR website at 

www.sedar.com, should be reviewed in conjunction with the information found herein. 

 

Although GoviEx has attempted to identify important factors that could cause actual results, 

performance or achievements to differ materially from those contained in the forward-

looking statements, there can be other factors that cause results, performance or achievements 

not to be as anticipated, estimated or intended. There can be no assurance that such 

information will prove to be accurate or that management’s expectations or estimates of 

future developments, circumstances or results will materialize. As a result of these risks and 

uncertainties, the results or events predicted in these forward looking statements may differ 

materially from actual results or events. Accordingly, readers should not place undue reliance 

on forward-looking statements. The forward-looking statements herein are made as of the 

date of this filing, and GoviEx disclaims any intention or obligation to update or revise such 

information, except as required by applicable law. 
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2. Corporate Structure 

GoviEx is a mineral resources company focused on the exploration and development of 

uranium properties. The Company’s principal objective is to become a significant uranium 

producer through the continued exploration and development of its Madaouela Project, in 

Niger.  

Incorporation and Offices 

GoviEx was incorporated in the British Virgin Islands on June 16, 2006 pursuant to the BVI 

Business Companies Act, 2004 under the name Gobi High Power Exploration Inc. The 

Company changed its name to Govi High Power Exploration Inc. on February 26, 2007 and 

subsequently to GoviEx Uranium Inc. on September 8, 2008. Effective March 1, 2011, 

GoviEx was continued under the Business Corporations Act (British Columbia) (the 

“BCBCA”) and became a British Columbia corporation. 

The Company’s registered and head office is located at World Trade Centre, Suite 654 – 999 

Canada Place, Vancouver, British Columbia, Canada, V6C 3E1.  

Reorganization 

On March 12, 2014, the Company amended its articles of continuance so as (i) to reclassify 

each of its outstanding original common share as a Class B Common Share and (ii) to create 

a new class of common shares, being the Class A Common Shares. 

Class B Common Shares cannot be transferred except with the consent of the Company’s 

directors or in the event of a take-over bid. Conversely, the Class A Common Shares are 

(subject to applicable law) freely-trading and may be listed on a stock exchange.  

The Class A Common Shares and Class B Common Shares carry identical rights to vote, to 

receive dividends and to an equal share of the Company’s assets upon winding up or 

dissolution (See “Description of Securities - Authorized and Issued Shares”).  

Initial Public Offering 

The Company successfully closed its Initial Public Offering (“IPO”) of its Class A Common 

Shares on the Canadian Securities Exchange (the “CSE”) on June 19, 2014, and trades under 

the ticker CSE:GXU. 

As the date hereof the Company had a total of 168,151,349 Class A Common Shares and 0 

Class B Common Shares issued and outstanding.  

Intercorporate Relationships 

The Company has two direct wholly-owned subsidiaries, GoviEx Niger Holdings Ltd. 

(“GoviEx Niger”) and GoviEx (Barbados) Inc. (“GoviEx Barbados”). GoviEx Niger is the 

holder of the Madaouela II, III, IV, Anou Mellé and Eralrar exploration licenses. The 

Madaouela I mining license was issued to GoviEx Niger who holds such license on behalf of 

the operating mining company to be incorporated to hold such mining license in accordance 

with applicable mining laws of the Republic of Niger.  GoviEx Niger has a wholly-owned 

subsidiary GoviEx Niger SA that is the Company’s operating company in Niger, employing 
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the Company’s Nigerien staff.  GoviEx Barbados and its wholly-owned subsidiary GoviEx 

Agadez Niger SA are presently dormant companies, with no assets or employees.  

The following diagram illustrates the Company’s inter-corporate relationships:  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

(1) Under the terms of the Niger mining code and the Company’s mineral conventions, the Company is be required to transfer to the Niger 

government 10% of the shares of the operating company that will ultimately be incorporated in Niger to hold the Madaouela I mining 

license, which would be free of charges and non-dilutable. The Niger government would also have the option to purchase an additional 

30% equity interest at fair market value (subject to certain conditions) of such operating company. (See “Republic of Niger – Mineral 

Rights and Mining Law in Niger”). 

 
3. General Development of the Business 

 

Following its incorporation, the Company’s first major investment was the acquisition of the 

Madaouela I, II, III, IV and Anou Mellé tenements in May 2007 pursuant to mining 

conventions between the Republic of Niger and GoviEx Niger. Exploration licenses for these 

tenements were awarded in June 2007 by the Niger Ministry of Mines and Industrial 

Development. The Company paid €25 million for the exploration licenses and would be 

required to pay, as a one-time payment, a further €7 million on the publication of the decree 

in the official gazette of the Republic of Niger of the conversion of any one of such 

exploration licences to a mining license. Following their acquisition, the Company 

commenced exploration activities.  

The Company funded the acquisition of the exploration licenses and its initial exploration 

activities through three private placements in 2007 raising aggregate proceeds of 

approximately $60 million. 

Concurrently with the grant of the exploration licenses for the Madaouela tenements, GoviEx, 

GoviEx Niger and Trendfield Holdings Limited (“THL”), the private mining and consulting 

firm that originally identified the availability of the Madaouela tenements for the Company, 

entered into an investment agreement and shareholders agreement whereby the Company and 

THL agreed to jointly participate in the development of the Madaouela Project through the 

operation of GoviEx Niger, of which both the Company and THL were shareholders. 

Exploration Licenses 

Madaouela II 
Madaouela III 
Madaouela IV 

Anou Mellé 
Eralrar 

 

Mining Licence 
Madaouela I(1) 

 

GoviEx Niger 
Holdings Ltd.  

(British Virgin Islands) 

GoviEx Uranium Inc.  
(British Columbia) 

GoviEx Niger SA 
(Niger) 

GoviEx Agadez 
Niger SA 

(Niger) 

GoviEx (Barbados) 
Inc. 

(Barbados) 
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In February 2008, the Company acquired all of the shares of Semafo Energy (Barbados) 

Limited (now GoviEx Barbados) in consideration for the issuance of 10,000,000 common 

shares of the Company to SEMAFO Inc., a TSX-listed mining company based in Montreal, at 

a deemed value of $2.00 per share. Through this acquisition, the Company acquired and 

integrated Semafo Energy (Barbados) Limited’s experienced management and technical team 

and acquired the Company’s interest in the Telwa I, Gada I, Gada II, Assaouas III and 

Assaouas IV tenements. 

In July 2008, the Company purchased all of THL’s interest in GoviEx Niger in exchange for 

the issuance of 10,000,000 common shares of the Company at a deemed value of $2.25 per 

share and certain amendments to the parties’ original agreements. All agreements with THL 

have now been terminated.  

In August 2008, the Company entered into a strategic alliance agreement with Cameco 

Corporation (“Cameco”) pursuant to which Cameco invested $28,125,000 in the Company in 

exchange for 12.5 million common shares of the Company. Although Cameco had the option 

to increase its ownership interest in the Company, it elected not to exercise its option and the 

option expired. Cameco had the right to nominate one director to the Company’s board (the 

“Board”) and two of five members of the Company’s technical committee for so long as it 

owns more than 10% of the issued and outstanding shares. As at the date of this Form 2A, the 

strategic alliance agreement with Cameco has ended and Cameco remains a shareholder of 

the Company holding approximately 7.43% of the Company’s currently outstanding Class A 

Common Shares.  

In April 2010, the Company issued 7,300,000 common shares pursuant to a brokered private 

placement at a subscription price of $2.75 per share, for gross proceeds of $20,075,000. The 

net proceeds from the private placement were used for exploration activities and working 

capital purposes. 

In May 2010, the Minister of Mines and Industrial Development of Niger formally extended 

the expiry of the first validity period of the Madaouela I, II, III, IV and Anou Mellé 

exploration licenses to September 3, 2012, with no reduction in the area covered by the 

licenses. The extensions were granted to compensate for interruptions to the Company’s 

exploration activities at the Madaouela Project between August 2007 and November 2009 as 

a result of a government imposed state of alert.  

In July 2010, the Company completed a private placement of 1,666,667 common shares at a 

subscription price of $3.00 per share for gross proceeds of approximately $5,000,000 

In February 2011, the Ministry of Mines and Energy of Niger formally extended the expiry of 

the first validity period of the exploration licenses for the Telwa I, Gada I, Gada II, Assaouas 

III and Assaouas IV tenements to May 4, 2013 with no reduction in the area covered by the 

license due to the same set of circumstances described above.  

Between August and September 2011, the Company issued 1,000,001 common shares 

pursuant to a non-brokered private placement at a subscription price of $3.00 per share, for 

gross proceeds of approximately $3,000,000. The net proceeds from the private placement 

were used for exploration activities and working capital purposes. 
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On November 2, 2012, the Niger Ministry of Mines and Industrial Development granted a 36 

months renewal of the Madaouela I, II, III, IV and Anou Mellé, exploration licenses reducing 

the original granted surface area by fifty percent.  

On November 22, 2012, the Company submitted to the Niger authorities an application 

covering certain portions of the original Madaouela I and Madaouela VI exploration licenses 

that were the fifty percent excluded from the renewed licenses granted on November 2, 2012. 

These two areas were renamed Agaliouk and Eralrar.  

On May 3, 2013, GoviEx decided to not renew the licenses for the Telwa I, Gada I, Gada II, 

Assaouas III and Assaouas IV tenements, as the Company wished to focus its exploration and 

development, and financial commitment on the advanced Madaouela Project.  

On June 19, 2014, the Company successfully closed its IPO of its Class A Common Shares 

on the CSE. 

On October 30, 2014, the Company announced an agreement with Toshiba (as defined 

below) for a 12-month extension to an early redemption right of Toshiba’s uranium loan (B 

Bond) to December  31, 2015 (See “Toshiba Financing and Off-take Agreement” below for 

more details). 


On March 10, 2015, the Company completed and filed the Environmental and Social Impact 

Assessment (“ESIA”) on the Madaouela Project with The Nigerien Minster in charge of the 

environment.  

 

On April 21, 2015, the Company announced an updated NI 43-101 Mineral Resource 

assessment for the Marianne and Marilyn deposits that form part of the Madaouela Project. 

 

On June 30, 2015, the Company filed a mining license application with Minister in charge of 

mining for the Madaouela I tenement. 

 

On July 1, 2015, the Company filed renewal applications for Madaouela II, III, IV and Anou 

Melle exploration licenses with Minister in charge of mining.  

 

On July 28, 2015 the ESIA was approved by the Minister in charge of the environment.  

 

In August 2015, the Company filed a technical report under National Instrument 43-101 

“Standards of Disclosure for Mineral Projects" (“NI 43-101”) titled, “An Updated Integrated 

Development Plan for the Madaouela Project, Niger”, with an effective date of August 11, 

2015, and revision date of August 20, 2015 (the “Technical Report”). 

 

On September 2, 2015, the Company announced an agreement with Toshiba (as defined 

below) to a two-year extension of an early redemption right of Toshiba’s uranium loan (B 

Bond), to December 31, 2017 (See “Toshiba Financing and Off-take Agreement” below for 

more details). 
 
On November 3, 2015 the Company announced the closing of a non-brokered private 

placement (the “Placement”).  Under the Placement, which closed in two tranches, the 

Company issued collectively a total of 21,935,296 units (each a “Unit”) at a price of 

C$0.1125 per Unit, for total gross proceeds of C$2,467,721. Of the Units issued under the 
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Placement, 16,228,177 Units were issued on September 28, 2015 to Ivanhoe Industries, LLC, a 

new significant strategic shareholder of the Company, and 5,707,119 Units were issued on 

November 3, 2015 to various other subscribers. Each Unit consists of one Class A Common 

Share and one common share purchase warrant, which is exercisable for one Class A 

Common Share of the Issuer at a price of C$0.18 per share.  

 

On February 1, 2016, the Company confirmed that the Government of Niger has advised the 

Company that its mining license application for the Madaouela I tenement area has been 

approved by its Niger Counsel of Ministers.  The Company also confirms that the Eralrar 

exploration license has been approved, as well as the renewal applications for the Madaouela 

II, III, IV and Anou Melle exploration licenses. However, the Company’s application for 

Agaliouk exploration license was not approved. 

 
On March 30, 2016, the Company announced the execution of a Definitive Share Purchase 

Agreement with Denison Mines Corporation (“Denison”) for the Company to acquire all of 

Denison’s Africa-based uranium interests in exchange for 56,050,450 Class A Common 

Shares of the Company and 22,420,180 common share purchase warrants of the Company 

(the “Consideration Warrants”).  Each Consideration Warrant will be convertible into one 

Class A Common Share of the Issuer at a price of US$0.15 per share for a period of three (3) 

years from the date of issue. (See “Rockgate Acquisition”) 

Toshiba Financing and Off-take Agreement 

In April 2012, the Company and Toshiba Corporation (“Toshiba”) completed a bond 

purchase agreement (the “Purchase Agreement”) pursuant to which the Company issued to 

Toshiba a convertible bond (the “Tranche A Bond”) in the principal amount of $30,000,000, 

and issued to Toshiba a non-convertible bond (the “Tranche B Bond” and together with the 

Tranche A Bond, the “Bonds”) in the principal amount of 200,000 pounds of U3O8 

(collectively, the “Bond Financing”). Concurrent with the Bond Financing, the Company 

entered into an off-take agreement (the “Off-take Agreement”) with Toshiba and Advance 

Uranium Asset Management Limited (“AUAML”). 

Pursuant to the Purchase Agreement, Toshiba was granted certain rights, including: (a) the 

right to nominate one director to the Company’s board and one non-voting observer for so 

long as it owns 10% or more of the issued and outstanding common shares of the Company, 

and the right to nominate two directors to the Board for so long as it owns 19% or more of the 

issued and outstanding common shares of the Company; (b) the right to appoint one member 

to a joint committee for the development of the Madaouela Project for so long as Toshiba 

holds the Bonds, or owns 10% or more of the issued and outstanding common shares of the 

Company; (c) a pre-emptive right to participate pro rata in any public offering or private 

placement of common shares of the Company in order to maintain its percentage interest in 

the Company for so long as it owns 10% or more of the issued and outstanding common 

shares of the Company; and (d) the first right to hold good faith discussions with the 

Company to participate as a financial partner in any exploration or development opportunities 

being considered by the Company, for so long as Toshiba holds the Bonds, or owns 10% or 

more of the issued and outstanding common shares of the Company. The Purchase 

Agreement also puts certain restrictions on Toshiba, including: (i) a standstill which prevents, 

subject to certain exceptions, Toshiba from acquiring more than 19.9% of the Company’s 

issued and outstanding common shares; (ii) if, at the time of an initial public offering of the 

Company, Toshiba owns 5% or more of the issued and outstanding common shares of the 
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Company, Toshiba will be required to enter into a lock-up agreement and covenant not to sell 

or otherwise transfer any common shares for a period of at least 180 days; and (iii) 

restrictions on the ability to sell or transfer common shares if a Listing (as defined below) has 

occurred and while Toshiba has at least one nominee on the Board and holds 10% or more of 

the issued and outstanding common shares of the Company. 

To secure the obligations of the Company to Toshiba under the Bond Purchase Agreement 

and the Bonds, the Company granted a security interest over all of its present and after 

acquired property including a pledge of its shares in two of its subsidiaries, GoviEx Niger 

Holdings and GoviEx Barbados. Certain of the Company’s subsidiaries guaranteed the 

obligations of the Company to Toshiba and granted security in favour of Toshiba over their 

assets, as applicable. 

The Tranche A Bond, in the principal amount of $30,000,000 (the “Principal Amount”), had 

an interest at a rate of 15% per annum, compounded annually. The Principal Amount, plus 

any interest accrued thereon was payable by the Company to Toshiba on April 24, 2019 (the 

“Maturity Date”), subject to the earlier redemption by the Company. The Company was 

entitled to redeem the Tranche A Bond prior to the Maturity Date if: (a) the Company’s 

common shares so long as the Listing has occurred (on or prior to the date of delivery of the 

Redemption Shares) on the Toronto Stock Exchange (or on any other exchange as reasonably 

determined by the Company) such that the Company has a free float capitalization of at least 

20% of the outstanding common shares (the “Listing”); or (b) the Company repays the 

Tranche A Bond in full. If the Company redeemed the Tranche A Bond prior to the fifth 

anniversary of the closing date of the issuance of the Bonds, the Company must pay interest 

accrued on the Principal Amount up to and including the fifth anniversary of the closing date. 

If the Company redeemed the Tranche A Bond on or after the fifth anniversary of the closing 

date but prior to the Maturity Date, the Company must pay interest accrued on the Principal 

Amount up to and including the date the Company redeems the Tranche A Bond.  

On June 19, 2014, following the completion of the IPO, the Company redeemed the 

convertible debenture by issuing 28,395,466 Class A common shares for a total value of 

$60.3 million. Accordingly, the Tranche A Bond was fully repaid as of that date. 

The Tranche B Bond, in the principal amount of 200,000 pounds of U3O8 (the “Tranche B 

Principal Amount”), will bear interest at a rate of 12% per annum, stated in pounds of U308, 

compounded annually. The Tranche B Principal Amount, plus all interest accrued thereon, 

will be payable by the Company to Toshiba on April 24, 2020 (the “Tranche B Maturity 

Date”), subject to earlier redemption by Toshiba. Toshiba is entitled upon notice to the 

Company, such notice not to take effect prior to December 31, 2014, to have the Company 

repay the Tranche B Bond in full if: (i) the Company has not completed a feasibility study on 

the Madaouela Project prior to December 31, 2014; or (ii) the total production and capital 

costs per pound of U3O8, as estimated in a feasibility study prepared in respect of the 

Madaouela Project, is not lower than $44. In the event there is a change of control of the 

Company, and such change of control involves a competitor to Toshiba or its subsidiaries, 

Toshiba can require the Company to repay the Tranche B Bond in U3O8. 

On October 30, 2014 GoviEx and Toshiba agreed to a 12-month extension to an early 

redemption right of Toshiba’s uranium loan (Tranche B Bond), to December 31, 2015.  

 

On September 2, 2015 the Company announced that its strategic partner, Toshiba had agreed 

to a two-year extension of an early redemption right of Toshiba’s uranium loan (B Bond), to 
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December 31, 2017.  

 

Pursuant to the Off-take Agreement, as amended, AUAML has the right and obligation to 

purchase up to 600,000 pounds of U3O8 per year, for a period of 14 years, commencing as 

early as January 1, 2019. If the Company does not deliver notice to AUAML of a final 

investment decision to put the Property (as defined in the Off-take Agreement) into 

commercial operations by the last day of 2019, AUAML may terminate the Off-take 

Agreement. AUAML may also terminate the Off-take Agreement if commercial operations 

have not commenced by the last day of 2023 and any party may terminate the Off-take 

Agreement if commercial operations have not commenced by the last day of 2033. The 

commencement of commercial operations is defined in the Off-take Agreement as the first 

day of the year in which the Company’s board has delivered notice to AUAML that the 

Board has approved a business plan and budget which forecasts production from the 

Madaouela Project as defined in a definitive feasibility study. AUAML is a joint venture 

company owned 60% by Toshiba and 40% by Westinghouse Electric Company. Toshiba has 

guaranteed the obligations of AUAML under the Off-take Agreement. The Company’s 

obligation to deliver U3O8 under the Off-take Agreement is not effective unless and until it 

has approved a business plan and budget which forecasts production from the Madaouela 

Project equal or greater to the production base case to be proposed in a definitive feasibility 

study. The business plan and budget requires receipt of all necessary approvals and consents 

for such commercial production to begin, including, but not limited to, approval to sell or 

transfer U3O8. 

Rockgate Acquisition 

 

On March 30, 2016, the Company announced the execution of a Definitive Share Purchase 

Agreement with Denison Mines Corporation (“Denison”) for the Company to acquire all of 

Denison’s Africa-based uranium interests (the “Rockgate Acquisition”). 

 

Under the terms of the Rockgate Acquisition, GoviEx will acquire Denison’s wholly owned 

subsidiary, Rockgate Capital Corp., which holds all of Denison’s Africa-based uranium 

interests (collectively, “DML Africa”), in exchange for 56,050,450 Class A Common Shares 

of the Company (the “Consideration Shares”) and 22,420,180 Consideration Warrants. 

Upon completion of the Rockgate Acquisition, Denison will hold 25% of GoviEx’s current 

issued and outstanding Class A Common Shares (28% on a fully diluted basis). 
 

Each such Consideration Warrant will be convertible into one Class A Common Shares of 

GoviEx at a price of US$0.15 per share for a period of three (3) years. The Consideration 

Warrants will include an acceleration clause, which will provide that, in the event that the 

closing price of GoviEx's Class A Common Shares on the CSE is equal to or greater than 

C$0.24 per share for a period of 15 consecutive trading days, GoviEx may provide holders of 

the Consideration Warrants with written notice that holders have 30 days within which to 

exercise the Consideration Warrants on the original terms, failing which the exercise price of 

the Consideration Warrants will be increased to US$0.18 per share and the term of the 

Consideration Warrants will be reduced by six months.  

 

At the time of closing the Rockgate Acquisition, Denison will ensure that DML Africa is 

capitalized with a minimum working capital of US$700,000, which is equivalent to the 

forecasted annual budget for the assets of DML Africa.  
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For so long as Denison holds at least 5% of the issued and outstanding Class A Common 

Shares of GoviEx, Denison will have the right to appoint one director to the GoviEx board of 

directors and will have the right to participate in future GoviEx equity financings in order to 

maintain its pro- rata ownership.  

 

As part of the Rockgate Acquisition, GoviEx will undertake a concurrent equity financing by 

means of a non-brokered private placement (the “Placement”) to raise gross proceeds of not 

less than US$2,000,000, of which Denison will provide the lead order for 25% up to a 

maximum of US$500,000. The Placement is expected to be completed prior to, or 

concurrently with, the closing of the Rockgate Acquisition (“Closing”) and is a condition of 

Closing.  

 

The Rockgate Acquisition is expected to close on or about May 17, 2016, subject to the 

receipt of required consents and approvals, as well as the satisfaction of other conditions 

customary for a transaction of this nature.  

 
4 Narrative Description of the Business 

 
Overview 

 

The Company is a mineral resources company focused on the exploration and development 

of uranium properties. The Company's principal objective is to become a significant uranium 

producer through the continued exploration and development of its Madaouela Project in 

Niger. The Company's principal asset is an advanced-stage exploration property located in 

close proximity to the Somair and Cominak mines in the Agadez region of north central 

Niger in the heart of a historically prolific uranium-producing district. The Madaouela Project 

currently consists of six contiguous tenements known as Madaouela I, II, III, IV, Anou Mellé, 

and Eralrar. The Company holds exploration licenses for Madaouela II, III, IV Anou Mellé 

and Eralrar tenements, and a mining license for the Madaouela I tenement. Between January 

2008 and June 2013 GoviEx completed a total of 540,740 meters drilled on the Madaouela 

Project.  

On June 7, 2013 the Company issued an initial Integrated Development Plan (the “IDP”), 

which constituted the first NI 43-101 technical report on the Madaouela Project, and 

confirmed it as an advanced stage property, for which five of the deposits were shown could 

be economically developed to Pre-Feasibility Level of confidence (Marianne, Marilyn, 

Miriam, MSNE and Maryvonne). Metallurgical testing, conceptual mine design, 

infrastructure, rock mechanics, tailings and heap leach, hydrogeological and processing 

options have been studied to a level of Pre-Feasibility Confidence.  

On September 20, 2013 GoviEx updated the IDP following further metallurgical test work 

designed at improving the financial performance of the Madaouela Project. 

In August 2015, the Technical Report was released, which further updated the IDP taking 

into account an increase in the reported mineral resource, and additional metallurgical test 

work, for the Madaouela Project.  

The Company’s current resources are mainly located on five deposits on the Madaouela I 

tenement where the vast majority of the Company’s exploration and development drilling to 

date has been conducted. These five deposits contain 99 Mlb eU3O8 as Measured and 

Indicated Mineral Resources, and an additional 18 Mlb as drill Inferred Mineral Resources, 
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using a 0.4 kg/t eU cutoff. These deposits are in close proximity to producing mines in the 

district. Additionally, the Madaouela Project contains numerous prospective exploration 

targets that management believes to be worthy of continued exploration drilling on its other 

licenses. The Technical Report (based on resource estimates identified as of April 21, 2015), 

including conceptual project and capital operating costs, indicated: 

 Probable mineral reserves of 29.4 Mt at a grade of 0.93 kg/t U3O8 to contain 60.5 Mlb 

U3O8; 

 Approximately 2.69 Mlb per year U3O8 yellowcake production rate over 21 years; 

 Process recovery of 93.7% of contained U3O8 by means of radiometric sorting,  

ablation, 2-stage tank acid leaching, and solvent extraction with dry stack tailings;  

 Initial capital costs of $359 million, total life-of-mine (LoM) capital costs of $676 

million, and cash operating costs of $31.49/lb U3O8 including royalties or $24.49/lb 

U3O8 excluding royalties; 

 Resulting in an after-tax NPV of $340 million at an 8% discount rate, with an IRR of 

23.5%, using a long-term uranium price of $70/lb U3O8.  

Corporate Objective and Strategy 

The Company’s principal objective is to become a significant uranium producer through the 

continued exploration and development of its Madaouela Project, as well the identification 

and exploitation of other well located uranium properties and projects. The Company’s 

corporate strategy for achieving this objective involves: 

1. Continued Development of the Madaouela Project. The Company plans to advance 

the Madaouela Project toward production through detailed engineering in support of a 

definitive feasibility study;  

2. Exploration of Madaouela I, II, III, IV, Anou Mellé, and Eralrar. The Company 

plans to conduct additional exploration and development drilling on known and new 

targets to expand and define potential resources on the Madaouela I, II, III, IV, Anou 

Mellé and Eralrar tenements; and  

3. Ongoing Evaluation of Greenfield Exploration and Acquisition Opportunities. The 

Company plans to pursue greenfield exploration as well as acquisition opportunities 

in well located uranium properties and projects, including the completion of the 

Rockgate Acquisition.  

Company Strengths 

The Company believes that the following strengths will assist it in becoming a significant 

producer of uranium and position it to identify and exploit uranium projects in Niger, and 

elsewhere. 

Resource with Considerable Exploration Upside. According to the Technical Report, The 

Madaouela Project contains approximately 27 Mlb eU3O8 of measured resources and 73 Mlb 

eU3O8 of indicated resources as well as approximately 18 Mlb eU3O8 of inferred resources. 
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The Company believes, and SRK (as defined below) concurs, that the Madaouela Project 

may be sufficiently attractive from a technical and economic perspective that it justifies 

pursuit by the Company toward further resource definition, definitive feasibility study, and 

completion of the environmental and social impact assessment and, eventually, project 

development. Mineral resources which are not mineral reserves do not have demonstrated 

economic viability. See “Description of the Madaouela Project – Mineral Resource 

Estimates”.  

Significant Uranium Producing District. The Madaouela Project is located in the heart of 

Niger’s uranium producing district, and the exploration base camp is within 10 kilometres of 

the Somair and Cominak mines partially owned and operated by Areva. According to the 

World Nuclear Association, the Somair and Cominak mines together provide approximately 

7.5% of the world’s mined uranium output from Africa’s highest grade uranium ores. See 

“Description of the Madaouela Project”. 

Strong Project Economics. The Technical Report estimates the Madaouela Project as at 

August 2015 to have an after-tax net present value of $340 million, and an internal rate of 

return of 23.5%, at an 8% discount rate and using a $70/lb U3O8 price. Key components of 

this estimated net present value include an annual production of 2.69 Mlb per year U3O8 

yellowcake and an 93.7% ultimate recovery, generating a 21-year mine life, with initial 

capital costs estimated at $359 million, total life of mine capital costs at $676 million, and 

cash operating costs of $24.49/lb U3O8, excluding royalties and $31.49/lb U3O8 including 

royalties. See “Description of the Madaouela Project”.  

Leading Uranium Jurisdiction. Niger has been producing uranium, uninterrupted, since 

1971. At the end of 2011, cumulative uranium production from Niger exceeded 

approximately 118,000 tonnes. Niger’s 2006 mining law encourages foreign direct 

investment, and the country’s permitting process is transparent. Infrastructure in the vicinity 

of the Madaouela Project includes power lines connecting Arlit to the state-owned Sonichar 

coal mine and power station and an asphalt road to Agadez and on to Niamey, Niger’s capital 

city. In addition to Somair and Cominak mines partially owned by Areva, Niger hosts the 

Imouraren deposit being developed by Areva. According to Areva’s website, the Imouraren 

deposit covers 8 km by 2.5 km and contains 213,722tU of proven and probable reserves at 

0.08%U, and is expected to produce 5000 tU/yr for 35 years. Readers are cautioned that the 

Company will not necessarily obtain similar results at its mineral projects and that the 

information in the preceding sentence has not been verified by the Company’s qualified 

person. See “Republic of Niger“. 

Management and Board Expertise. The Company’s management team has considerable 

operational experience in Niger and is supported by a well-qualified technical team. In 

addition, the Company’s board of directors has a strong mix of technical, operational, 

financial and management expertise. See “Directors and Officers”. 

Govind Friedland – Executive Chairman 

Govind Friedland is a geological engineer from the Colorado School of Mines.  

From 2007-2011, as Chief Executive Officer of the Company, Mr. Friedland was primarily 

responsible for raising approximately $120 million to fund acquisitions, finance exploration 

and pursue other corporate initiatives focused on the Company's uranium assets in Niger. Mr. 

Friedland championed the Company’s policy of employing a 100% local workforce in Niger 

as the new paradigm for sustainable development in the region.  



GoviEx Uranium Inc.   FORM 2A – Annual Update 2015 

 

        

Page 13 
 

Daniel Major – Chief Executive Officer and Director 

Daniel Major is a mining engineer from the Camborne School of Mines in the UK. His career 

spans over 25 years in the mining industry.    

Matthew Lechtzier - Lead Independent Director  

Matthew Lechtzier is a qualified lawyer with extensive experience in marketing, transacting 

and documenting a variety of international financial transactions.  

Christopher Wallace – Independent Director 

Christopher Wallace, a graduate of Queen’s University (BA Hons. 1979) in Economics, has 

had a career in banking for 35 years. He is a Managing Director of CCC Investment Banking 

in Vancouver, Canada. 

Robert Hanson – Independent Director 

The Hon. Robert Hanson, son of the late Lord Hanson, is the Chairman of Hanson Family 

Holdings, an umbrella vehicle under which various diversified interests are held including the 

original family business, Hanson Transport Group Limited. Mr. Hanson ' served with NM 

Rothschild & Sons in London, Hong Kong, Chile and Spain before joining Hanson Plc. in the 

1990's where he was responsible for strategy, mergers, acquisitions and disposals. He 

founded Hanson Capital Limited and also Hanson Asset Management.  

Benoit La Salle – Independent Director 

Benoit La Salle, FCPA, FCA, has 17 years of experience in the development and operation of 

mining projects in West Africa. In 1995, he founded Canadian-based SEMAFO Inc., a 

successful gold producer in West Africa, including Niger.   

Anthony Abbenante – Independent Director 

Anthony Abbenante, director, is President of Ivanhoe Industries, LLC, He has a degree in 

Foreign Affairs from the University of Virginia and a Law degree from American University 

in Washington, D.C. 

Lei Wang - Chief Financial Officer 

Lei Wang is a member of the Chartered Professional Accountants of British Columbia and 

has more than 20 years of experience in the natural mineral resources sector. Ms. Wang has 

been integrally involved in all areas of financial reporting, regulatory compliance, treasury, 

tax and corporate finance activities for both publicly traded resource companies and privately 

held companies. Ms. Wang has held various financial roles, including CFO, in the Canadian 

mineral resources industry since 2001, and prior to that, Ms. Wang worked at Schlumberger 

in Aberdeen, Scotland and Glencore International in Beijing, China.  Ms. Wang holds a 

Bachelor of Science in Engineering from Qingdao University, China. 
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Aminou Boukary -  GoviEx’s Niger Country Manager  

Aminou Boukary has been working in the Niger mining sector for over 10 years. Prior to 

joining GoviEx in 2007, Mr. Boukary worked as Country Administration Manager for 

Petronas Carigali Niger from 2002 through 2007. He formed ConCord Travel and Services, a 

local consultancy firm, in 1998 where he worked as Manager/Director for 4 years. Prior to 

that he worked as West Africa Zone Analyst and Operations Manager for DHL International 

Niger JV from 1994 through 1998. Mr. Boukary holds a MBA from Nice University, France. 

Jerome Randabel - GoviEx’s Niger Chief Geologist 

Jerome Randabel is a graduate of the University of Adelaide, South Australia, where he 

earned a Bachelor of Science with Honours in geology. He has been a practicing geologist for 

the last 21 years, with the last 13 years specialising in the exploration and development of 

uranium deposits. He has worked on projects in Australia, Botswana, Kazakhstan, 

Kyrgyzstan and the USA and was the Chief Mine Geologist at the Beverley Uranium Mine in 

Australia. Mr. Randabel has successfully completed numerous technical reviews of a number 

of projects in Bulgaria, Mongolia, Australia and Niger on behalf of various companies. He 

has worked in senior technical positions for several mid to small cap companies as well as 

operating his own contract and consultancy service. 

Corporate Citizenship 

The conduct of corporate citizenship throughout the Company involves the consistent 

application of strategies and practices that treat people and the environment with respect, 

while pursuing the underlying business objective of building value.  

With specific reference to Niger, in response to a 2010 emergency food crisis in Niger the 

Company actively worked with a non-governmental organization that seeks to provide both 

emergency relief and long term and sustainable assistance that will impact the lives of 

children, families and communities in Niger. In November 2010, the Company assumed the 

cost of $1,000,000 in food aid to help relieve hunger and malnutrition among approximately 

30,000 residents of communities in the Arlit region of north-central Niger. Following the 

Company’s donation, the Government of Canada contributed aid valued at Cdn$4.7 million 

in funds, food supplies and education to help address the needs of Niger’s residents. 

GoviEx supports a 100% Nigerien employment strategy in Niger and seeks to maximize 

employment opportunities for Nigerien citizens, and currently the Company’s Country 

Manager and his subordinates, who constitute all but one of the Company’s staff members in 

Niger, are Nigeriens. In the process of developing the Madaouela Project GoviEx has sort to 

maximize the use of Nigerien contracting companies.  
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REPUBLIC OF NIGER 

Overview 

The Republic of Niger is one of the largest countries in West Africa, covering an area of 

1,267,000km
2
 (slightly less than twice the size of Texas in the United States). Niger is 

landlocked and is bordered by Mali, Algeria and Libya to the north, Chad to the east, Nigeria 

and Benin to the south, and Burkina Faso to the west as highlighted in the map below. 

Niamey, the capital city, is located in the southwest of the country.  

Republic of Niger 

 

 

Niger’s population is estimated at approximately 18 million people (July 2015 estimate). 

Islam is the dominant religion in the country, where approximately 80% of the population is 

Muslim. According to a 2001 census, the primary ethnic groups in Niger are the Haoussa 

(55%), Djerma Sonrai (21%), Tuareg (9%), Peuhl (9%) and the Kanouri Manga (5%). 

Geopolitical Issues 

Niger is a former French colony and was first incorporated into French West Africa in 1896. 

Niger became independent from France in 1960 and experienced single-party and military 

rule until 1993, when multiparty elections resulted in a democratic government. Political 

infighting brought the government to a standstill and in 1996 led to a coup d’état by Colonel 

Ibrahim Bare. In 1999, Colonel Bare was killed in a counter coup d’état by military officers 

who organized and held multiparty elections that brought Mamadou Tandja to power in 

December of that year. President Tandja was re-elected in 2004 to a five year term.  

Under the 1999 Niger constitution, a president is limited to two five-year terms. However, in 

May 2009 President Tandja, citing popular support, called for a referendum on whether to 

replace the 1999 constitution with a new one that would eliminate presidential term limits. 

Numerous opposition groups opposed the referendum and the Economic Community of West 

African States (“ECOWAS”) threatened sanctions against Niger if the proposed referendum 

was held. In May 2009, President Tandja dissolved the National Assembly, which was set to 

oppose and potentially block the referendum vote. 
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Following the dissolution of the National Assembly, a panel of the Niger Constitutional Court 

ruled that the proposed referendum was unconstitutional, which decision was later affirmed 

by the Court. Following the Court’s ruling, in June 2009, President Tandja assumed 

“emergency powers” and announced that he would rule by decree. Three days later he 

dissolved the Constitutional Court. In August 2009, a referendum was voted on and passed 

which removed presidential term limits and extended President Tandja’s current term for 

three more years. In October 2009, Niger was suspended from ECOWAS. 

In February 2010, the Niger military under Colonel Salou Djibo led a coup d’état which 

removed President Tandja from office. The new military junta, calling itself the Supreme 

Council for the Restoration of Democracy (“CSRD”), suspended the six-month-old 

constitution, and called on the population to remain calm and help Niger become a “model 

democracy”. 

Following the coup d’état, the leaders of the CSRD established an advisory council to review 

the Niger constitution and to propose amendments. In August 2010, the advisory council 

proposed approximately 130 amendments, including limiting presidential terms to two five-

year terms, amnesty for the perpetrators of the February 2010 coup d’état, and the 

reinstatement of the prime minister role in the Niger government. 

In October 2010, the CSRD survived an attempted coup d’état led by the former second-in-

command of the CSRD, which aimed to delay plans for transition to a democratically elected 

government. The revised constitution was subsequently approved by referendum in October 

2010. The first round of presidential and legislative elections was held in January 2011. 

These elections necessitated a second round of elections and in March 2011, the Niger 

opposition leader Mahamadou Issoufou was declared the winner, having received 58% of the 

vote. The election is intended to return Niger to civilian rule, with the handover of power 

from the military junta to the elected government to take place in April 2011. Mr. Issoufou 

was inaugurated on April 7, 2011, completing the return to democracy.  

Notwithstanding the political instability described above, all Nigerien government ministries, 

including the Ministry of Mines and Industrial Development, continued to operate normally 

under the direction of ministers temporarily appointed by the CSRD. The Company’s 

operations on the Madaouela Project were largely unaffected by the February 2010 coup 

d’état and the institution of the transitional government.  

Foumakoye Gado served in the government of Niger as Minister of Mines and Energy from 

April 1993 to October 1994 and he held the same post for a second time from April 2011 to 

September 2011. President Issoufou modified the government on September 12, 2011 by 

separating the mining portfolio from energy. 

Niger has had to respond to the threat posed by regional terrorist organizations, primarily Al-

Qaeda in the Islamic Maghreb (“AQIM”), which operates across the Sahara desert. In 

September 2010, seven Areva employees and contractors were kidnapped from their homes 

in Arlit by armed men. On February 25, 2011, three of the seven people kidnapped were 

released. On October 30, 2013 the remaining four people were released by AQIM. Niger has 

increased its efforts to combat the threat of terrorism. Neither the Company nor its personnel 

have suffered any terrorist attacks since the Company commenced exploration activities in 

the region in 2007. 
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On 2 April 2016, Mahamadou Issoufou was sworn in as President for a second term, and 

reappointed Brigi Rafini as Prime Minister. 

Economy 

Niger is one of the poorest countries in the world, ranking almost last on the United Nations 

Development Fund index of human development and near the bottom of the World Bank’s 

latest Doing Business 2012 Report. The World Bank believes Niger has made little progress 

in improving its difficult business environment. 

Niger’s economy centers on subsistence crops, livestock and uranium. Drought, 

desertification and strong population growth have historically undercut the economy and the 

wealth of its people.  

Niger shares a common currency, the CFA franc, and a common central bank, the Central 

Bank of West African States, with seven other members of the West African Monetary 

Union. 

In December 2000, Niger qualified for enhanced debt relief under the International Monetary 

Fund (“IMF”) program for Highly Indebted Poor Countries (“HIPC”) and concluded an 

agreement with the IMF on a Poverty Reduction and Growth Facility. Debt relief provided 

under the enhanced HIPC initiative significantly reduced Niger’s annual debt service 

obligations, freeing funds for expenditure on basic health care, primary education, HIV/AIDS 

prevention, rural infrastructure and other programs aimed at poverty reduction. In December 

2005, Niger received 100% multilateral debt relief from the IMF, which meant the 

forgiveness of approximately $86 million in debt by the IMF, excluding the remaining 

assistance under HIPC.  

Currently, nearly half of the government’s budget is derived from foreign donors. The 

government has announced an expansionary budget for 2012 with anticipated revenue 

increases from uranium, oil production, and donor aid, and it has made efforts to secure a 

new three-year extended credit facility with the IMF following the one that completed in 

2011. Food security remains a problem in the north of the country, exacerbated by the return 

of Libyan migrants. 

Uranium Mining in Niger 

Niger is one of the top ten producers of uranium worldwide and is a major contributor to the 

world uranium supply, producing 7.5% of the world’s uranium according to the World 

Nuclear Association. Uranium was discovered at Azelik (approximately 160km southwest of 

Arlit) in Niger in 1957 by the French Bureau de Recherches Geologiques et Minières, while 

looking for copper. The Commissariat a l’Energie Atomique (“CEA”) initiated further 

studies. Further discoveries in sandstone followed including at Abokurum (1959), Madaouela 

(1963), Arlette, Ariege, Artois & Tassa/Taza (1965), Imouraren (1966) and Akouta (1967). 

All of these deposits are close to Arlit and are owned by Areva, with the exception of 

Madaouela, to which the Company currently has rights. Uranium has been mined at the 

Arlette and Akouta deposits since 1971 and 1974, respectively, close to the twin mining 

towns of Arlit and Akokan, 900km north-east of Niamey (more than 1,200 km by road), on 

the southern border of the Sahara desert and on the western range of the Aïr Mountains. The 

vast majority of the uranium concentrates produced in Niger are exported for conversion, 

mostly to Areva group entities in France. Uranium exports, which account for about 50% of 

https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Brigi_Rafini
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exports by value, increased in 2011 following the start of production at a Chinese-operated 

mine at Azelik/Teguidda 160 kms southwest of Arlit.  

Mineral Rights and Mining Law in Niger 

In the Republic of Niger, all mineral rights are vested in the state and are administered by the 

Ministry of Mines and Industrial Development (until April 2012, the Ministry of Mines and 

Energy). The legal framework for the mining industry in Niger is provided in the Code 

Minier de la République du Niger, Law No. 2006-026, including Ordinance No. 93-16 and 

Ordinance No. 99-48. Mineral rights are acquired through a map-based system by direct 

application to the Niger government.  

In Niger, mineral rights are granted by license. There are four categories of mineral licenses 

available: prospecting licenses, exploration licenses, mining licenses, and a fourth type of 

license intended for small-scale mining and artisan levels of production. 

Prospecting License 

A prospecting license gives the holder the right to search for one or a number of minerals. A 

prospecting license is non-exclusive, but confers upon the holder the right to receive an 

exclusive exploration license within the limits and time validity of the license. Prospecting 

licenses are valid for one year and are renewable indefinitely for one-year periods. Only 

surface prospecting is permitted, including remote sensing techniques. The objective of the 

prospecting program must be stated in the application, although there are no fee or land 

holding requirements. 

Exploration License 

An exploration license is valid for three years and is renewable for two further three-year 

periods subject to certain land holding reduction criteria (50% each three years) and field 

works. The area held under a permit cannot exceed 500km
2
 in a rectangular block. An 

exploration license confers upon the holder the right to dispose of any minerals obtained 

during exploration and test work, so long as such works are not characterized as exploitation 

works and a declaration is made to the appropriate authority. An exploration license also 

confers the right to a mining license if a viable deposit is discovered. Applications for 

exploration licenses must stipulate the minerals sought (additional minerals can be included 

later), and must contain a work schedule and budget for the first three years. The duration of 

an exploration license may be extended by the Ministry of Mines and Industrial Development 

upon discovery of a marginal deposit within the license area if more favourable economic 

conditions exist. 

Mining License 

A mining license will be granted if a viable deposit is discovered, subject to the right of the 

Niger government to participate in the project, as described above. An application for a 

mining license must include an environmental and social impact assessment and a mine plan, 

among other things. A “small mine” permit is valid for five years, renewable for subsequent 

five-year periods, while a “large mine” permit is for an initial ten year term, renewable for 

subsequent five-year periods, and in both cases, until depletion of deposits for which they 

have been issued. 
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Further extensions are possible if commercial reserves remain.  

The requirements for an application include: 

 A feasibility study; 

 A mine plan for the development and mining of the deposit; 

 An environmental and social impact assessment, including an environmental 

protection program and a site rehabilitation plan; and 

 An environmental compliance certificate (this is linked to the requirement to obtain 

environmental authorization in compliance with Niger’s Environmental Code). 

Upon the grant of a mining license, the recipient of the license must issue to the Niger 

government such number of shares in the capital of the company that holds the license equal 

to 10% of the company’s issued and outstanding shares, free and clear of any costs. The 

Niger government is entitled to participate at no cost in any subsequent share issuances by the 

company that holds the license in order to maintain its 10% interest. 

In addition, the Niger government is entitled to participate, in cash or in kind, directly or 

through its agencies, in the development of any mineral project. The nature of and procedures 

for such participation are to be determined by agreement of the parties prior to granting of the 

mining license authorizing the development of the project. In any event, the Niger 

government interest in the capital of any mining holding company, including the 10% carried 

interest, may not exceed 40%, and the additional 30% equity interest is to be purchased by 

the Niger government at fair market value. 

Relevant International Law, Standards and Codes of Practice 

Most countries in the world, including Niger, are members of the IAEA. Several international 

legal instruments have been negotiated under the auspices of the IAEA and the IAEA plays 

an important role in assisting member states establish the necessary implementation 

legislation. The IAEA’s assistance takes the form of helping member states draft new nuclear 

laws, reviewing existing laws and regulations, hosting fellowship trainees, providing advice 

on institutional frameworks and conducting training courses on specific legal issues. 

DESCRIPTION OF THE MADAOUELA PROJECT 

The technical information in this section and generally in this Form 2A related to the 

Madaouela Project is based upon the Technical Report, which was authored by SRK 

Consulting (UK) Ltd. (“SRK”). The qualified person who reviewed the Technical Report is 

Robert Bowell, PhD C.Chem, C. Geol FGS, E.Geol, FIMM. The Technical Report was 

prepared using the industry-accepted Canadian Institute of Mining, Metallurgy and Petroleum 

(“CIM”) “Best Practices and Reporting Guidelines” for disclosing mineral exploration 

information, the Canadian Securities Administrators revised regulations in NI 43-101 and 

Companion Policy 43-101CP, and CIM Definition Standards for Mineral Resources and 

Mineral Reserves (May 10, 2014). In preparing the Technical Report, SRK reviewed 

information and data provided by the Company, conducted site visits to confirm the data and 

mineralization, and reviewed the project site access and layout. SRK also examined the 

exploration data gathered in the field and exploration database construction at the Company’s 

project field offices in Akokan, Niger.  
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Property, Description and Location 

Area and Location 

GoviEx’s properties consist of six adjoining land tenements, known as Madaouela I through 

IV, Eralrar, and Anou Mellé.  

The property is located in the Agadez region (Arlit Department), in the Northern central part 

of Niger (Western Africa), southeast from the town of Arlit and west of the Aïr Mountains. 

The town of Arlit was founded as a mining town when the first uranium deposits were 

discovered by the French Commissariat à l’Energie Atomique (“CEA”) in the 1960’s. Arlit is 

located a distance of approximately 800 km by air northeast from the capital city Niamey. 

Mineral Titles 

The Madaouela Project consists of six contiguous tenements, Madaouela I, II, III, IV, Anou 

Mellé and Eralrar. The exploration licenses for each of the Madaouela II, III, IV, Anou Mellé 

and Eralrar tenements as well as the mining licence for the Madaouela tenement are 100% 

owned by the Company. However, each of these licences is subject to Niger’s mining law 

which stipulates the government is entitled to a 10% carried interest upon the grant of a 

mining license. Exploration efforts to-date by the Company have been concentrated on the 

Madaouela I tenement. The decrees, mining convention, and exploration license that apply to 

the Madaouela I tenement are discussed below. Similar decrees, mining conventions, and 

exploration licenses are current and held 100% by the Company, subject to the government’s 

10% carried interest described above. 

GoviEx Niger entered into the Madaouela I Mining Convention (“MIMC” and its Side 

Agreement the “MIMC SA”) Niger on May 26, 2007. The MIMC and the MIMC SA sets out 

the rights and obligations of the parties for the management of the exploration program of the 

Madaouela Project and describes certain steps should an ore body be discovered on the 

property. The MIMC provides the geographic identification and location of the property 

itself. MIMC and MIMC SA were given legal status on May 26, 2007 after the promulgation 

of the corresponding Decree, referenced as no. 2007 186/PRN/MME and dated May 25, 

2007, in the State of Niger gazette No. 7 special edition dated June 8, 2007. The MIMC and 

the MIMC SA stipulates a 20 year term, starting on May 26, 2007 and the convention is 

renewable thereafter. 

The exploration license attached to that tenement is known as “Madaouela I” (“MIET”). Its 

legal status was recognized by the Order no. 50/MME/DM dated June 4, 2007, published in 

the same State of Niger gazette as cited previously. Exploration rights apply primarily to 

uranium-bearing minerals and also encompass other related minerals that could be discovered 

on the property. 

The two documents, MIMC and MIET go side by side. MIET must be kept in good standing 

and exploration work conducted according to the obligations of and commitments made by 

GNH Ltd. as set out in MIMC and MIET. Should the exploration title holder deliberately fail 

to meet its obligations, exploration title could be withdrawn. The exploration title was 

renewed on November 2, 2012 for a period of 36 months. 
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The MIMC requires that quarterly and annual reports on exploration technical results and 

expenditures be submitted to the Ministry of Mines and Industrial Development and comply 

with the report format as defined by the Ministry.  

An annual surface lease fee must be paid according to a fee schedule as stipulated in the 

MIMC. Surface lease fee rates increase every time the exploration license is renewed. 

Current annual surface lease fees are $4,517. In addition, an annual fixed contribution of 

$10,000 is payable for each exploration license to assist the Ministry in the training of its 

agents. Fixed fees must be paid every time there is a change in the status of the exploration 

license such as renewal, extension, sale or transfer. 

Under Niger's Mining Code, the exploration licenses may be (i) renewed for a second period 

of validity, provided that each time the exploration license is renewed, the area covered by 

the license must be reduced by half, (ii) extended for an additional year in order to finalize a 

feasibility study or (iii) converted to a mining license. 

Financial Conditions 

The exploration licenses for Madaouela I, II, III and IV tenements were granted by the 

Government of Niger in exchange for a payment by the Company of €25 million. The 

Company will pay an additional €7million, as a one-time payment, upon the conversion from 

an exploration license to a mining license on any one of the five tenements, pursuant to the 

payment schedule agreed in 2007.  

History 

The CEA conducted drilling operations using drilling grids of 800 m over large areas, and 

down to 100 m over two contiguous mineralized zones termed Marianne and Marilyn. The 

discovery of the Marilyn deposit was then drilled locally at 50 m and less spacing and an 

underground mining test was implemented for detailed sampling mineralogical studies, 

processing tests and investigations into the global rock quality from a mining perspective. 

CEA also discovered the other deposits that are the current active mines in the area (the 

Somaïr and Cominak operations), and subsequently ceased exploration work on Madaouela 

in 1967.  

The Japanese Power and Nuclear Fuel Development Corporation (“PNC”) conducted 

additional uranium exploration work up to 1992 and produced a report on the feasibility of 

the Madaouela deposit in 1993, which was later updated in 1999. Historical mineable mineral 

resources were stated at 5 to 15 Mlb U3O8, depending upon the cut-off used. 

A Chinese company (CNUC) took over Madaouela and held the land from 2003 to 2006. 

They drilled a limited number of holes and departed, apparently because they could not 

access the CEA original data. Little exploration work seems to have been carried out until 

GoviEx Niger Holdings Ltd. (“GNH Ltd.”) took over the property in 2007. Note that GoviEx 

was in the same situation as far as access to old data, and decided to reopen as many former 

holes as necessary to sustain its drilling program. 

Historic Mineral Resource and Reserve Estimates 

The 1993 PNC feasibility study quotes in pages 9-10 of the report the uranium resources as 

3,263,000 t at 0.19% uranium or 6,199.7 t uranium. In 1999, the updated PNC study reported 
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the mineable mineral resources of 2,658,719 t at 0.17% uranium or 4,366 t uranium, after 

simulating the underground operation on Marianne and Marilyn, using a cut-off grade of 

0.1%.  

These historical reserves are being presented as part of the historical record only, and 

demonstrate significant historical effort to evaluate the uranium mineralization at the 

Madaouela Uranium Project. These historical reserves have not been evaluated by a Qualified 

Person for compliance with CIM resource/reserve classification, and therefore should not be 

relied upon. In addition, GoviEx is not presenting these historical numbers as current 

resources or reserves for the Madaouela I tenement. GoviEx has completed additional drilling 

to the mineralization at Marianne and Marilyn, and other areas on the Property.  

Historic Production 

Historic production of uranium at the Madaouela Uranium Project is limited to the few 

thousand tonnes of material extracted from the CEA constructed test underground mine. 

Commercial mine production has not happened.  

Environmental Liabilities and Permitting 

CEA constructed a campsite to accommodate the CEA exploration team. Traditional 

buildings, mostly small structures made of “banko”, a mixture of clay and thatch, still remain 

in place and are currently used by the Niger military. A new Niger military camp is to be 

constructed, to be situated outside the northwest corner of the Madaouela I license area. 

Planning for this development has already started with a special committee setup that 

includes the Niger Government ministries of Defence, Finance and Mining, as well as 

GoviEx.  

CEA implemented some test mining work to further explore the Marilyn area. They sunk a 

shaft (67 m deep) and excavated a network of galleries (330 m) to sample the mineralization 

and better understand the mineralization at different locations. CEA stockpiled two ore grade 

categories and waste rock. Stockpiles remain enclosed within old CEA camp perimeter. 

These piles of uranium mineralized material will eventually need to be removed and / or 

processed, but they pose little environmental concern at present, as there is no residence or 

dwelling within 150 m.  

The drilling operation produces cuttings and mud that are collected in small pits on surface 

and examined by geologists to document the geology and the geophysical logs. When drilling 

through mineralized sections, the drilling operation produces uranium-bearing materials. 

Although their radioactivity is rather modest, such materials are thereafter disposed of and 

buried in small pits at each drillhole location in a manner to reach radioactivity readings 

equivalent to the general background radioactivity level on surface.  

GoviEx has not identified and SRK is not aware of any environmental liabilities relating to 

the historical drilling and limited test mining conducted by CEA. Neither the Company nor 

SRK is aware of any environmental liabilities relating to ongoing exploration activities by 

GoviEx at Madaouela. Continued detailed environmental assessment will be undertaken as 

part of definitive feasibility level work going forward. 
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Encumbrances 

The Niger government is entitled to a 10% carried interest in all mining projects upon a 

company applying for a mining license. It also has the option to purchase up to an additional 

30% equity interest at fair market value (subject to certain conditions). There is also a sliding 

scale royalty rate from 5.5% up to 12% for higher profit to revenue ratios payable to the 

Niger government on the commercial value of exported minerals. 

Location of Mineralization 

The known mineralized sectors of the Madaouela I tenement are identified below. 

Figure 1 – Madaouela Project – General Geological Map 
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Accessibility, Climate, Local Resources, Infrastructure and Physiography 

Accessibility 

The Madaouela I tenement is situated southeast of the mining town of Arlit, as shown on the 

map below, and the Marianne-Marilyn deposit is located approximately 9 km from Arlit. The 

main road (Arlit to Niamey via Agadez) heading south from Arlit, which is paved, goes 

through the tenements. The Madaouela camp is accessible through a dirt road branching off 

from the main road at the outskirt of Arlit. Off the main road, the use of 4x4 vehicles is 

required and access to all areas of the tenement is possible.  

An airstrip belonging to Somaïr, a subsidiary of Areva, was constructed at the start of their 

mining operation. Subject to the owner’s agreement and the payment of a landing fee the 

airstrip is used by charter companies. No commercial flights are available to Arlit. A recently 

renovated airstrip exists in Agadez, and is operational.  

Topography, Elevation and Vegetation 

Topographic relief on the Madaouela I tenement is minimal: a few tens of meters from high 

to low. Areas of drilling are at approximately 430m elevation above mean seal level. Over 

much of the areas drilled, relief is less than 15m from low ridges of sandstone outcrops to 

essentially flat sand covered plains. The nearest significant topographic area is the Aїr 

Mountains, the west flank of which is located 15 to 20km to the east of the Madaouela II 

tenement. 

Climate 

Niger is landlocked and almost entirely located within the semi-desert belt of Western Africa. 

Its climate is characterized by very scarce rainfalls, mostly concentrated during the summer 

months (July to September) with very hot temperatures notably at the end of spring time 

(April to June).  

Niger suffers occasionally from severe droughts that affect crops. In the Agadez region, to the 

south of GoviEx operations, there has been flooding during the summer rainy season, but this 

has not previously been a problem in the Arlit area or for the Madaouela Uranium Project.  

Local Resources and Infrastructure 

The towns of Arlit and Akokan have a combined population of approximately 160,000, and 

were developed by Somair (Arlit, from 1968) and Cominak (Akokan, from 1975), to house 

the staff and workers required for the uranium mines of the two mining companies, which 

continue to operate today. According to the World Nuclear Association, the Somair and 

Cominak mines together provide 7.5% of the world’s mined uranium output from Africa’s 

highest grade uranium ores. 

The proximity of the town of Arlit and Akokan are an asset for Madaouela I property. The 

towns have electricity, potable water and two hospitals. Every administration is represented 

and the main banks have outlets. There are filling stations, bus transportation, repair shops; 

essentially all that is needed to sustain the community services that would provide for people 

associated with mine development.  
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Arlit is connected to the Southern part of Niger via the so-called “uranium road” through 

Agadez and Tahoua to Niamey, the Niger capital further south. This road is paved almost the 

entire way, but poor road maintenance has resulted in deterioration. Following Areva’s recent 

decision to open the Imouraren mine south of the Arlit/Akokan area, some agreements have 

been reached with the state, and the maintenance of the road by private contractors has been 

re-initiated. Most of the goods and services that are necessary for people to live in Arlit and 

for the uranium industry to operate and produce come through that main access road. The 

Northern link to Algeria, a poorly maintained dirt road, is not practicable for major 

transportation of equipment and supplies, but is still used by most local transporters for petrol 

and food.  

A power line connects the town to the Sonichar coal-fired power station located North of 

Agadez. Extensions are reportedly planned to the power station to accommodate the needs of 

Imouraren and possibly any new mining operation. An intensive drilling program apparently 

has demonstrated mineable new zones of coal in the vicinity of the power station. However 

any future mines development would have to seek guarantees from Sonichar to provide 

sufficient supply. 

Land use related to any future exploration or/and mine development scheme is allowed under 

the MIMC provisions, including some flexibility to use any portion of the tenement land 

and/or any of neighbouring lands. Considering the essentially flat landscape and terrain of the 

Madaouela tenement, there should be no issues in identifying the surface areas that are 

necessary for any mine layout requirements for future facilities (waste rock and 

mineralization stock piles, tailings management facility, processing plant, etc.). 

GoviEx completed construction of an exploration camp consisting of several small buildings 

to facilitate drilling activities in the southern part of the Madaouela I license. Manpower 

requirements would be sourced as unskilled labour from the Arlit area, as well as locally from 

a workforce that has been locally trained for mining related skills. 

Physiography 

Niger’s highest mountain, Mount Bagzane (elevation 2,022 m), is located in the Aïr 

Mountain range to the east. Apart from the Niger River flowing through the southwestern tip 

of the country, and adjacent to the capital city of Niamey, there are no other free flowing 

perennial streams in Niger. 

Underground water resources may be available. Most of the water used in Niger comes from 

fossil water tables, which are increasingly drawn upon while little, if any, replenishment takes 

place considering the low rates of precipitation.  

In the vicinity of Arlit, sandstone formations that host underground water tables have been 

exploited since the start of uranium mining operations in the 1960s. The human concentration 

that has accumulated over the years in the Arlit region has contributed to a reduction in the 

underground water resources. Underground water is often artesian or confined, and it is 

common to find salty water that is not fit for human consumption.  

Native vegetation is scarce and has almost completely disappeared due to the combined 

effects of deforestation, overgrazing and droughts. There is no vegetation on the Madaouela I 

tenement. However, at times, local herds use this territory as traditional grazing land, mostly 

after the rainy season, which can turn the desert into a green countryside for just a few weeks. 
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Geological Setting 

Regional Geology 

Niger’s main uranium resources are contained in the sediments of the Tim Mersoï Basin, a 

sub-basin of the Phanerozoic Iullemeden Basin developed on the Proterozoic West-African 

shield basement, which is mainly the continental part of the sedimentary layers of the 

ullemmeden sedimentary basin. The Madaouela Project is located in the Tim Mersoi Basin. 

This basin covers most of the western part of the Republic of Niger with extensions into 

Algeria, Mali, Benin and Nigeria. It opens and deepens toward the south and west. During the 

Mesozoic and Tertiary periods, the area was mainly continental, periodically invaded by 

marine transgressions diminishing in thickness to the south and passing laterally into 

continental series. Uplift movements beginning in the Middle Eocene period gave the basin 

its present aspect. It was subsequently filled with continental fluvial and lacustrine sediments. 

In the Madaouela area, the total thickness of the sediments could reach up to 1500 m. The 

following geological periods can be distinguished: 

The basement of the Aїr Mountains, located east of the Madaouela Project area, is composed 

of Upper Proterozoic highly metamorphosed rocks, crosscut by numerous granite and 

alkaline intrusions. Several generations of granite have been recognized, such as early 

leucocrate granites, resulting from melting of the sediment, syntectonic calkalcaline granites, 

and late tardi-tectonic alkaline granites. A second generation of alkaline granites crosscut all 

the formation. These granites are postulated source rocks for the uranium hosted in the 

sedimentary basin rocks.  

The Paleozoic sediments are outcropping between Arlit and the Algerian boundary. Pre-

Carboniferous sedimentation consists of Cambro-Ordovician sandstones and graptolite 

shales. Several Devonian sandstone units are deposited from lower to upper Devonian.  

The Carboniferous formations are of major interest because they host the major reduced 

uranium deposits in the Arlit area. The stratigraphic sequence begins by the grey-black Talak 

Visean argillites, consisting of black fossiliferous shale. The Talak argillites are footwall 

rocks to the uranium mineralization on the Madaouela I tenement.  

The Akokan unit is conformably deposited on the Talak argilites. It is composed of medium 

grain feldspathic sandstone, developed to the north of the basin, and grading toward 

sandstone and clay to the south. The thickness of the Akokan unit seems to be controlled by 

narrow troughs, oriented to north 70°, that could correspond to extensional half-grabens. The 

Akokan unit can be mineralized. 

The Guezouman formation includes a lower and an upper member. The lower member is 

composed of fine to coarse-grained cross-bedded sandstone units with minor conglomerates. 

These contain quartz, phosphatic siltstone gravels, more or less deformed silty shale debris, 

metaquartzite, granite and rhyolite pebbles, indicating a high paleo-flow regime. The upper 

member consists of fine sandstone, siltstone and shale units. The Tchinezogue Namurian 

argillite and fine sandstone follow and are capped by the more quartzitic Unite Terminate. 

Several subunits are distinguished in the Tchinezogue, based on their color. The Guezouman 

sandstone is the primary host to uranium mineralization on the Madaouela Project. 
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The overlying late Carboniferous megasequence, the Tarat Formation, is of Westphalian age; 

it consists mainly of quartzose sandstones interbedded with organic- and pyrite- rich 

mudstones. The lateral variations are large, ranging from coarse sandstone, without internal 

preserved structures to fine sandstones and siltstones with micro-ripple laminations; it 

represents the filling of large fluviatile channels. 

The Madaouela sandstone displays large thickness variations along the regional faults. It 

corresponds to a finer sedimentation. Several other younger age sandstone units in the basin 

are potential or current hosts to uranium mineralization in the region.  

The Jurassic formations are largely distributed and cover most of the district. They have been 

collectively named the Agadez sandstone. The upper Tchirezrine unit is composed of 

feldspathic sandstone; it hosts the large Imouraren uranium deposit, which is located south of 

the Madaouela Project. 

Geological Structures 

The structure of the Tim Mersoi basin is marked by the west dipping of the units. The 

deformation of the sedimentary body resulted from basement fault activities located between 

the Aїr Mountains and the Azaoua lineament. Several large faults systems cut the sediments 

and have played a major role during the sedimentation since the Upper Paleozoic period. 

The main structure is the north trending Arlit fault-flexure on the In Azaoua continental 

lineament. It has been active during the sedimentation, especially during Carboniferous time, 

and has been reactivated several times. It shows a complex organization, with mainly 

sinistral, reverse and normal faults and folds, dome structures. All the major uranium deposits 

are located immediately to the east of the fault. The Madaouela fault, NE-SW shows similar 

characters, with a large uplift of the Northwestern compartment. It is also probably inherited 

from a basement fault. The ENE-WSW faults display a regular set with mainly dextral offset; 

faults show popup structures related to transpressional relay and transtensional graben, both 

of which could be mineralized. 

Local Geology of the Madaouela Deposits 

Marianne-Marilyn 

Four main sub-horizontal geological formations exist in the Marianne-Marilyn project area. 

From surface, Tchinezogue, Guezouman, UA and Talak sedimentary units exist and are 

described as follows from youngest to oldest: 

 Tchinezogue is a fluvio-deltaic sedimentary unit with thin sub-horizontal bedding. A 

degree of heterogeneity exists, and areas near the surface are weakened due to 

weathering effects; 

 Guezouman is a massive, relatively competent fine to coarse grained sandstone unit 

with a relatively low density. The base of this unit, situated at depths ranging from 50 

to 160 m from surface, hosts the uranium mineralization; 

 UA exists in channels between the Guezouman and Talak, and is characterized as 

thinly bedded mudstones and siltstones. The two NE-SW running central drives are 

planned directly above the UA channels; and 
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 Talak unit is fine grained claystone and mudstone lying at the bottom of the project 

area. It is weak and relatively isotropic. 

The key structural features of the area consist of the Madaouela dome and several sets of 

faults. 

The west of the Marianne-Marilyn deposit is dominated by a dome, where the stratigraphy 

defines a radially gently-dipping zone of uplift. Stratigraphic dips are accentuated on the 

flanks of this structure but near-horizontal at the apex. In general the stratigraphic dips on the 

flanks are approximately 5° or less. 

The origin of the domes is not fully understood but is likely to be related to contraction over 

basement-controlled structures, related to broadly N-S or NW-SE oriented shortening during 

the Upper Cretaceous and Tertiary (Gerbeaud, 2006). 

In total eight faults have been interpreted to be through-going structures. The majority of 

these traces are associated with small displacements of the stratigraphic traces on the surface. 

In addition to these interpreted through-going fault structures are suspected zones of syn-

sedimentary faulting, which control the positions of the Akokan channels. 

Broadly radial to the dome are a set of minor brittle faults that radiate out from the centre of 

the dome. Where stratigraphy permits the displacement to be constrained, these faults 

accommodate 1-2 m of vertical displacement and/or 5-15 m of strike-slip displacement. They 

are therefore considered to be minor faults. 

MSNE and Maryvonne 

The MSNE and Maryvonne deposits are approximately 4 km south of Marianne-Marilyn and 

they are planned be mined by conventional room and pillar method. Ore depth ranges from 

100 m to 160 m across the deposit.  

Exploration and geotechnical drilling suggests that the geology at MSNE comprises 

Guezouman sandstone overlying UA channels overlying Talak mudstone formation. The 

Guezouman dips sub-horizontally across the whole deposit and forms the hanging wall and 

host rock. The UA formation exists in the southern area of the deposit and will form the 

footwall. To the north, where UA is absent, the Talak unit will form the footwall.  

Miriam 

Mineralization at Miriam is shallower, lower grade and thicker than the mineralization at 

Marianne-Marilyn. The mineralisation is generally near surface (upper 110 m) and will be 

mined by open pit. Geology within the Miriam deposit consists of three main sub-horizontal 

sedimentary units. From shallowest to deepest, the main units are Tchinezogue, Guezouman 

and Talak and can be described as follows: 

 Tchinezogue is a fluvio-deltaic sedimentary unit. Bedding is generally thin and sub-horizontal. In upper 

30-40 m this unit is weathered and oxidised, as a result of exposure caused by retreat of the 

groundwater table. 

 Guezouman formation is a coarse grained sandstone mainly composed of quartz with K-feldspar, 

plagioclase, and clay minerals. It is relatively massive with low fracture frequency, although some 

“disking” is occasionally observed due to bedding planes being opening by drilling. It is equigranular 
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and has a low density due to the relatively large percentage of pores between grains. Some fine-grained 

sub-formations exist within the Guezouman Sandstone.  

 Talak is a grey-black fine grained shale/argillite unit and forms the base of the stratigraphic sequence at 

Miriam. The majority of mineralisation sits within the Guezouman Sandstone immediately above the 

Talak argillite. The Talak will form the floor of Miriam pit. 

Deposit Types 

The Madaouela Uranium Project deposits are classified as “sandstone-hosted” uranium 

deposits. 

Sandstone-hosted uranium deposits are defined as epigenetic concentrations of uranium 

minerals occurring as impregnations and replacements primarily in fluvial, lacustrine, and 

deltaic sandstone formations. They occur in permeable medium to coarse grained sandstone, 

usually deposited in continental fluvial or marginal marine sedimentary environments. 

Impermeable shale or mudstone are interbedded in the sedimentary sequence, and often occur 

above and below the mineralization. 

The source of uranium is usually igneous or volcanic rocks (alkaline tuffs, granitic intrusion) 

either in close proximity to or interbedded with the sandstone units. The uranium 

mineralization typically precipitates from oxidizing fluids, under reducing conditions caused 

by a variety of reducing agents including carbonaceous material (detrital plant debris, 

amorphous humate, and marine algae), sulfide, hydrocarbon and interbedded mafic volcanic 

rock with abundant ferro-magnesian minerals. The reducing agent could either be in situ 

(lignite) or transported along a major fault (hydrocarbons). 

The main primary uranium minerals are uraninite, and coffinite with minor secondary 

uranium minerals being noted in exposed (weathered) mineralization. Mineralization occurs 

frequently near dome structures. 

Sandstone deposits are an important source of uranium representing approximately 30% of 

the world’s known uranium resources and accounting for over 18% of the African uranium 

deposits in 2007. This style of uranium deposit typically yields small to medium size deposits 

(10,000 to approximately 50,000 t of U3O8) characterized by low to medium grade (0.05 to 

0.5% U3O8). The deposits typically occur in clusters. 

Major sandstone-hosted uranium deposit provinces worldwide include the Powder River 

Basin in Wyoming, the Colorado Plateau and the Gulf Coast Plain in south Texas in the 

United States, the Tim Mersoi Basin of Niger, the Franceville Basin of Gabon, Cretaceous 

basins in Kazakhstan and Uzbekistan, the Frome Embayment of South Australia and the 

Karoo Basin of South Africa, and Tanzania. The sedimentary basins occur mainly in rock 

from Carboniferous to Tertiary age, since the development of the continental vegetation, and 

therefore the formation and preservation fossil carbonaceous material that establish a 

reducing environment in continental sandstone. 

Four main types of sandstone deposits have been recognized world-wide: (1) Basal-type 

deposits in paleo-valleys incised in basement rock; (2) tabular deposits; (3) roll front deposits 

and (4) structural deposits, within sandstone adjacent to a permeable fault zone. 

In Niger, including at the Madaouela Project, the uranium deposits belong to the tabular and 

roll front deposit types. Deposits are epigenetic. Mining operations at Somair and Cominak 
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both ranked amongst the ten largest uranium producers, delivering in aggregate in 2005 

approximately 7.5% of the world supply, and making Niger the sixth largest uranium 

producing country in the world. In 2009, Areva and the Niger government announced their 

decision to develop the Imouraren deposit, located south of the Madaouela Project. This 

deposit reportedly hosts more than 143,000 t of contained U3O8 at 0.11% U3O8 and will be 

the largest uranium producer in Africa at approximately 5,000 tpy when production 

commences.  

The uranium mineralization in the Carboniferous and Tarat deposits, including the 

Madaouela Project, consists of pitchblende and coffinite, associated with V-bearing chlorite, 

corrensite, jordisite, montroseite, pyrite, marcasite, sphalerite and dolomite. A different 

paragenesis, that also includes uranotile as a uranium bearing phase associated with abundant 

copper minerals (chalcocite, chalcopyrite, and native copper), is present in the stratabound 

Imouraren deposit. 

Mineralization 

The Madaouela deposits exhibit classic characteristics of uranium sandstone deposits 

common the world over (Cuney and Kyser, 2009). 

The mineralogy of uranium in the deposit is dominated by pitchblende and coffinite. The 

overall paragenesis could be divided in three stages: (1) early sulfides; (2) uranium on 

organic matter such as wood fragments; (3) carbonates and barite. The uranium minerals 

largely occur on the surface of minerals, or as infillings between the grains.  

In the nearby Akouta uranium mine, the paragenesis is composed of three associations: (1) 

Pre-ore minerals: wood fragments replaced by pyrite, quartz overgrowths, barite; (2) Ore-

stage minerals: Uraninite, coffinite, with calcite and sphalerite, radiogenic galena, jordisite, 

marcasite; and (3) Post-ore minerals, with kaolinite as feldspar replacements. The Madaouela 

deposit seems to follow the same pattern. 

It is important to note that pyrite may have developed on large areas, but is now preserved 

only in the halo of large redox front. Molybdenum as a trace element is associated with pyrite 

as a trace element. 

Mineralized Zones 

GoviEx drilling has established connections between the mineralization at Marianne and 

Marilyn, once separate deposits. The Marianne-Marilyn deposit is a nearly flat tabular body 

of mineralization that spans approximately 5 km (N70E direction) by 2 km across in plan, 

and the deposit thickness varies from 0.2 to over 2 m (average thickness of about 1 m). 

The general dimensions of the extent of mineralization at Marianne-Marilyn are described 

above. Drilling in the southern part of Madaouela I has thus far defined three individual pods 

of mineralization in the same stratigraphic setting and with similar grade, depth (100 m to 

140 m), and thickness of mineralization to that at Marianne-Marilyn. The main body of the 

largest of the three pods of mineralization, Madaouela south northeast (“MSNE”), extends 

approximately 4.0 km east-west, by approximately 6.0 km north-south. MSNE is located 

approximately 5 km south from Marianne-Marilyn. MSCE is located approximately 3 km 

south of MSNE, respectively. The overall trend of mineralization on the Mad I tenement 
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extends about 17 km south from Marianne-Marilyn to the furthest south historical drillhole of 

interest on this one redox boundary trend line; other redox boundary trends may exist. 

The mineralization occurs at depths from about 30 m on the eastern end of Marilyn, to 

approximately 60 m in depth in the middle of the Marianne-Marilyn deposit, up to 120 m in 

depths on the west extensions of Marianne; below the relatively flat topographic surface. The 

stratigraphy gently dips to the southwest, with local minor domal features. Mineralization at 

MSNE is similar in depth (about 100 to 140 m deep), grade, and thickness, although not yet 

drill-defined as large as the Marianne-Marilyn deposit is in plan. 

The MSNE deposit occurs to the south of Marianne-Marilyn and is approximately 140 m 

deep. It occurs on the same redox front as Marianne-Marilyn and the deposit is approximately 

2.7 km long and 2.3 km.  

Maryvonne deposit is located to the north of MSNE deposit and is approximately 100 m 

deep. The length of the deposit is 1.2 km and the width is 0.75 km. 

Miriam deposit is situated 8 km to the south of MSNE deposit and is dipping from 65 m to 

120 m deep. The deposit is 2.4 km in length and 0.8 km wide.  

The uranium mineralization is all reduced uranium minerals (U (IV) minerals), uraninite and 

coffinite. The uranium minerals occur as disseminations in the matrix of the sandstone, with 

nearly all the mineralization occurring in one tabular horizon. At the favor of vertical “redox 

front”, uranium mineralization in the Guezouman may occur at several levels, as it is the case 

in the Miriam deposit. The Akouta “front” was the best example of this type of concentration. 

In the Miriam case a close relationship with structural features is very likely. Mineralization 

can sometimes be present at the contact of the Guezouman and the UA formation, in the 

Talak, and in the UA where the UA is preserved against a N70E fault; however, that 

mineralization is also relatively insignificant to the main basal Guezouman sandstone tabular 

lens of mineralization. 

Exploration  

The main exploration tool used by GoviEx on the Madaouela Project has been by drilling on 

a defined grid pattern, and interpreting the presence of redox fronts or anomalous uranium 

intercepts to justify further drilling. Other exploration work completed on the Project 

includes; field mapping at MAD I in 2009-10, strip mapping along drill lines was completed 

at MAD I, MAD II and MAD III in 2011; MAD IV in 2012; and Anou Melle in 2014. 

Remote sensing by MIR Teledetection was completed over the whole project in 2009 and has 

greatly assisted in understanding the structural complexity of the area. 

2009 

MIR Teledetection were contracted to carry out remote sensing analysis of the Madaouela 

licences. This included obtaining quality satellite imagery SRTM for topography, Landsat 

and Aster imagery for spectral analysis and photo interpretations. The Landsat channels 

visually highlights the contrasts in minerals contents, and shows the contrasts between the 

various lithological packages. By analysing the spectral component of each pixel it is possible 

to identify mineral signature information for a given terrain. MIR identified 11 classes of 

information, which they linked with ground information.  Hence a thematic map could be 

created which matches with the regional geological map.  
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Structural analysis was carried out by analyzing the ASTER as well as the SRTM data. The 

lineaments such as faults and fractures were identified, as well as bedding structures. The 

movement along the faults was also identified based on the interpreted rock relation, and the 

identification of dome structures, which are believed to play an important role in the 

mineralisation of uranium, with a suggested relationship of faults and domes. 

Automated identification of hydrographical features (drainage) was carried out using the 

SRTM data, based on the theory that current drainage patterns may reflect historical patterns.  

2009 to 2010 

Mapping by GoviEx was carried out on the Marianne and Marilyn deposits. The mapping 

used preliminary photo interpretation, followed by field validation as access was restricted 

due to security concerns, associated with the military camp at the time. 

From field observations a number proposals were made for the mineralisation event and 

confirmed the structural complexity proposed by MIR Teledetection. The presence of pyrite, 

organic matter, generally reduced sandstones within deeper “graben like structure bounded to 

one side by N80 fault created the ideal environment for uranium deposition.  

2011-2012 

Strip mapping along regular spaced lines was completed by GoviEx over MAD I, MAD II, 

MAD III and MAD IV. The main purpose of the exercise was to validate the regional 

geological map data, followed by measuring the direction of paleo-flow to determine channel 

development and help in defining drill sites. The reading of radioactivity using the SPP2 

spectrometer help identified potential target horizons. The geologists primary task was the 

recording the lithology, stratigraphy, bedding orientation, presence of faults and fractures. 

Further to this once drilling was completed, it helped in the interpretation of drill sections. 

2014  

In 2014, GoviEx completed field verifications on the Anou Melle licence. The main aim of 

the mapping programme was to confirm; the presence of faults interpreted by MIR 

Teledetection in 2009; previous work by CEA in the 60’s; to confirm the stratigraphy and to 

verify a number of surface radiometric anomalies.  This area is along strike from the Areva 

deposits (Akouta and Arlit to the north and Imouraren in the South).  There was some initial 

drilling done in the area by the CEA, and also by GoviEx in 2010 that showed some 

anomalies in the target formations.   

Ten sections were identified which maximized the ground covered, focusing on the eastern 

part of the licence where there was a maximum of complexity, surface radiometrics and also 

downhole intercepts. There were an abundance of fractures on all 10 sections, most showing 

evidence of fluid flow, such as bleaching, siliceous or iron fill, and brecciation. The surface 

radiometric anomalies occur near faults and at the top of the Moradi and base of the Teloua 

formation within paleo channels of conglomerates and sandstone.  
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Exploration Drilling Plan 

 

Drilling was the main tool of exploration used by the CEA in the 1960’s and GoviEx 

followed the same procedures by initially drilling on a large 800 to 1600m grid to obtain 

initial stratigraphic, redox and radiometric information. The use of historical results based on 

research of historical drilling data, from the Government archives mainly, proved to be 

partially successful even though only partial data could be found and some of the data content 

could not be verified. Historical results were extensively used to identify mineralized 

intersections, stratigraphic surfaces, and provided for orientation of the various drilling 

programs. 

This led to re-drilling of old CEA holes either by reopening or fresh re-drilling and logging to 

confirm the results of the CEA, and furthermore the new results were considered the only 

reliable data collection that would be compliant with the new drilling data.  

Drilling was routinely performed using the rotary mud drilling technique, followed by 

geophysical logging (deviation, resistivity and radioactivity measured with scintillometer and 

Geiger Muller).  

All exploration programs were executed and supervised by GoviEx staff, using local or 

external contractors including: 

 ESAFOR, LEGENI and FORACO – Drilling; 

 SEMM – Logging; 

 ALS-Chemex – Assays of core for uranium and trace elements; 

 MIR Technologies; 

 ULC, with M Patrick Brunel, geophysicist, to validate the process of correlating 

SEMM gamma probes and the DHT27 probe; and 

 Dr Amit Tripathi, independent consultant, for the training and QA/QC of Rascal 

DGPS surveying system. 

MAD I  

The GoviEx exploration program commenced in August 2008, following property acquisition 

in 2007. Between 2008 and 2010 almost all of the drilling undertaken was focused on the 

Mad I property, and was a combination of exploration and in-fill resource definition drilling.  

Table 0-1 summarises GoviEx’s exploration drilling program for the period August 

2008 to December 2013.  
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Table 0-1:  Summary of GoviEx drilling program for the period August 2008 to December 2013 

  Drill 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 TOTAL 

Deposits Type Number Total (m) Number Total (m) Number Total (m) Number Total (m) Number Total (m) Number Total (m) Number Total (m) 

MARTINE 

Water well         0 0 0 0   

RDH   0 0 27 1351 0 0 0 0 0 0 27 1351 

mixed RDH-DDH    0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Reopening historical DH     4 201 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 201 

MARIANNE 

Water well 1 84       0 0 1 266 2 350 

RDH 560 57162 351 29740 97 11627 24 2824 1 266 499 44129 1532 145749 

mixed RDH-DDH  42 316 24 150 0 0 0 0 112 12270 13 569 191 13304 

Reopening historical DH 59 5086 42 3192 5 592 0 0 19 1704 0 0 125 10574 

MARILYN 

Water well         0 0 0 0 0 0 

RDH   643 37323 61 3140 59 2179 141 9238 114 6517 1018 58396 

mixed RDH-DDH    5 30 0 0 48 981 7 470 0 0 60 1480 

Reopening historical DH   134 9612 18 875 0 0 0 0 0 0 152 10487 

MAD SOUTH 

Water well   0 0 1 152   2 288 0 0 3 440 

RDH   165 23141 577 77458 49 6556 898 109632 202 19308 1891 236096 

mixed RDH-DDH    0 0 0 0 20 208 49 3374 38 2698 107 6280 

Reopening historical DH   24 2648 40 5157 40 4488 45 5049 0 0 149 17341 

MAD 1 

EXPLO 

Water well   0 0 1 409   1 192 1 137 3 738 

RDH   0 0 8 3140 176 48077 95 22551 0 0 279 73768 

mixed RDH-DDH    0 0 0 0 0 0 3 796 0 0 3 796 

Reopening historical DH   0 0 2 767 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 767 

MAD 1 

CUMUL 

Water well 1 84 0 0 2 561   4 745 2 403 9 1793 

RDH 560 57162 1159 90204 770 96717 308 59637 1246 153690 815 57186 4858 514596 

mixed RDH-DDH  42 316 29 179 0 0 68 1189 78 6344 51 3424 361 11452 

Reopening historical DH 59 5086 200 15452 69 7592 40 4488 45 5049 0 0 413 37667 

Note:  

• Mad I Cumul includes Madaouela I and Agaliouk 
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Since GoviEx began the majority of its drilling program it has completed on the Madaouela I 

license (now the Madaouela I and Agaliouk licenses). The program started in August 2008, after 

permission was granted to conduct drilling west of the Madaouela Army Base, and initially 

focussed on development drilling of Marianne on a 50 m grid with a total of 62,648 m drilled in 

2008.  

Drilling east of the army camp was authorized in April 2009, enabling drilling to commence the 

50 m grid on Marilyn. Development drilling on Marianne and Marilyn has continued until March 

2013 as the size of the deposit has increased and further in-fill definition drilling has been 

required. The development drilling completed on Marianne and Marilyn since September 2012 

has now been included in the resource update.  

In order to increase the global potential and define inferred resource in areas historically drilled 

on a large grid (800 m to locally 400 m), from 2009 drilling targets were identified in the area 

south of the Marianne deposit. The drilling targets were identified by similarity with the 

geological controls defined for the Marianne-Marilyn mineralization as previously discussed. 

Known historical drill intercepts that were in the suspected redox boundary trend line were 

drilled on a 200 m grid basis. 

One area was discovered in the north east (“MSNE”) and two smaller zones are currently being 

recognized further south (MSCE, which was in fact the “historical” main CEA target). Drilling 

since February 2010 in the southern part of the area has confirmed the newly discovered Miriam 

deposit, together with the discovery of a new area termed the MSEE (Mad South Extreme East) 

deposit, of similar thickness and grade to the MSNE deposit. In 2012 the Maryvonne deposit was 

discovered.  

Between 2008 and the end of 2013 a total of 2550 holes were drilled totalling 20,415 m on the 

Marianne and Marilyn deposits. Over the same period a total of 514,596 m were drilled with 

4,858 holes.  

Table 0-2:  Summary of core drilling and sampling 

Secteurs Number Holes Total Metres 

Marianne 191 13,304 

Marilyn 60 1,480 

MAD South 107 6,280 

MAD 1 Explo 3 796 

Totals 361 11,452 

Diamond core drilling was carried out initially on Marianne to obtain a correlation between 

assays and radiometric data, this was subsequently followed by drilling over the other known 

deposits for stratigraphic correlation, but also as further validation of the correlation factor used 

from the initial Marianne core. Cores were sampled and prepared on the basis of industry 

standards, and assayed by ALS-Chemex in Johannesburg, South Africa. 
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Madaouela II, III, IV, Eral and Anou Melle 

Initially exploration on these properties started in April 2010 and continued until 2013 except at 

Anou Melle where it ended in July 2010. The distance to the drilling camp and the poor state of 

available drilling rigs at the time, resulted in an earlier stop to this program.  

The subsequent exploration activity then was concentrated east of the Madaouela fault on Mad 

II, Mad III, Mad IV and Eral from August 2010 to January 2013, following the purchase of three 

new rotary drills by GoviEx. The exploration was conducted at 3,200 m grid on sub EW profiles, 

and following redox interpretation profiles at a 1,600 m grid were drilled on the northern part of 

Mad IV and Mad III.  

 

MAD II 

As of 2010 onwards activities started on MAD II, including surface mapping along sections, 

debouchage/reopening of old CEA holes to check their readings and grid drilling at 1.6 to 3.2 km 

spaced lines. The results were encouraging with intercepts within the Madaouela, Tarat, 

Tchinezogue and the Guezouman Formations. 

Table 0-3:  Summary drilling activities- Debouchage means re-opening of old 

CEA holes, and re-logging with resistivity and gamma tools. 

 Year Number holes Depth (m) 

Debouchage 2010 2 746.52 

  2011 10 1,687.21 

Drilling 2010 3 570.85 

  2011 48 9,624.99 

  2012 0 0 

  2013 7 11,75.24 

 

MAD III 

From 2011 onwards activities started on MAD III, including surface mapping along sections, 

grid drilling at 800 m to 1600 m spaced lines. The results were encouraging with intercepts 

within the Madaouela, Tarat, Tchinezogue and the Guezouman. 

Table 0-4:  Summary drilling activities. 

Year Number holes Total metres 

2011 64 16,292 

2013 1 424 
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MAD IV (including Eralrar application area) 

The drilling carried out over the MAD IV licence area (including Eralrar) spans the period 2010 

to 2013.  The 2010 drilling was focussed around known anomalies from CEA or PNC drilling 

results, from there follow up drilling in 2012 and 2013 around the same areas as well as a 

focussed drilling over an area of radiometric anomaly in 2013. In 2011, most of the drilling 

consited of large spaced grid drilling for mainly stratigraphic and exploration purposes. 

Table 0-5:  Summary drilling activities. 

Year Number holes Total metres 

2011 20 7,959 

2012 19 6,096 

2013 37 11,217 

 

Anou Melle 

In 2010, GoviEx carried out a preliminary drill program over the Anou Melle licence. As 

previously reported for logistical and security reasons and the poor quality of the drill rigs, the 

program was abandoned and no further follow up were carried out due in changes in priority. 

Mapping in 2014 reveals the prospectivity of the area. 

Surveys and Investigations 

Allen Osborne Associates Rascal DGPS equipment was purchased and a crew trained on its 

utilization both in static and dynamic modes. 

In the absence of a reliable certified geodesic benchmark (reference point), the establishment of a 

reference point with a VLBS (Very Long Base Line) was implemented in August 2008, by 

measuring from the roof of an office in Arlit. A second base point was then established on 

Marianne and used for surveying the drillholes in the field from August until January 2009. The 

measurements were conducted in the static mode, which required a post-treatment. 

While pursuing the survey in a static mode, the elevation (Z) of the surveyed points, although 

very precise in relative terms, was at a variance with the IGNN (Institut Geographique National 

du Niger) grid by about 25 m. This discrepancy remained because the elevation was measured in 

reference to the mean sea level instead of the ellipsoid height as used by the IGNN. 

In February 2009, the survey team obtained the coordinates of one geodesic point that was 

apparently used by COGEMA (AREVA) since 1968/1969. Those coordinates were later 

confirmed by IGNN. This point was located in the field and served to calibrate the survey grid. 

From this reference benchmark, a reference elevation was adopted and previous data corrected 

accordingly. 

Thus, a new VLBS station was established on the roof of the current office in Akokan. At this 

location, a GPS base was established on February 12, 2009, and a continuous 28 hour GPS 

observation was made. Subsequent calibration of this observation was made using nine IGS 



GoviEx Uranium Inc.   FORM 2A – Annual Update 2015 

 

        

Page 38 
 

stations located in Spain, Malta, Italy, Greece, Uganda, Cote d'Ivoire and Canary Islands. The 

GPS processing files were downloaded from these stations and used as reference to reprocess the 

28 hour Akokan office base station data. The calibrated position of the reference station in UTM 

zone 32 WGS 84 is: 

 

E 325,109.941 m N 2,069,339.230 m Elevation 442.756 m above mean ellipsoid 

All DGPS points have then been reprocessed with the new reference coordinates. Out of 800 

surveyed points, 98% had very high degree of confidence in relative positional fixes. 2% of the 

points that did not meet the same confidence have since been resurveyed in the field and 

corrected in the database. 

Three new base stations in the field have been established and calibrated using the new 

coordinates of the Akokan office base station. 

Since February 2009, the survey team has been trained on the use of Graf Nav Kinematic 

software for the Rascal controller. Radio modems are used to transmit the error matrix from the 

DGPS reference station to the Rover, which provides a highly precise positional fix in real time. 

This method removes the need for post processing of the DGPS data. Table 9-2 lists the current 

GoviEx reference survey points. 

Table 9-2:  DGPS, listing of current GoviEx reference survey points 

Reference (Topo 23 07 09) 

Survey Points E N H 

Office base AKOKAN 325,109.925 2,069,339.225 418.813 

Former offices in ARLIT (Mahmud’s villa) 331,312.427 2,071,357.210 430.487 

BASE CHANT IER 2 339,139.389 2,063,580.003 440.605 

BASE CHANT IER 3 339,187.784 2,063,634.480 440.745 

BASE CHANT IER 4 338,800.109 2,065,718.820 435.290 

IGN(D)(Akokan) 328,750.028 2,071,149.985 420.546 

BASE 5 340,491.971 2,059,202.602 440.885 

BASE 6 341,953.446 2,065,716.220 440.305 

The DGPS team is under the supervision of the chief geologist and comprises of one geologist 

and one qualified prospector (working alternatively) accompanied with two field assistants (4 

persons in total). Surveys of drill collars are transferred to the database daily; therefore, 

geologists are provided coordinates of drillhole positions for interpreting and validating 

exploration results in real time. In the event that geological interpretations reveal that some holes 

are not correctly reported, the collars are resurveyed, and the resurveying includes often 

neighbouring points for homogeneity controls. 
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Drilling 

Drilling is done with mud-rotary drill rigs that drill approximately 120° diameter holes. 

Historical drillholes have been located where possible in the field, and re-drilled with this larger 

diameter drill bit, and re-logged. The Company is therefore relying on its data from historical 

drillholes, not historical data. The few historical holes that could not be found to re-drill were 

offset and a new hole was drilled (approximately 15 such holes to date). Upon completion of 

drilling to 8 m to 9 m below the mineralized horizon, the hole is cleaned and circulated with 

drilling mud for 30 minutes, to allow for fluid-filled holes for electrical logs as well as gamma 

logs. 

Core drilling is done with the rotary drill rig as conventional drilling to collect core from the 

mineralized horizons for assay comparisons with gamma probe eU308 determinations.  

Logging 

Logging is done using; three SEMM designed logging units, with probes modified for GoviEx. 

Internal QA/QC of intersections greater than 100 raw c/s (GM probe) is conducted using one 

Mount Sopris logging unit (GNSA owned) equipped with DHT27 Areva probe. For each 

drillhole logging unit, two probes are used;  

 a resistivity and natural gamma (scintillation(PM)) probe,  

 and a probe containing natural gamma (by Geiger tube GM) and by scintillation counter (PM)) and 

deviation (magnetic/inclinometer) instrumentation. GM logs are used to define in-situ uranium grades for 

the drillhole database. The method is further described in section Sampling Methods and Approach. 

All mineralized holes (intercepts over 100 c/s (scintillometer (PM) and Geiger probe (GM)) are 

relogged with the Mount Sopris GoviEx logging unit equipped with DHT27 Areva standard 

probe, and by ULC using Geovista probes (UMC logging include caliper, deviation and 

resistivity as well as PM and GM) 

Principles 

In uranium exploration, the usual technique consists in: 

 Measuring the radioactivity in the drillholes using dedicated probes; and 

 Transforming the radioactivity into uranium grade (equivalent uranium grade (eU or eU3O8). 

In mineral deposit of recent age or close to surface alteration, where the uranium is not in 

equilibrium with its daughter products, the measurement of the gamma radioactivity to determine 

the uranium grade is imprecise and inaccurate. In such cases, the use of radioactivity estimations 

is completely incorrect. 

In deposits such as Marian-Marilyn at Madaouela, and all known mineralization in the 

carboniferous in Niger, the disequilibrium problem has never been encountered. These uranium 

deposits are characterized by a secular equilibrium of uranium with its daughter products 

(Uranium/Radium). In specific locations within a deposit, the U/equivalent Radium can vary 
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(from 0.8 to 1.2), but the weighted mean value remains close to 1. This fact is well established 

through all analyses carried out on cores and mine face samples, as well as through the numerous 

reconciliations of mining and development or grade control estimation in the district. 

On the Madaouela Uranium Project, this particular aspect was carefully examined historically by 

CEA; unfortunately none of the relevant historical technical data was available to GoviEx. 

GoviEx did require ALS to carryout gamma spectrometry on 100 core sample pulps already 

assayed for G/Ra correlation. These measures were being outsourced by ALS laboratory in RSA 

to Becquerel Laboratories Inc., Mississauga, Canada. 

The following isotopes were to be measured (measurement method in bracket, results in Bq/g): 

Bi214, Pb-210, Pb-212, Ra-226, Ra-228, Th-228, Th-230, Th-234, U235](GAMMA), [U-238, 

Th-232](NAA). Note that results relate only to the samples analysed and only to the items tested. 

Ra-228 was estimated from Ac-228 and Th-228 from Pb-212. 

The lab delivered only the value of disequilibrium with the ratio U-238/Ra-226. GoviEx did 

perform grade recomposition with the help of specialists from CEA lab.  

SRK notes that the mineralization at Madaouela is reduced, has not been exposed to secondary 

oxidation/mobilization by groundwater, and is therefore not likely to have any disequilibrium 

issues on a global deposit basis. Rare presence of yellow products in drilling chips was observed 

northwest of Marilyn (Martine sector) associated with very shallow mineralization 

(mineralization that has been oxidized to U (VI) minerals). No mineralization of this area is 

included in the resource, and should be checked for equilibrium of chemical versus 

radiometrically determined uranium. 

Currently GoviEx estimations are based on Grade/Radioactivity conversion built from a fully 

dedicated core sampling carried out on Marianne. The relationship has been controlled now for 

Marilyn, the group MSNE, MSCE and recently Miriam. As mentioned above the Marianne 

relationship appeared relatively conservative, and has consequently been kept for all deposits 

(This justified by the fact that using specific line for each probe, each area, etc., is a cause of data 

errors, and is unnecessary at this stage, once the permanence of the Marianne line has been 

evidenced) 

The research of historical drilling data, from Government archives mainly, proved to be partially 

successful because only partial data could be found and some of the data content could not be 

verified. Finally, the re-drilling of old CEA holes either by reopening or fresh re-drilling and 

logging was considered the only reliable data collection that would be compliant with the new 

drilling data. Nevertheless, historical results were extensively used to identify mineralized 

intersections, stratigraphic surfaces, and provided for orientation of the drilling program. 

Organization 

The drilling campaign has been monitored and supervised by GoviEx personnel. Geophysical 

logging has been conducted routinely with SEMM equipment operated by GoviEx personnel 

under the supervision of a geophysicist from SEMM. SEMM geophysicist was in the first year 

responsible of the data acquisition and storage and conducted all QA/QC protocols, with training 
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of GoviEx staff. Geological survey, database entry and controls were implemented by GoviEx 

personnel. The raw data are stored in WellCad format. The working sequence (log circuit) is: 

 Field Grid Implementation (pegging 50 m grid); 

 Mud Pit on to be drilled sites; 

 30 minutes mud circulation upon completion of hole; 

 Geophysical logging; 

 Data control (Well Cad, along Drillhole) 

 Data Transfer (WellCad to Utimine, and Coralis Data Base); 3D controls operated in UTIMINE prior to 

entry of new data in the GoviEx Coralis Database. This database has been tailored to, our needs by 

CORALIS and is compatible with any commercial database; 

 Geological survey of rock chips (1 m spacing of samples, lithology, stratigraphy, colour of grain coatings 

and matrix composition, definition of standard redox state); 

 Reporting drill data into Well Cad, Utimine, Coralis database; 

 Daily afternoon meeting; 

 QA/QC control; 

 Finalizing of logs, Log transformation and grade transfers; 

Interpretation 

SRK’s interpretation of the GoviEx exploration program is that of a well-planned and executed 

exploration and resource definition-drilling program. Contractors and GoviEx personnel are 

knowledgeable in drilling and logging equipment and procedures. And GoviEx has installed 

procedures for data checks and verifications to ensure data accuracy and consistency. The 

GoviEx exploration team in place are a competent crew of geologists that work very well 

together, and have been sufficiently trained and instilled with the need for data verification that 

allows for minimal errors in the drillhole database. SRK found that the procedures in place for 

exploration drilling, data gathering, and data verifications are at a high level, and meet or exceed 

industry norms for uranium exploration methods. 

The exploration programs are appropriate for the style of uranium mineralization. SRK found no 

deficiencies in the exploration methods. The field procedures are appropriate and adequate for 

developing a drillhole database sufficient for resource estimation. 

Significant up-side exploration potential exists on GoviEx concessions at Madaouela, as 

evidenced by the positive result from recent exploration drilling at the Miriam deposit.  
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Sampling Method and Approach 

The industry standard methods of determining in-situ uranium grades are by assay methods on 

core and by equivalent uranium grade determination from down-hole gamma logging equipment. 

The gamma logging probe uses either a scintillometer or a Geiger-Muller tube to record gamma 

radiation as CPS. The gamma probe is calibrated against a known source and correlated with 

core assays to derive conversions of CPS to eU3O8 grades. The Company has used the gamma 

probe data as the primary sampling tool in determining uranium mineralization thickness and 

grade. This is a standard industry practice. Radiometric probing (gamma logs) and the 

conversion to eU3O8 data have been industry-standard practices used for in-situ uranium 

determinations since the 1960s. 

Rotary cuttings 

Rotary drill cuttings are collected on 1m intervals and laid out for geological logging only, at the 

drill site; cuttings are not retained for future use. Rotary mud drilling provides samples that by 

the nature of the drilling medium are not sufficient for accurate chemical analysis of in-situ 

uranium grades. The Company has not analyzed rotary drill cuttings. Nevertheless, rotary drill 

cuttings are an important geological sample as they are compared with geophysical logs 

(electrical logs and gamma by scintillation) to determine lithological contacts, which are 

important to stratigraphic correlation. 

Core sampling 

Core from the Marianne deposit was typically sampled on 30 cm intervals for comparison of the 

mineralized intervals with radiometrically determined eU. Current Company sampling 

procedures for metallurgical testing includes core size of 93 mm, assaying ¼ core on 30 cm 

samples, retaining ½ core samples for metallurgy and/or a thick (5 to 10 mm) slice of core 

(length-wise along the core axis) is glued to a wood strip to preserve a sample for lithology, 

mineralogy and alteration reference. 

The Company also uses core samples for specific gravity determinations as a means to derive 

bulk density measurements. Historical determinations of density resulted in an average dry 

density of 2.3 g/cc (or t/m3) for Guezouman sandstone, which has been verified by Company 

data and is consistent with that expected from sandstone. All mineralization is in Guezouman 

sandstone, and there is no expectation of density variance within the sandstone, although SRK 

recommends density (specific gravity) determinations be performed on core samples from 

several locations across each deposit as additional core drilling is done to verify density. 

Radiometric sampling 

The standard method used by the Company is the gamma probe. The Company uses two probes 

to log each drillhole. The two types of probes used are: 

1. A 42mm diameter probe, called BDGG. It records two natural gamma reading using: one photomultiplier 

tube (PMT), equipped with a 2.5cm NalTh crystal, one scaling unit attached to two Geiger Muller tubes 

(ZP 1200, a gamma CPS used in grade estimation) and borehole deviation recording (tilt and azimuth) 

using a three axis magnetometer and inclinometer. 
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2. The second probe called GUIP (38mm diameter) records natural gamma (PMT with 2.5cm NaI crystal), 

resistivity and conductivity. 

Only the gamma probe records are used for estimation purposes and for converting radioactivity 

into the equivalent uranium grade. 

Gamma logging speeds are set at 1m per minute in mineralization, and 5m per minute in non-

mineralized rock. The resistivity (GUIP) probe is logged at 5m per minute. Typical logging 

procedures are to monitor the probe data while the probe is lowered to maximum drillhole depth, 

to identify the mineralization, then set the logging speed to 1m/min and log the mineralization as 

the probe is winched out of the hole; changing to the faster logging speed above mineralization. 

CPS data are gathered as composited as 10 cm data, for conversion to eU data. Each gamma 

probe is calibrated at an onsite calibration pad, using a cesium source for 20 minutes. This 

calibration is to verify each probes functionality and lack of drift. Probes are compared to a 

reference probe so that all probes are reading the same. 

Factors Impacting Accuracy of Results 

The most important factors affecting the accuracy of gamma probe derived eU or eU3O8 grade 

data are the calibration of each probe and correlation between gamma probes. The probes have 

been calibrated and a K factor determined at external logging facilities in Canada and France.  

Sample Preparation, Analysis and Security 

Chemical Analysis 

Core from 42 drillholes in the Marianne-Marilyn deposit were sampled for approximately 300 

samples. Whole core was sent to ALS – Chemex for sample preparation and analysis. Chemical 

analysis of core for uranium are used to compare against radiometrically determined uranium 

(expressed as gamma log CPS data) for the purpose of establishing a correlation curve to apply 

to determine the equivalent uranium grades that form the basis for the drillhole database. 

The Company uses ALS-Chemex, Johannesburg, South Africa for analytical work on core 

samples. Sample preparation includes crushing and pulverizing to 75 μm the entire 30 cm length 

sample interval, without keeping representative samples on site. This was done for the purpose of 

analyzing the entire volume of core, as the Company’s intent was to include all mineralization to 

provide the most representative sample possible. Subsequent to initial core drilling and sampling 

for determination of the radiometric/grade correlation, some coreholes, or representative sections 

are being retained on site. 

Analysis for uranium and other elements was done by ALS-Chemex by standard 4-acid digestion 

on pulp samples and ICP-MS analytical methods. ISO registration and accreditation provides 

independent verification that analytical labs have a quality management system in place. The 

ALS Chemex laboratory in Johannesburg, where the analysis was performed, is under the control 

of ALS Geochemistry which developed and implemented at each of its locations a Quality 

Management System (QMS) designed to ensure the production of consistently reliable data. The 
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system covers all laboratory activities and takes into consideration the requirements of ISO 

standards. 

Uranium assay results were composited to establish the correlation with radiometric data. 

Uranium assays are not used in resource estimation. 

Bi-variate statistical analyses of assays were carried out and possible geochemical correlations 

between elements were investigated. A summary of 42 mineralized intersections are summarized 

below.  

 The average Mo, V and CO2 grades show that the Madaouela Project mineralization is very similar to the 

Cominak ore, based on work completed and published by SRK;  

 Mo, V and CO2 are poorly correlated to U. The relative abundance of such metals in the mineralization is 

representative of the redox conditions of the sediments at the time of uranium deposition; and 

 The average uranium grade of the sampled batch matched the estimated mean grade of the Marianne 

deposit, which demonstrated that the radiometric data is representative. 

Table 10-1 Average geochemical content of Marianne-Marilyn mineralization based on drill 

core analysis 
Average Grade (ppm) Average Grade (%) 

U Mo V CO2 

1611 502 157 2.9 

Molybdenum grades from underground sampling shows greater variability in the deposit with 

concentrations up to 4200 ppm reported (GoviEx, 2013). Bulk metallurgical samples taken from 

Marianne-Marilyn and analysed at Mintek and SGS showed an average for molybdenum of 1067 

ppm.  

Correlation X-Y plots of the elemental relationships of Mo, V, and CO2 with U indicate the 

following: 

 Mo, V and CO2 are not correlative or only very weakly correlative with U; 

 There is a general spatial correlation between anomalous values of Mo, V, and CO2 with the uranium 

deposit; however 

 High U/Mo does not directly compare to a high U/V ratio, and high CO2 values do not correspond to high 

U grades. 

Radiometric Determinations 

The basic analysis that supports the uranium grade reported in the Madaouela Project database of 

uranium grades and thickness of drill intercepts is the down-hole gamma log created by the 

down-hole radiometric probe. That data is gathered as digital data and composited to 10cm data 

as the radiometric probe is extracted from a drillhole. 

The down-hole radiometric probe measures total gamma radiation from all natural sources, 

including potassium (K) and thorium (Th) in addition to uranium-bearing minerals. In most 
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uranium deposits, K and Th provide a minimal component to the total radioactivity, measured by 

the instrument as CPS. At the Madaouela Project, the uranium content is high enough that the 

component of natural radiation that is contributed by K from feldspars in sandstone, and minor 

Th minerals is expected to be negligible. The conversion of CPS to equivalent uranium 

concentrations is therefore considered a reasonable representation of the in-situ uranium grade. 

Thus, determined equivalent uranium is typically expressed in ppm eU3O8 (“e” for equivalent) 

and should not be confused with U3O8 determination by standard X-ray fluorescence (“XRF”) or 

ICP analytical procedures. The conversion process can involve one or more data corrections. 

The gamma probes are 42 mm in diameter and about 1.5 m in length. The probe has a standard 

sodium iodide (NaI) crystal that is common to both hand-held and down-hole gamma 

scintillation counters. The Company constructed probes include the scintillation counter and the 

Geiger-Muller tube, both of which function similarly to count natural radiometric emanation 

from uranium and its daughter products. The Company is using the Geiger tube readings for 

uranium grade determinations and the scintillation counter for depth correlations and for 

lithology picks. The logging system consists of a winch mechanism (which controls the 

movement of the probe in and out of the hole) and digital data collection device (which 

interfaces with a portable computer and collects the radiometric data as CPS at defined intervals 

in the hole). Radiometric readings are collected digitally into WellCad software for correlation 

with geology and resistivity. Subsequently, data are transferred to Utimine software for 

conversion to eU grade data (G), along with thickness (T), and accumulation (the product of 

grade and thickness, or GT; Grade-thickness product). 

Raw data can be viewed and plotted graphically, to provide a graphic down-hole plot of CPS. 

The CPS radiometric data may need corrections prior to conversion to eU or eU3O8 data. Those 

corrections include: accounting for water in the hole (water factor) which depresses the gamma 

response, hole diameter variations, the instrumentation lag time in counting (dead time factor), 

and corrections for reduced signatures when the readings are taken inside casing (casing factor). 

The water factor and casing factor account for the reduction in CPS that the probe reads while in 

water or inside casing, as the probes are typically calibrated for use in air-filled drillholes without 

casing. Water factor, and dead time factor corrections are made to the data at the Madaouela 

Project; there are no instances of mineralization inside casing at the Madaouela Project. 

The procedure used by the Company at the Madaouela Project is to convert CPS per anomalous 

interval by means of a correlation curve developed by comparing core intervals with the gamma 

log intervals. The process involves re-positioning the core pieces for the whole core interval of 

mineralization, and determining the contacts and peak radiometric reading with a hand-held 

scintillometer on the core. This is then matched with the radiometric curve developed from a 

down-hole plot of CPS. The core is cut and analyzed for uranium content for the same interval as 

the radiometrics indicate. A best fit line defines the relationship of the grade-thickness product 

from ore core versus from the probe radiometric data to determine a conversion factor. The 

factor is then used to convert CPS to eU grade as parts per million stated as either ppm U or %U. 

Database conversions are to U rather than U308, however, resource tabulations are converted to 

U308 as it is the international standard by which uranium is reported and sold. 
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Quality Controls and Quality Assurance (QA/QC) 

Chemical Assays 

A regular program of insertion of standards and blanks along with the Company submitted core 

samples was not in place at the time of initial core sampling for the Marianne-Marilyn deposit, 

but a limited number (16) of blank samples were introduced randomly. QA/QC was relegated to 

the analytical lab. Outside check assays by a second analytical lab have not been done. SRK 

recommends the Company implement a QA/QC program of regular insertion of standards and 

blanks along with future core samples submitted to ALS-Chemex. SRK also recommends the 

Company conduct assay check sampling at a second laboratory for a representative percentage of 

the sample pulps at ALS-Chemex. As the chemical assays for uranium are critically important to 

the radiometric grade correlation, accuracy of assays is important, and a QA/QC program should 

be in place to verify accuracy. 

Radiometric Determinations 

The Company has implemented a significant program of data checks and calibrations to ensure 

accuracy and comparative determination of eU from the various probes in use at the Madaouela 

Project. 

The quality assurance and quality control on the logging equipment and on the recorded logs is 

continuous and involves two sets of control: 

 

1. Equipment control: the counting rate of probes are regularly checked for evidence of any bias 

or counting loss. The controls are of two types: 

a. Static mode: control checks daily against calibrated sources. Once a day a probe is 

checked at a dedicated calibration pad on-site, where a cesium source is places along-side 

the probe for a 20 minute period to verify stability and daily repetition of the gamma 

readings. 

b. Dynamic mode: All probes are regularly checked by comparison with the log from a 

Mount Sopris gamma probe (DTH 27 reference probe); which has been done for 

approximately 25% of the drillhole data to date. The Company schedules a minimum of 

one in every 20 holes for re-logging with the reference probe. 

2.  Record control, which consists of: 

a. Re-logging holes with a reference probe and/or with another SEMM logging unit 

(identical to item 1.b above). Data logs are compared for accuracy of depth, grade, 

thickness, and GT of mineralization. 

b. Re-logging holes after three days (radon half-life period). This is done to determine if 

radon is an issue in the radiometric determinations, which has been determined thus far to 

be of minimal consequence. 
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All data are reviewed and plotted by the Company to determine if any radiometric probe is out of 

calibration or faulty. If so, any holes in question are re-logged by another probe for all holes 

logged that day.  

In order to have an independent validation of Company geophysical logging results, ULC, an 

independent geophysical logging company was appointed to select about 60 drillholes and to 

repeat the log measurements and compare the results with those used for the resource estimate. 

This work was completed between October and December 2009, using their equipment and 

personnel. This verification work showed the reliability of Company logging teams and units and 

confirmed the reliability of the logs.  

Interpretation 

SRK concludes that the Company’s sample preparation, methods of analysis, and sample and 

data gathering, including data collection, data transfer, data conversion, and gamma probe 

QA/QC, are being implemented with a high degree of care. The methods are acceptable by 

industry standard procedures and are applicable to the uranium deposits at the Madaouela 

Project. 

Data Verification 

The drilling database is hosted in WellCad software. It is comprised of Wellcad and Excel files 

and contains all basic acquisition data. Wellcad data are transferred into Utimine on a daily basis 

during drilling. Utimine is software that was developed for the Company to perform on the job 

geological interpretations and correlations, using a method that is familiar to the site geologists. 

Utimine calculates all mineralization data (accumulations) and is user-friendly software to 

interpret logs, sections, and maps. The software offers several functions that are needed in 

uranium exploration and development. Management control of daily progression of drilling is 

performed through Utimine with sectional interpretations. Utimine contains the databases and all 

geostatistical modeling tools necessary to estimate resources. 

Mapping data are in Utimine and in MapInfo. MapInfo hosts all map data from external sources 

as well as updates of practical maps to follow every day developments and the drilling program. 

SRK noted that the entire database has multi-person checks during the WellCad and the Utimine 

data process stages. Multiple geologists will have input to the logging, data entry and resulting 

sectional interpretations. 

 While each geologist is responsible for his own daily geological logs, the drillholes will need to 

correlate lithologically into the database of existing drillholes; 

 Geologist import their geological logs into WellCad on a daily basis, and the data gets validated by 

another geologist, 

 Often adjacent holes may have been logged by other geologists, such that crosschecking is necessary, 

and lithology picks are validated, and 

 The project geologist and chief geologist also verify geological determinations as a final check. 
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 Drillhole data is transferred from WellCad to Utimine by geologists dedicated to data entry, and the 

inputs are verified by a second geologist. The data is verified in cross-section to validate the lithology 

picks. The chief geologist also examines the data inputs for visual errors. 

The survey database integrity and homogeneity is verified through the following procedure: 

 Drill collar elevations are plotted on a topographic map interpreted from all data. All data points that appear 

as surface spikes are re-surveyed. Re-surveying is carried out on each abnormal point and all neighbouring 

points; 

 Trace of the surface is also visualized in sections, and any particular surface feature that seems abnormal is 

re-checked in the field; and 

 A certain amount of historical holes on the Madaouela I tenement are still plotted after approximate 

reconversion of their coordinates, which are derived from map documents. None of those holes are 

included within the resource areas, unless they have been re-drilled and surveyed. 

Drillholes are all vertical by design. The angle deviation that may occur during drilling is 

measured with initial drillhole logging. Verification of the deviation measuring equipment 

reliability was conducted as follows: 

 In a limited number of drillholes, cross checks were carried out with the deviation device attached to the 

DHT27 reference probe; 

 If suspicious probe deviation records are indicated, the equipment is checked on surface by pulling the 

probe on the ground along a marked line to verify the measurement is correct; and 

 Every 20 to 50 holes, randomly selected holes are tested again for deflection using one of the other probes. 

Geological logs are subjected to a series of verifications to check for depth errors and coding 

errors. 

SRK reviewed the field procedures which are essentially all drilling related. SRK concludes that 

the field procedures are appropriate and adequate for developing a drillhole database sufficient 

for resource estimation. Furthermore, the process includes many data checks and verifications to 

assure the data is accurate. Multiple QA/QC procedures are in place to validate the data as it is 

acquired. The geological staff are sufficiently trained and instilled with the need for data 

verification, and multiple geologists examine the data inputs into the database. Therefore, the 

procedures in place allow for proper data verification with minimal database errors. 

Mineral Processing and Metallurgical Testing 

Metallurgical testwork has been completed through SGS Lakefield, Canada and Mintek, RSA. 

This testwork has comprised mineralogical investigations, geometallurgy, bottle roll and column 

leaching involving acid and alkaline leaching, acid pugging, two stage acid leaching, pre-

concentration by radiometric sorting and flotation, communition testwork, uranium recovery 

assessment by precipitation, ion exchange and solvent extraction as well as assaying of 

yellowcake product.  
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Cytec Industries (Cytec), Black Range Minerals Ltd and Australian Nuclear Science and 

Technology Organisation (ANSTO) have undertaken studies to improve the efficiency of several 

of the processing stages.  

Cytec investigated the use of a new SX reagent (Cyanex 600) for an improved recovery of 

molybdenum and uranium from the pregnant leach solution producing both to acceptable 

saleable products.  

Black Range Minerals and Ablation Technologies focused on optimisation of the comminution 

stage of the processing circuit by the addition of an ablation stage to reduce the amount of feed 

material requiring acid leaching, upgrading uranium and reducing carbonate content.  

ANSTO assessed the potential to recover the various acids used in several parts of the circuit.  

Comprehensive geometallurgical work has defined uranium mineralization present as coffinite 

(60 %) and uraninite (40 %) with negligible other phases such as autinite and becquerlite at 

Miriam and rare silica-mix-TiO2 minerals. Uranium minerals occur with interstitial clays and 

carbonate in the cement of the Guezoman and Madaouela sandstones. Grain size is bi-modal 

with coarse and fine grained uranium minerals. Uranium minerals are present as fine grained, 

typically less than 30 µm with occasional grains up to 100 µm in size. The most abundant 

uranium-bearing minerals in the sample are “pitchblende/silica-mix-TiO2”, “coffinite-mix-TiO2” 

and coffinite. Uranite and autunite are less abundant. The “pitchblende/silica-mix-TiO2” and 

“coffinite-mix-TiO2” phase contribute 65 % of the total uranium. The uranium-bearing minerals 

in the high-grade ore mostly report to the 10-25 µm size fraction.  

Molybdenum occurs in the ores largely as a trace element in coffinite and pyrite with only minor 

molybdenite identified. In samples from the ore stockpile from M&M, powellite (CaMoO4) was 

also identified. 

An 8 tonne metallurgical sample was collected in 2011 from existing high grade (4 t), low grade 

(2 t) and waste rock material (2 t). This simulates the potential feed from underground operations 

and overall grade was determined to be approximately 1.5-1.6 kg/t U3O8. And approximately 

1,200 ppm Mo. GoviEx staff collected the sample on site from stockpiles at M&M created 

during test mining in the 1960’s. In addition approximately 450 kg of Miriam ore from drill core 

was evaluated at SGS Lakefield. 

The sample consists of predominately quartz followed by K-feldspar (in the form of microcline, 

3.7 mass %). Plagioclase was not detected in analysis one. The quantity of kaolinite is similar to 

K-feldspar (3.5-3.7 mass % and 5.2-5.5 mass % for analysis one and two respectively). Chlorite 

and muscovite were not detected in analysis one. Small quantities of Ca bearing phases (calcite, 

dolomite and gypsum) were noted together with: the presence (insignificant) of plagioclase, 

muscovite, chlorite and hematite.  

The different quantities of kaolinite and muscovite (illite) in the XRD spectra, indicate that these 

clay minerals are not ubiquitous, and occur sporadically as alteration products, within microcline 

and plagioclase clasts in the sandstone in <5 mass %. The clay minerals kaolinite and illite are 

therefore not expected to have a major effect on the percolation of the lixiviant through the 

uraniferous sandstone particles, owing to their heterogeneous dispersal in the sample. The 
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petrographic analysis shows that the matrix of the high-grade sample contains up to 2 % calcite, 

which will consume acid. 

Bond ball work index (“BBWI”) tests were carried out for the high grade (“HG”), low grade 

(“LG”) and waste rock samples. The tests were conducted in a standard Bond tumbling ball mill 

with dimensions 305 mm x 305 mm with no lifters. Based on the typical classification table for 

BBWI the HG ore sample contained hard and very hard components, the LG ore sample 

contained medium hard and hard components and the waste rock sample contained hard 

components. The breakage characteristics of the HG ore and waste rock sample are 

approximately the same at 300 & 212 µm and 212 & 150 µm respectively 

A composite sample (100 % passing 30 mm) comprising low grade (30 %), high grade (35 %) 

and waste rock (35 %) were prepared for the beneficiation testwork. In addition to the RADOS 

testwork (equivalent to radiometric sorting), Mintek also conducted scrubber and flotation 

testwork to assess the effectiveness of this process in upgradingthe concentrated uranium feed. 

Radiometric sorting proved successful with 98.5 % of uranium recovered into a 56 % mass pull 

with rejection of 40 % of the material. Based on the operations of radiometric sorting at a 

uranium mine in Ukraine it is established that 93 % of uranium recovered in a mass pull of 40 % 

with resue ore or 98 % in a mass pull of 56 % in non-resue ore can be applied as potential targets 

for Madaouela ore. However due to collection of fines calcite was also concentrated by this 

approach. 

The objective of the scrubber testwork was to recover the uranium that was indicated to occur 

with the fine interstitial cement and separate this from the coarser quartz particles in the 

sandstone. The purpose of this is to liberate and concentrate finer uranium bearing particles 

without concentrating gangue so as to reduce the mass of ore that requires leaching. Due to the 

hardness of the sample (as indicated in the BBWI testwork) the U3O8 could not be efficiently 

liberated from the GoviEx composite sample. 

Six flotation tests were conducted using various test setups, various conditioning reagents and at 

various pH values. The optimum test condition was reverse uranium flotation on a deslimed 

sample with an ore pH of 7.5, using: yellow dextrin and fuel oil as conditioning reagents at P80 of 

212 µm. The float resulted in a 96 % recovery of uranium, 53 % rejection of the carbonate 

material and 5 % reduction in leach feed mass. 

Ablation works by combining the ore with water to form a slurry and impacting two slurry 

streams together to form a high energy impact zone that separates heavier uranium minerals from 

the host rock. Several different slurry concentrations were assessed. The optimum concentration 

was 20 %, although this will be refined during larger pilot trials. The 20 % TSS trial resulted in 

provisional recoveries of approximately 99 % of the contained ROM uranium into the carrier 

water and fines fraction (-149 µm) using a two stage ablation process. Based on further testwork 

on coarse fraction Ablation propose that this is possible to reach 95-99 % during the greater 

throughput pilot plant trial and full scale plant. The overall mass of the feed requiring milling 

and leaching is reduced by approximately 64 %. Importantly more than 60 % of the calcite is 

rejected prior to acid leaching. 
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Alkaline leaching even after 48 hours with high sodium carbonate concentration (30 g/L 

carbonates and sodium bicarbonate was added to a concentration of 10 g/L bicarbonate) 

produced a maximum extraction efficiency of 70 % uranium, however after 2 hours the 

extraction efficiency was already 60 %. The kinetics of the alkaline leach is somewhat 

comparable to the acid leach kinetics, however the final extraction efficiencies are significantly 

lower (particularly when compared to the acid pugging leach extraction efficiencies).  

Acid leaching was demonstrated in diagnostic leach tests and followed up in column leaching, 

acid pugging and simulation of two stage acid leaching. The extent and kinetics of uranium 

dissolution were determined as a function of grind size, acidity, pre-treatment, and temperature 

and re-grinding. The results from these testworks are summarised in this section. There was no 

significant difference in the uranium extractions after 24 hours in relation to differing grind sizes 

(60 mm, 100 mm, 300 mm and 500 mm), however the rate of leaching increased with decreasing 

particle size. 

The effect of altering the pH and residual sulfuric acid concentrations (pH 1.5, pH 1.85 and 25 

g/l) during the acid leach showed no significant difference in the uranium extraction for the tests 

after 24 hours. It should be noted that the pH variation tests were carried out at a coarse grind 

(500 mm) and 60 
o
C. Acid curing also did not result in any significant effect on uranium 

extraction efficiency after 24 hours.  

The highest uranium extraction efficiency was achieved by re-grinding the residue from a 

coarsely ground leached sample and re-leaching it. An increase in leach temperature (from 60 to 

80 
o
C) increased leach kinetics and acid consumption (70 to 89 kg/t respectively) with no 

significant improvement in uranium extraction efficiency. 

A series of tests was conducted by Mintek. These utilised a multi-stage leach approach using the 

filtrate from one leach to act as the lixiviant in the next leach. This was repeated for 3 stages and 

reported between 98 to 99 % extraction of uranium. Acid consumption in these tests was 

approximately 85 kg/t. 

The extraction efficiencies obtained during this testwork for acid pugging was consistent with 

the previous testwork results and indicate that approximately 95 % are achievable using the acid 

pugging process. The extraction efficiency was proportional to duration of the acid curing, with 

the highest achieved after 9 days (96 %), however >90 % could be achieved with one day curing 

and with elevated temperature. However due to calcite content the acid consumption by this 

approach was high (100-120 kg/t).  

For all sample types the oxidative steady and increased acid tests outperformed the non-oxidative 

steady acid test. The optimum conditions for maximum U3O8 dissolution for all the samples were 

oxidative state and increased acid feed. The extraction efficiency of 96 % is encouraging as the 

material only needs to be ground to <20 mm, however the efficiency of this process is dependent 

on the clay content of the ore. 

The presence of high molybdenum in the pregnant leach solution required assessment of its 

removal by ion exchange process. Resin in pulp recovery was evaluated but due to the coarse 

grain size of the leached ore was not applicable. 
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Solvent extraction has been evaluated and found to be the most appropriate approach to uranium 

extraction from the pregnant leach solution and collection prior to precipitation of yellowcake. 

Assuming good pre-stripping or separation of molybdenum can be achieved; the final 

yellowcake product meets Cameco requirements for saleable yellowcake.  

In addition to the above mentioned requirement for pre-stripping of molybdenum prior to the 

extraction of uranium, Cytec have conducted tests on a newly developed solvent Cyanex 600 that 

can be operated at low pH (less than 2) and can recover and separate both uranium and 

molybdenum from the PLS with few other impurities and then through successive stripping 

stages can produce separate molybdenum and uranium products. This step results in the recovery 

of 99 % for uranium and 98 % for molybdenum into separate streams.  Both products have 

acceptable quality for sale. 

Overall metallurgical recovery of 93.7 % for uranium can be achieved by this approach. 

Mineral Resource Estimates 

For the narrow flat lying mineralisation that occurs in most of Madaouela Uranium Project 

deposits (MSNE, MSCE, MSEE, and Maryvonne), a 2D approach has historically been used as 

an appropriate resource modelling technique for the potential Underground mining method. A 

more recent update of Marilyn/Marianne (M&M) has used a 3D unfolding approach allied with 

conventional block kriging, in order to smooth the process to mine scheduling. Both approaches 

are suitable for the flat lying mineralisation. For the potential Open Pit mining at Miriam a 3D 

recoverable resource approach (UC) was utilised.  

Mineral resources are defined using the convention of “eU” in kg/t for grade. The eU 

distinguishes concentration as being uranium concentration largely defined from gamma 

spectrometry with only a small portion of core chemically assayed. This does not compromise 

the integrity of the result but only seeks to demonstrate source of the information. This value can 

be related to eU3O8 concentration by a factor of 1.17924. Uranium concentrations determined by 

chemical assay are shown simply as U or U3O8. 

The Classified Mineral Resources at a 0.4 kg/t eU cut-off (approximately 0.047 % eU3O8) and a 

minimum thickness of 0.4 m (except for Miriam, where a Mining selectivity unit (SMU) of 5 m 

x 5 m x 0.4 m is assumed) are summarised in Table ES 1. 
  



GoviEx Uranium Inc.   FORM 2A – Annual Update 2015 

 

        

Page 53 
 

Table ES 1:  Summary of the classified mineral resources in accordance with CIM 

guidelines for Madaouela (cut-Off: 0.4 kg/t eU) as of March 2, 2016 

Classification Tons (Mt) 
Grade (kg/t 

eU3O8) 
eU3O8 (t) eU3O8 (Mlb) 

Marianne/Marilyn 

Measured 2.14 1.79 3,835 8.45 

Indicated 14.72 1.43 21,000 46.30 

Inferred 5.04 1.17 5,910 13.02 

Miriam 

Measured 7.26 1.13 8,230 18.14 

Indicated 1.95 0.80 1,580 3.48 

Inferred 0.21 1.26 260 0.57 

MSNE 

Indicated 5.05 1.61 8,111 17.88 

Inferred 0.10 1.34 131 0.29 

Maryvonne 

Indicated 1.23 1.79 2,195 4.84 

Inferred 0.42 1.66 703 1.55 

MSCE 

Inferred 0.72 1.81 1,308 2.88 

TOTAL 

MEASURED 
9.4 1.29 12,065 26.59 

TOTAL 

INDICATED 
22.95 1.44 32,866 72.50 

TOTAL 

INFERRED 
6.49 1.28 8,312 18.31 

 

The company’s mineral resources as at March 2, 2016 are classified in accordance with the Canadian 

Institute of Mining, Metallurgy and Petroleum’s “CIM Definition Standards - For Mineral Resources and 

Mineral Reserves” in accordance with the requirements of National Instrument 43-101 “Standards of 

Disclosure for Mineral Projects" (the Instrument). Mineral reserve and mineral resource estimates reflect 

the company's reasonable expectation that all necessary permits and approvals will be obtained and 

maintained. (1kg/t eU3O8=0.1% eU3O8). The “e” symbol denotes that resource estimation is based on 

spectrometer data obtained in the field and confirmed by a smaller number of samples by laboratory 

chemical analysis. 

 

Mineral resources that are not mineral reserves do not have to demonstrate economic viability. Mineral 

resources are subject to infill drilling, permitting, mine planning, mining dilution and recovery losses, 

among other things, to be converted into mineral reserves. Due to the uncertainty associated with inferred 

mineral resources, it cannot be assumed that all or any part of an inferred mineral resource will ever be 

upgraded to indicated or measured mineral resources, including as a result of continued exploration. (See 

“Risk Factors”) 

  

The Mineral Resource Statement was prepared by John Arthur, FGS, CGeol (CP) and Peter Gleeson 

FAusIMM (CP) of SRK Consulting (UK) Ltd, both are Qualified Persons as defined by the CIM Code. 
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The molybdenum grade of the deposit has been taken from testwork as the current resource 

model does not account for by-product elements.  The range of molybdenum concentrations in 

the deposit is high from 300 ppm to more than 4,200 ppm based on several studies (CEA 1965, 

GoviEx data unpublished, SGS 2009 and 2013, and Mintek 2012).  The molybdenum occurs in 

close proximity to uranium but rarely overlapping as it is formed in more reducing environments 

than where the uranium is precipitated hence molybdenum grade cannot be reliably deduced 

from knowledge of uranium grade. 

For purposes of determining reagent consumption related to molybdenum and possible product 

generation the grade of 1,200 ppm was taken from multiple analysis of the 8 t bulk metallurgical 

sample that was mined from M&M and analysed at Mintek.  In addition testwork at Ablation 

technologies on Miriam ore gave an average of 850 ppm.  In order to provide a conservative 

approach the 850 ppm number was used. When diluted in the ore feed this grade decreases to 

472 ppm. 

Proposed Mining Operations 

There are currently two producing mines in the Arlit region that are located on concessions 

immediately adjacent to the Madaouela Uranium Project. Both mines are operated by 

subsidiaries of Areva: 

 SOMAÏR’s Arlette/Tamou/Artois/Tamgak deposits are mined in a surface operation; and 

 COMINAK’s Akouta/Akola and Ebba/Afasto deposits are mined in an underground 

operation. 

These two operations exploit the same target horizon explored on the Madaouela concessions 

and where the Madaouela Mineral Resources are found, so are considered the most appropriate 

benchmarks for potential operations. 

SRK and GoviEx visited the Akouta Mine and held discussions with the COMINAK engineers 

in March 2012. 

For the purposes of mine planning, the Madaouela deposits have been split into three mining 

districts: 

 Miriam  

 Marianne-Marilyn; and 

 MSNE-Maryvonne. 

The mining studies are based on the Measured and Indicated mineral resources from the above 

deposits and are documented in detail in the following technical reports: 

 ‘An Open Pit Mining Study on the Madaouela Uranium Deposit, Niger’; and 

 ‘An Underground Mining Study on the Madaouela Uranium Deposit, Niger’. 
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The results of the open pit mining study are summarised below: 

 The open pit mining of the Miriam deposit is demonstrated to be technically and 

economically viable using selective open pit mining methods; 

 The mine schedule has been optimised by deferring the processing of low grade material 

below 0.6 kg/t eU which is stockpiled and processed later in the schedule; 

 The open pit mine life is 8 years with 6 years of ore production with a total of 7.5 Mt of 

ore at 0.82 kg/t eU, and a strip ratio of 12.2; 

 The total LoM capital costs are $31.1 M; and 

 The mine operating costs are $2.47/t moved and an additional $2.21/t of ore for 

transportation to the processing facility.  

The results of the underground mining study are summarised below;  

 Marianne-Marilyn (M&M) and MSNE-Maryvonne deposits are to be mined by room and 

pillar mining methods for the following reasons: 

o Allows pillars to be left in areas of low grade; 

o Allows height of mining to be adjusted to reflect the variable nature of the 

mineralisation; 

o Flexibility to react to localised variations in the deposit; 

o No specialised equipment required; 

o Reduced training requirements as local workers already familiar with the mining 

technique; and 

o Demonstrated as being an effective method in similar conditions. 

A common approach to mining has been assumed for all underground deposits to allow the same 

skills and equipment to be applied across all operations. The modular nature of room and pillar 

mining in panels allows the inputs to production costs and productivities to remain relatively 

stable across all operations, simplifying the analysis and ultimate operations.  

Due to the shallow depth of mineralisation, which is typically around 100 metres below the 

surface for the Madaouela deposits, decline access has been adopted.  

 The total underground mine life is 16 years of ore production with a total of 21.9 Mt of 

ore at a fully diluted grade of  0.78 kg/t eU; 
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 The total LoM capital costs are $302 M, including $92.5 M initial start up capital costs 

for, and all underground development costs; and 

 The mine operating costs are $28.6/t run of mine ore to the processing facility.  

Mineral Reserves 

The Mineral Reserve estimate are based on those Mineral Resources classified as Measured and 

Indicated (as of May 20, 2015) and incorporate technical and economic studies that justify 

economic extraction on the information currently available. All Mineral Reserves are classified 

as Probable in accordance with international guidelines for classification. The Madaouela 

mineral reserve incorporates mineral resources to be mined in three areas: by open pit method 

from the Miriam deposit and by underground methods from the Marianne-Marilyn deposit and 

the combined MSNE-Maryvonne deposits  

The Mineral Reserve Statement reported for the M&M deposit is based on the Madaouela 

Mineral Resource Estimate by SRK (April 2015).  The Mineral Reserve Statement for MSNE- 

Maryvonne and Miriam are based on the Madaouela Mineral Resource Estimate by SRK (March 

2013).  

SRK’s Mineral Reserve Statement for M&M and MSNE-Maryvonne as at May 20, 2015, was 

prepared under the direction of Tim McGurk FIMMM who is a Qualified Person as defined by 

the CIM Code. SRK’s Mineral Reserve Statement for Miriam as at May 20, 2015, was prepared 

under the direction of Rick Skelton MIMMM who is a Qualified Person as defined by the CIM 

Code.   

The U3O8 equivalent of uranium metal has been calculated based on the formula: 

 U3O8 equivalent = eU (Uranium metal) * 1.17924 
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Table ES 2 shows the Mineral Reserve Estimate for the three deposits. 

Table ES 2: Mineral reserve statement (May 20, 2015) 

Deposit Cut-Off 

Grade eU 

(kg/t) 

RoM Uranium Metal Uranium Oxide 

Tonnes 

(Mt) 

Grade 

eU  

(kg/t) 

Contained 

U  

(t) 

Grade 

eU3O8 

(kg/t) 

Contained

U3O8  

(t) 

Marianne-Marilyn 

(M&M)* 

      

Probable 0.48 14.1 0.79 11,164 0.93 13,165 

MSNE-Maryvonne*       

Probable 0.48 7.8 0.76 5,938 0.89 7,002 

Total Underground 

(Probable) 

0.48 21.9 0.78 17,102 0.92 20,167 

Miriam Open Pit
** 

      

Probable 0.40 7.5 0.82 6,192 0.97 7,302 

The reference point at which the Mineral Reserve is defined is known as the “mill feed” reference point, 

that is the point where ore is delivered to the processing plant and does not include reductions attributed to 

anticipated plant losses. 

* Underground Mineral Reserves for Marianne-Marilyn and MSNE-Maryvonne are reported at a cut-off 

grade of 0.48 kg/t eU. Cut-off grades are based on a price of USD 70 /lb of U3O8 (USD 154 /kg U3O8) and 

uranium recoveries of 83.0%, without considering revenues from other metals. Note Mineral Reserves 

include both Measured and Indicated Resources. 

**Open Pit Mineral Reserves are reported within the MAD I licence and within a designed pit shell at a 

cut-off grade of 0.4 kg/t eU. Cut-off grades are based on a price of USD 70 /lb of U3O8 (USD 154 /kg U3O8) 

and uranium recoveries of 83.0%, without considering revenues from other metals. Mining modifying 

factors are 2% ore loss and 5% dilution at 0 kg/t grade. Note Mineral Reserves include both Measured and 

Indicated Resources. See “Risk Factors”. 

 

Most of the baseline data used for the Mineral Resource estimate has been obtained through 

gamma probe results that are potentially of lower confidence than assayed results from drill core. 

Consequently a portion of the intersections have had verified results from chemical assays and 

the database of probe results regressed against equivalent chemical assay grade.  

The underground mine plan is based on the geological interpretation that mineralisation is 

located directly above the contact between the Guezouman Sandstone and the Talak Shale. The 

mine design and mining methods applied are based on the interpretation of this geological 

contact.  

Three room and pillar mining methods applied to the underground deposits at varying orebody 

dips are planned to be mined in a similar fashion with additional waste development and larger 

pillars applied in the design to compensate for their differences. There is a risk that at steeper 

dips, mining becomes more complicated, which incurs more ore losses and higher mining costs 

than is allowed for in the Mineral Reserve estimate.  
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Limited metallurgical tests have been made on material from the Miriam deposit compared to 

M&M, however preliminary results suggest the physical and metallurgical properties of the 

Miriam deposit are similar to those in the M&M deposit, and these have been applied to the 

technical studies on Miriam. While considerable metallurgical tests have been completed there 

remains a risk that the results of future metallurgical development diverging from existing 

studies. 

Proposed Processing Options 
 

The following section provides a brief description of the treatment process. The Selected 

Flowsheet Option: Crushing, ROS, Milling, Ablation, Two stage leach and Cyanex 600 SX. 

Ore Receipt and Feed Preparation 

Mined ore from Marianne and Marilyn is crushed underground (80 % < 306 mm) prior to 

transport and is received on surface at the transfer point at the discharge of the inclined conveyor 

from the mining operation. From here material is transferred to the ROM stockpile via the 

stockpile feed conveyor. Facility is also provided to receive primary crushed ore from other 

mining operations or from static stockpiles around the plant area into a feed receipt bin by road 

truck or front end loader (“FEL”). 

Feed preparation effectively consists of two stage crushing with intermediate screening. Ore 

from the stockpile is reclaimed by 3 apron feeders and routed to a secondary jaw crusher 

operating in open circuit with the product screened and the oversize routed to a tertiary cone 

crusher with the product returned to the sizing screen. Product from the crushing circuit is 

nominally < 20 mm (80 % passing). 

The primary crushed ore from the stockpile is routed to ROS where fines are screened out and 

routed directly to fine crushing with the coarse fractions (+20 mm) subject to preconcentration 

by ROS. The accept product only is routed to fine crushing while the rejects are routed to a waste 

stockpile.  

Accept product from the ROS is secondary crushed and mixed with water to create 20% slurry, 

which is fed into the Ablation stage, in which one or more set of two jets of slurry site opposite 

each other to create a high energy impact zone. The high energy impact zone causes a break 

down of the ore material into coarse and fine particles, which are separated by screening and 

gravity. The uranium is predominately in the fine particles and this fine material slurry is 

thickened prior to feeding into the acid leach tanks. The coarse material, which is predominately 

sand, is thickened and sent to the tailings dam.  An additional recovery step involves gravity 

separation of residual uranium and heavy mineral particles from the coarse material that is then 

fed back into the Ablation product.  This improves overall recovery to 99% and also results in 

carbonate reduction and thus reduces acid consumption for the two stage acid leach step.  

The two stage leaching circuit consists of primary and secondary agitated leach tanks in 

recirculation with a leach thickener after the first stage and a belt filter after the second stage 

leach. In the first stage solution from the second stage belt filters is recirculated to leach the fresh 

feed after which the slurry is thickened with the thickener overflow routed to the uranium 
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recovery circuit as pregnant leach solution (“PLS”). The thickener underflow is routed to the 

second stage leach, which uses fresh acid to further leach the milled solids. After the second 

stage the slurry is filtered and the filtered solids residue is washed with fresh solution and 

discarded to the tailings disposal system. 

Leach tanks are agitated and aerated to allow the milled ore to react with sulfuric acid allowing 

dissolution of the contained uranium. The acid consumption (per ton of feed to the leach) in this 

case is forecast to be lower because of the rejection of the acid consuming constituents of the 

feed during flotation. The solution from leach (thickener overflow) is routed to uranium 

recovery. 

Uranium Recovery 

Based on laboratory testwork solvent extraction (“SX”) has been selected as the most appropriate 

method for uranium recovery. Cytec has developed a new SX reagent that canallow recovery and 

separation of uranium and molybdenum from acidic solutions termed CYANEX® 600 

extractant. CYANEX 600 is a highly selective, stable phosphinic acid based reagent and allows 

molybdenum and uranium recovery from acidic solutions by the same solvent. Based on the test 

results, the use of 10 Vol% CYANEX 600 could be used to selectively extract and separate 

Molybdenum and Uranium while achieving recoveries greater than 98 % for Mo and 99 % for U. 

The overall circuit configuration would consist of two extraction steps, one stripping step for 

iron, two stripping steps for molybdenum, an ammonia washing step and two uranium stripping 

steps. A wash stage will be used after the Uranium strip to prevent phosphoric acid transfer.  

Phosphoric acid will be recovered through an evaporation step in order to reduce reagent 

requirements. Additional uranium recovery will come from this step through a bleed stream that 

would feed back into the solvent extraction process. 

Operating and capital costs for the processing option are forecast respectively at $23/t ore to the 

plant and $234 M. For the Tailings Storage Facility (“TSF”) option, SRK has selected a dry 

stacked TSF as the most appropriate concept. This concept is similar to the disposal 

methodology used at the nearby Somaïr and Cominak operations. The facility has been designed 

to store a total of 24.5 Mt, or 18 Mm
3
 of tailings. 

Environmental Considerations   

In accordance with the requirements of Niger legislation for Environmental Impact Assessments 

(“EIAs”), GoviEx contracted Legeni to undertake various baseline studies (including a socio-

economic assessment, air quality monitoring, reconnaissance surveys of fauna and flora, soils 

and geomorphology and archaeology and cultural heritage) for its proposed Madaouela uranium 

project. SRK reviewed the specialist baseline studies as well as completion of hydrology and 

hydrogeological studies on the project concession. Legeni was also contracted to undertake 

stakeholder engagement in accordance with Niger in-country regulatory requirements and 

international good practice. Following completion of baseline, the final ESIA project report and 

information was submitted to the Ministry March 10, 2015, the ESIA has been approved by the 

Minister in charge of the environment. 
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The overall conclusion of this ESIA is the majority of potential negative impacts identified can 

be reduced to acceptable levels with effective management measures, which GoviEx is 

committed to implementing. There are a number of management controls requiring interaction 

with either Government officials or potentially affected communities, in particular the livestock 

herders using the Project area for grazing at certain times of the year. GoviEx will actively 

engage with these key stakeholders to present the proposed management controls and seek to 

find consensus on the way forward. GoviEx is also committed to continuing to undertake 

ongoing stakeholder engagement with the wider communities and other stakeholders potentially 

affected, positively and negatively, by the Project. 

The impacts of the Project have been arranged in groups, as presented in Table ES 3, in order of 

importance for the decision-making process. The residual impact significance rating provided in 

the table assumes the management measures described within the ESIA report have been 

successfully implemented. 

Table ES 3:  Summary of impact significance ratings 

Grouping Identified impacts 
Residual 

impact rating 

Most important positive 

and negative impacts 

needing to be taken into 

account during decision 

making. 

Water supply wellfield impacting on local aquifers 

and groundwater users 
Medium 

Increased government revenue from fiscal and foreign 

exchange income 
High +ive 

Direct and Indirect employment of Nigeriens residing 

in the Arlit Department 
Medium +ive 

Negative impacts having 

a high or medium 

significance without 

management and that 

require careful 

monitoring to ensure 

management measures 

are effective. 

If monitoring reveals 

additional 

management/remedial 

measures required, these 

must be implemented 

without delay. 

Mine dewatering impacting on local aquifers and 

groundwater users 
Medium 

Potential post-closure leaching of deleterious 

constituents from flooded underground mine workings 

to groundwater impacting on local aquifers and 

groundwater users 

Medium 

Particulate matter from operations exacerbating health 

issues associated with the naturally high dust levels in 

the region 

Low 

Land clearance for surface infrastructure causing loss, 

degradation and/or fragmentation of natural habitat 

and potential loss or disturbance of species of 

conservation value 

Low 

Direct exposure to radiation through proximity to TSF 

and inhalation or ingestion of tailings material or 

process water 

Low 

Increased demand on infrastructure and for services 

and goods 
Low 

Change in community dynamics and social 

relationships 
Medium 

Reduced access to the Project area for water and 

pasture 
Low 

Increased infectious disease transmission between 

workers and the host community 
Low 

Impacts that can be 

managed readily through 

Impacts of site infrastructure on storm water runoff 

patterns 
Low 
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Grouping Identified impacts 
Residual 

impact rating 

measures that are not 

difficult to implement and 

are known to be reliable. 

Potential leaching of deleterious constituents from the 

waste facilities to groundwater impacting local 

aquifers and groundwater users 

Low 

Seepage and discharge from waste water systems Low 

Potential post-closure impacts of Miriam open pit on 

water users 
Low 

Degradation and/or alteration of landscape resulting in 

loss of a soil resource and reduced land capability 
Low 

Contamination of soils from solid or liquid waste or 

from aerial deposition 
Low 

Gaseous emissions from operations exacerbating 

health issues in the region 
Low 

Tailings dam forming pool during the rainy season 

and acting as an attractive nuisance to birds in the 

region 

Low 

Direct inhalation of radon and radionuclides from the 

ventilation systems of the underground mines 
Low 

Accidental spills of uranium concentrate during 

packaging and transport 
Low 

Increased incidences of avoidable accidents and 

injuries 
Low 

Accidental damage or loss of archaeological sites 

resulting from land clearance for construction of 

Project infrastructure and looting 

Medium 

Green shading indicates potential positive impacts, red and yellow shading represents potential medium 

and low negative impacts, respectively 

Stakeholder engagement is required in accordance with Niger legislation and international good 

practice. To date several interactions have been undertaken with local stakeholders during the 

data collection for the social baseline studies. These informal meetings took place in the 

Communes of Arlit, Gougaram and Dannet and included discussions with groups of men, 

women and youths and background information on the project was presented. In addition 

meetings were held with traditional authorities, community leaders, technical experts and other 

key informants. A number of issues and concerns were raised during these meetings such as the 

existing negative legacy of mining activities in the area; the potential loss of local livelihoods 

due to competition for land and water resources, which will be exacerbated by population influx; 

possible pollution to the environment; potential infrastructure improvement and job creation; and 

the necessity for proper stakeholder consultation.   

The conclusions drawn aim to assist decision-makers in determining if environmental approval 

of the project can be given. The impacts of the project have been arranged in groups, as 

presented in Table ES 3, in order of importance for the decision-making process.  

The first group of impacts in Table ES 3 represent the most important impacts for decision 

makers. Positive impacts are denoted with a “+ive” after them and represent the main benefits 

created by the Project from an environmental and social perspective and may be considered to 

balance some or all of the negative impacts. These include increasing government revenue 
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during construction and operation and the provision of employment and income for Nigerien 

people leading to reduced poverty. The only negative impacts with a high significance before 

management measures is related to the proposed wellfield, however by maximise re-use of the 

mine dewatering and implementing the other proposed mitigation measures the significance of 

this can be reduced to medium. 

The second group of impacts have a high or medium significance prior to the implementation of 

management measures but these measures reduce the significance of the impact to medium or 

low. These are the impacts requiring careful monitoring to check the management measures are 

effective and to ensure additional remedial measures are implemented if required.  The final 

group of impacts are those that are either considered of low significance due to the nature of the 

impact or can be easily reduced to acceptable levels through management. The management 

measures are not difficult to implement and are known to be reliable. 

Several impacts have already been managed through inherent measures incorporated into project 

design. There is further opportunity to avoid or reduce the severity of some impacts by 

continuing to consider environmental and social elements as final designs are confirmed. The 

robustness of the supporting management programmes, along with implementation, assurance 

and continual improvement functions of the ESMS (“Environmental and Social Management 

Strategy”), are fundamental to enabling the successful implementation of management measures 

by the GoviEx, its contractors and sub-contractors. A key part of the ESMP (“Environment and 

Social Mitigation Plan”) is the ongoing monitoring to confirm whether the impacts identified in 

this ESIA materialise and if any additional measures are required.   

Economic Analysis 

SRK completed a technical economic analysis on the Project. The various assumptions and 

inputs for the base case are described below: 

 Mining sequence: Miriam open pit being mined first, with the focus on the high grade ore 

being processed first, followed by Marianne-Marilyn and MSNE-Maryvonne underground 

mines; 

 Low grade ore from Miriam is fed to the mill during the underground mining stages; and 

 Molybdenum is considered as a by-product from the processing plant, based on 

metallurgical testwork results. SRK notes that the molybdenum is not included in the Mineral 

Resource or Ore Reserve statements. 

Inputs  

The following assumptions have been applied to the life-of-mine plans and the economic 

analysis: 

 Mineral Resources as defined in line with the CIM guidelines; 

 Maximum plant feed of 1.47 Mtpa; 
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 Overall uranium (eU, determined largely by radiometric analysis) recovery of 93.7 % 

based on 0.78 kg/t U for underground and 0.82 kg/t U for Miriam , and molybdenum recovery of 

67.0% based an average 0.47 kg/t grade;  

 A ROM molybdenum grade of 0.47 kg/t, resulting in approximately 592 t of MoO2 per 

annum. The revenue generated by the molybdenum is presented in the below as a by-product 

credit to offset the operating costs. Operating and capital costs have been included in the 

processing plant estimates. SRK notes that Mo has not been modelled in the Mineral Resource 

estimate;  

 A total project life of 24 years (3 construction, 21 revenue generating);  

 A U3O8 price of USD 70.00 /lb, and MoO2 price of USD 11.00 /lb; 

 Operating costs and capital expenditures as defined in Section 26 above;  

 A 30 % income tax rate applies after a three year tax holiday; 

 Royalty rate based on the Niger Mining Code which states a sliding scale royalty rate 

from 5.5 % up to 12 % for higher profit to revenue ratios. The royalty is payable on both 

uranium and molybdenum revenue. SRK notes that the revenue associated with the molybdenum 

is presented as a by-product credit in the below, however for the royalty calculations is treated 

appropriately; 

 A base case 8 % discount rate; and 

 No provision for salvage value at closure is assumed in the analysis.  

The Project development plan envisions an average 2.69 Mlb per year U3O8 yellowcake 

production rate over a twenty one year mine life, with a 93.7 % ultimate recovery of uranium. In 

addition it assumes recovery of on average approximately 592 t of MoO2 per annum at a sales 

price of USD11.00 /lb, which revenue is used to offset processing costs. The base case project 

economics for this project at a long-term uranium price of USD 70 /lb U3O8 are positive, and 

indicate an after-tax NPV of USD 339 M (at 8 % discount rate) with an IRR of 23.5 % and a 

total life of mine (“LoM”) net free cash of USD 1,126 M. Initial capital costs are estimated at 

USD 359 M, LoM capital costs at USD 676 M, and cash operating costs of USD 24.49 /lb U3O8 

excluding royalties and including by-product credits. It is noted that Mo has not been included in 

the Mineral Resource model and hence is not considered to be at the same level of confidence as 

the U grades.  

Business Objectives and Milestones 

The Company’s key business objective over the next 12 months is the development of a financial 

strategy focused on the potential debt financing structure for the definitive feasibility study and 

the future development of the Madaouela Project. In addition the Company will continue to 

target further de-risking of the financial and technical aspects of the Project, also well as its 

continued financial optimisation. 



GoviEx Uranium Inc.   FORM 2A – Annual Update 2015 

 

        

Page 64 
 

 
5. Selected Consolidated Financial Information  

The following table sets forth selected financial information derived from the Company’s audited 

consolidated financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013 (the 

“Financial Statements”). This summary of financial information should be read in conjunction 

with the Financial Statements and related notes attached hereto as Appendix “A” and forming 

part of this Form 2A and the Company’s Management’s Discussion and Analysis for the years 

ended December 31, 2015 and 2014 (the “MD&A”) attached hereto as Appendix “B” and 

forming part of this Form 2A. All financial information presented herein is prepared in 

accordance with IFRS. 

 Year ended  

December 31, 2015 

Year ended  

December 31, 2014 

Year ended 

December 31, 2013 

Total Revenue Nil Nil Nil 

Loss for the period ($5,254,000) ($31,441,000) ($23,157,000) 

Loss per Share (basic and 

diluted) 

($0.03) ($0.24) ($0.20) 

Cash and Cash 

Equivalents 

$1,039,000 $3,653,000 $3,952,000 

Total Assets $58,740,000 $61,705,000 $65,868,000 

Total Liabilities $10,890,000 $10,460,000 $46,252,000 

Quarterly Information The “Summary of Quarterly Results” section of the MD&A provides 

quarterly information for the eight quarters ended December 31, 2015.   

Dividends In accordance with the Company’s Articles, subject to the BCBCA, the directors may 

from time to time declare and authorize payment of such dividends as they may deem advisable. 

The Company has not declared or paid any dividends for the most recently completed financial 

year. 

 
6. Management's Discussion and Analysis 

 

Annual MD&A 

The MD&A is based on information available to the Corporation as at April 21, 2016, and 

remains current as at the date of this Form 2A. 

Please refer to the MD&A regarding overall performance, which is attached hereto as Appendix 

“B” and forms part of this Form 2A. 
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Selected Annual Financial Information 

For a summary of GoviEx’s annual consolidated results for each of the Company’s three most 

recently completed financial years, see “Selected Consolidated Financial Information” above. 

Please refer to the MD&A for a discussion on the factors that have caused period to period 

variation, results of operations, a summary of quarterly results, liquidity, capital resources, off-

balance sheet arrangements, transactions with related parties, fourth quarter results, proposed 

transactions and changes in accounting policies. Please refer to Notes 2 and 14 of the Financial 

Statements for a discussion on financial instruments and other instruments. 

 
7. Market for Securities 

The Company’s Class A Common Shares commenced trading on the CSE on June 20, 2014, 

under the symbol “GXU”. 

 
8. Consolidated Capitalization 

The Company’s share and loan capital is described in Note 6 (“Toshiba Bond Financing”) and 

Note 8 (“Share Capital”) of the Financial Statements. 

 
9. Options to Purchase Securities 

The Company has adopted a Share Purchase Option Plan (the “Plan”), for the benefit of its 

officers, directors, employees and service providers and any associated, affiliated, controlled or 

subsidiary company. The purpose of the share option plan is to provide eligible persons with an 

opportunity to purchase Class A Common Shares and to benefit from the appreciation in the 

value of such Common Shares. 

The Plan increases the Company’s ability to attract and maintain individuals of exceptional skill 

by providing them with the opportunity, through the exercise of share options and/or receipt of 

bonus grants of Common Shares, to benefit from the growth of the Company. The Board has the 

authority to determine the directors, officers, employees and service providers to whom options 

will be granted, the number of options to be granted to each person and the price at which 

Common Shares may be purchased, subject to the terms and conditions set forth in the Plan. The 

key provisions of the Plan are set out below under “Executive Compensation”. 

The following table sets forth the number of options to purchase Common Shares outstanding as 

March 31, 2016. All of the following options are issued under and subject to the terms of the 

Plan.  
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Name 

Class A 

Common 

Shares Under 

Options 

Granted 

Exercise or 

Base Price 

($/Common 

Share)
 

Expiration Date 

Executive officers and past 

executive officers as a group 

(four persons) 

37,500 $2.15 31-May-16 

600,000 $2.15 19-Jun-19 

 50,000 Cdn$0.30 31-May-16 

 1,065,000 Cdn$0.30 28-Jan-20 

 2,000,000 Cdn$0.10 19-Nov-20 

 2,800,000 Cdn$0.1125 31-Dec-17 

    

Directors and past directors 

(who are not also executive 

officers) as a group 

(seven persons) 

   

50,000 $2.15 09-Nov-16 

250,000 $2.15 04-Jun-17 

250,000 $2.15 19-Jun-19 

250,000 $2.15 27-Aug-17 

 56,250 Cdn$0.30 26-Jun-16 

 900,000 Cdn$0.30 28-Jan-20 

 2,800,000 Cdn$0.10 19-Nov-20 

    

    

All other employees and past 

employees as a group 

(eight persons) 

140,000 $2.15 19-Jun-19 

385,000 Cdn$0.30 28-Jan-20 

700,000 Cdn$0.10 19-Nov-20 

    

    

    

    

All other employees and past 

employees of subsidiaries of 

the Company as a group 

(two persons) 

100,000 $2.15 09-Nov-16 

50,000 $2.15 19-Jun-19 

250,000 Cdn$0.30 28-Jan-20 

 950,000 Cdn$0.10 19-Nov-20 

    

    

All consultants as a group 

(two persons) 

83,333 $2.15 27-Aug-17 

15,000 Cdn$0.30 28-Jan-20 

 275,000 Cdn$0.10 19-Nov-20 

    

    

    

Total 14,057,083 – – 

Additional information on the options to purchase Class A Common Shares can be found at Note 

7 (“Share Purchase Warrants Derivative Liability”) and Note 9 (“Share Based Payments”) of the 

Financial Statements. 
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10. Description of the Securities 

Authorized and Issued Shares 

The authorized capital of the Company consists of an unlimited number of Class A Common 

Shares without par value and an unlimited number of Class B Common Shares. As of the date of 

this Form 2A, 168,151,349 Class A Common Shares and no Class B Common Shares are issued 

and outstanding. 

Class A Common Shares 

The Class A Common Shares have no par or nominal value. Holders of Class A Common Shares 

are entitled to receive notice of, and to attend all meetings of GoviEx shareholders and to have 

one vote for each Class A Common Share held except to the extent specifically limited by the 

BCBCA. The Class A Common Shares and Class B Common Shares will vote together as a 

single class on all matters at any meeting of shareholders, except as required by the BCBCA. 

Holders of Class A Common Shares, ranking equally with the Class B Common Shares, are 

entitled to receive such dividends, if, as and when declared by the Board out of profits, capital or 

otherwise. All dividends which the Board may declare shall be declared and paid in equal 

amounts per share on all Class A Common Shares and Class B Common Shares at the time 

outstanding. On liquidation, dissolution or winding up of GoviEx, the holders of Class A 

Common Shares will be entitled to receive the property of GoviEx remaining after payment of 

all outstanding debts on a pro rata basis, but subject to the rights, privileges, restrictions and 

conditions of any other class of shares issued by GoviEx. There are no pre-emptive, redemption 

or conversion rights attaching to the Class A Common Shares. All Class A Common Shares, 

when issued, are and will be issued as fully paid and non-assessable shares without liability for 

further calls or to assessment. 

Class B Common Shares 

The Class B Common Shares have no par or nominal value. Holders of Class B Common Shares 

are entitled to receive notice of, and to attend all meetings of GoviEx shareholders and to have 

one vote for each Class B Common Share held except to the extent specifically limited by the 

BCBCA. The Class B Common Shares and Class A Common Shares will vote together as a 

single class on all matters at any meeting of shareholders, except as required by the BCBCA. 

Holders of Class B Common Shares, ranking equally with the Class A Common Shares, are 

entitled to receive such dividends, if, as and when declared by the Board out of profits, capital or 

otherwise. All dividends which the Board may declare shall be declared and paid in equal 

amounts per share on all Class B Common Shares and Class A Common Shares at the time 

outstanding. On liquidation, dissolution or winding up of GoviEx, the holders of Class B 

Common Shares will be entitled to receive the property of GoviEx remaining after payment of 

all outstanding debts on a pro rata basis, but subject to the rights, privileges, restrictions and 

conditions of any other class of shares issued by GoviEx. There are no pre-emptive, redemption 

or conversion rights attaching to the Class B Common Shares. All Class B Common Shares, 

when issued, are and will be issued as fully paid and non-assessable shares without liability for 

further calls or to assessment. 
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The Class B Common Shares are: (i) prohibited from being listed on a stock exchange or stock 

market; and (ii) non-transferrable, non-assignable, non-hedgeable and non-pledgeable, except 

with the prior written consent of the Board. 

The following table details the price history of the Company’s Class A Common Shares for the 

previous 12 months from the date of this Form 2A: 

Period Price Range (Cdn$) Volume 

 Minimum Maximum  

April 2016 (to April 22, 2016) 0.070 0.100 319,100 

March 2016 0.065 0.090 3,901,500 

February 2016 0.070 0.145 2,858,000 

January 2016 0.045 0.100 2,215,809 

December 2015 0.035 0.050 5,065,061 

November 2015 0.045 0.075 3,725,021 

October 2015 0.080 0.150 4,740,942 

September 2015 0.095 0.190 74,867 

August 2015 0.145 0.150 130,000 

July 2015 0.070 0.190 1,697,548 

June 2015 0.100 0.180 196,700 

May 2015 0.065 0.100 587,000 

April 2015 0.040 0.105 7,091,970 

 
11. Escrowed Securities 

 
As of the date of this Form 2A, to the knowledge of the Company it has no in escrowed 

securities. 
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12. Principal Shareholders  

 

The following table sets forth the persons who own of record or, to the knowledge of the 

directors and officers of the Company, directly or indirectly beneficially own or exercises control 

or direction over Common Shares carrying 10% or more of the voting rights attaching to all 

issued and outstanding Common Shares as of March 31, 2016. 

Name of Shareholder   

Number and 

Percentage 
(1)

 

Govind Friedland   31,265,556 (18.59%) 

Toshiba Corporation   28,395,466 (16.89%) 

Note: 

(1) Total does not include Class A Common Shares issuable upon the exercise of incentive stock options granted by 

the Company pursuant to the Plan. See “Options to Purchase Securities” or Class A Common Shares issuable 

upon the exercise of warrants outstanding. 

13 Directors and Officers 

 

The following table sets forth the name of each director and executive officer of the Company, 

their city, province or state and country of residence, their present position(s) and offices with 

the Company, their principal occupations during the five preceding years, and their holdings of 

the Company’s Class A Common Shares. Each of the directors of the Company will hold office 

until the next annual meeting of shareholders. 

Name and Residence 

Position with 

Company 

Principal Occupation  

for Five Preceding Years 

Number of 

Shares Owned 

Directly or 

Indirectly
(5) 

Govind Friedland
(3)

 

Madrid, Spain 
Executive Chairman 

since December 1, 2011 

and Director since 

March 5, 2007 

Executive Chairman of the Company 

(December 1, 2011 – present); director 

of the Company (March 2007 –

present); Chief Executive Officer of 

the Company (February 27, 2007 - 

November 10, 2011); and President of 

the Company (February 27, 2007 – 

June 22, 2010) 

31,265,556 

18.59% 

    

Daniel Major
(4)

 

Sevenoaks, Kent, England 

 

Chief Executive Officer 

and Director since 

October 26, 2012 

Chief Executive Officer of the 

Company (October 26, 2012 – 

present); Chief Executive Officer of 

White Tiger Gold Ltd. (October 2011 

– July 2012); Chief Executive Officer 

of Century Mining Corporation 

(January 2011 – October 2011); Chief 

Operating Officer of Ecometals Ltd. 

(May 2008 – December 2011) 

40,000 

0.024% 
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Name and Residence 

Position with 

Company 

Principal Occupation  

for Five Preceding Years 

Number of 

Shares Owned 

Directly or 

Indirectly
(5) 

Matthew Lechtzier
(1)(2)(3)

 

London, England 

Lead Independent 

Director since March 

17, 2011, and Director 

since June 16, 2006 

Sr. Vice President of Ivanhoe Capital 

Corporation (UK) (August 1995 – 

present); Senior Vice President of 

Ivanplats UK Limited (August 2013 – 

present) 

35,000 

0.021% 

    

Robert Hanson
(2) (3)

 

London, England 

Director since June 4, 

2012 

Chairman, Hanson Family Holdings 

(May 2009 – present); Chairman, 

Strand Hanson Ltd. (October 2009 – 

April 2010); Executive Chairman, 

Hanson Asset Management (April 

2010 –present) 

100,000 

0.059% 

    

Christopher Wallace 
(1)(2)

 Director since June 26, 

2015 

Christopher Wallace is a Managing 

Director at CCC Investment Banking 

November 2015 – present), a Canadian 

mid-market investment bank. He was 

formerly the Managing Partner of 

Second City Capital Corporation, 

(September 2004 – January 2011) a 

$100 million private equity and 

mezzanine loan fund. Mr. Wallace is a 

director of Dominion Citrus Income 

Fund (August 2013 – present) 

345,000 

0.205% 

    

    

Benoit La Salle
(1) 

Quebec, Canada 
 
 

Director since 

November 7, 2012 

Chief Executive Officer of Windiga 

Energy Inc. (September 2012 to 

present). Chairman of Sama Resources 

Inc. (October 2012 – present); 

Chairman of Algold Resources Ltd. 

(February 2013 – present); President 

and Chief Executive Officer of Semafo 

Inc. (September 1995 – August 2012). 

100 

0.00006% 
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Name and Residence 

Position with 

Company 

Principal Occupation  

for Five Preceding Years 

Number of 

Shares Owned 

Directly or 

Indirectly
(5) 

Anthony Abbenante  Director since 

November 18, 2015 

President of Ivanhoe Industries, LLC, 

(March 25, 2014 to present); I-Pulse 

Assistant General Counsel (May 31, 

2012 – October 29, 2013), 

Vice President, 

Corporate  Development (June 5, 2013 

– July 1, 2014) and 

Senior Vice President, Corporate 

Development (July 1, 2014 – present) 

of I-Pulse Inc.; Executive Vice 

President, Corporate Development & 

Legal (December 4, 2013 to January 

20, 2015) and Vice President (January 

20, 2015 to present) of Kaizen 

Discovery Inc.; VP and Assistant 

General Counsel (October 1, 2010 – 

November 23, 2012) and 

Executive Vice-President, Corporate 

Development (November 23, 2012 – 

May 1, 2014) of Rowena Energy Inc. 

 

100 

0.00006% 

 

Lei Wang Chief Financial Officer 

since May 31, 2015 

Chief Financial Officer of the 

Company (May 31, 2015 to present); 

Chief Financial Officer of Pacific 

Ridge Exploration Ltd. (October 2008 

to present) 

Nil 

_________________ 

Notes: 

(1) Member of the Audit Committee. Mr. Wallace is the chair of the Audit Committee. 

(2) Member of the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee. Mr. Lechtzier is the Chair of the Nominating and Corporate Governance 

Committee. 

(3) Member of the Human Resources & Compensation Committee. Mr. Hanson is the Chair of the Human Resources & Compensation 

Committee. 

(4) All Class A Common Shares are held directly with the exception of Mr. Major, who holds a portion of his shares indirectly. 

The directors and executive officers of the Company, as a group, beneficially own, directly or 

indirectly, or exercise control or direction over, 31,785,756 Class A Common Shares of the 

Company, representing approximately 18.9% of the issued and outstanding Common Shares of 

the Company as at the date of this Form 2A. The directors and officers also hold management 

incentive options as described under, “Executive Compensation”. 

  



GoviEx Uranium Inc.   FORM 2A – Annual Update 2015 

 

        

Page 72 
 

The following are brief biographical descriptions of each of the directors and officers of the 

Company: 

Govind Friedland 

Mr. Govind Friedland is a geological engineer from the Colorado School of Mines (“CSM”). 

Prior to forming the Company, Mr. Friedland provided business development services to Ivanhoe 

Mines Ltd. and Ivanhoe Energy Inc. throughout the Asia Pacific Region for over half a decade. 

From 2007 to 2011, as Chief Executive of the Company, Mr. Friedland was primarily 

responsible for raising approximately $100 million to fund acquisitions, finance exploration and 

pursue other corporate initiatives focused on the Company's uranium assets in Niger. Mr. 

Friedland championed the Company’s policy of employing a 100% local workforce in Nigeria as 

the new paradigm for sustainable development in the region.  

Mr. Friedland is also a co-founder of Ivanhoe Industries, the parent company of I-Pulse Inc., a 

hi-tech company providing innovative solutions for mining, oil & gas, and advanced 

manufacturing sectors based in Toulouse France. 

Mr. Friedland, currently the Company’s Executive Chairman of the Board of Directors, earned 

his degree in Geology and Geological Engineering from CSM in 2000 with a focus on 

Exploration Geology. While attending CSM, Mr. Friedland was distinguished as the recipient of 

the prestigious Brunton Award for his excellence and expertise in field mapping. From 2002 to 

2011, Mr. Friedland was based in Beijing, China and possesses a unique multicultural 

background having lived much of his life in Asia immersed in the mineral exploration industry. 

From 2003 until 2005, Mr. Friedland worked for Ivanhoe Energy Inc. and Ivanhoe Mines Ltd. as 

Business Development Manager for the Asia Pacific Region. Prior to that, Mr. Friedland was a 

Field Engineer for Kiewit Pacific, a division of Peter Kiewit & Sons. 

Mr. Friedland draws on experience having worked at Kiewit Pacific on the planning, 

mobilization, and execution of several multibillion dollar projects including Level 3 

Communications, a $6 billion design build high-tech contract, the Oakland-San Francisco New 

Bay Bridge, a $1.2 billion job which involved heavy civil engineering and construction, and in 

China. Mr. Friedland also has particular mineral exploration and development expertise 

throughout Asia and North America. Mr. Friedland was part of the regional exploration team that 

first discovered the Voisey’s Bay Nickel-Copper-Cobolt discovery in Labrador Canada in 1996, 

which was ultimately sold to Inco for $4.3 billion. 

Daniel Major 

Daniel Major is a mining engineer from the Camborne School of Mines in the UK. His career 

spans over 25 years in the mining industry where he has established a solid track record initially 

with Rio Tinto at the Rossing Uranium Mine in Namibia and later as a mining analyst with 

HSBC Plc followed by JP Morgan Chase & Co. in London. More recently Mr. Major was Chief 

Executive and later Non-Executive Chairman of Basic Element Mining and Resource Division in 

Russia, and held leadership positions in several Canadian listed mining companies with 

exploration and producing assets in Canada, Russia and South America. 
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Matthew Lechtzier 

Matthew Lechtzier is a qualified lawyer with extensive experience in marketing, transacting and 

documenting a variety of international financial transactions. He has acted as project manager 

and senior advisor for over 80 public and private offerings. For over two decades, Mr. Lechtzier 

has served as Senior Vice President of Ivanhoe Capital Corporation in its offices in Singapore, 

Vancouver and London where he is based. He has been responsible for transaction execution, 

marketing and banker and investor relations with respect to both public and private affiliated 

companies. In addition, he has overseen the raising of in excess of $1 billion in five separate 

initial public and other offerings while at Ivanhoe Capital. He also serves as Senior Vice 

President of Ivanplats UK Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Ivanhoe Mines Ltd., formerly 

Ivanplats Limited. 

Mr. Lechtzier’s previous experience is as Director of Equity Capital Markets with Jardine 

Fleming Securities (now part of JP Morgan) in Hong Kong, the pre-eminent Asian based 

investment bank. Mr. Lechtzier was also a member of the Asian Capital Markets Department of J 

Henry Schroder Wagg & Co./Schroders Securities Limited in London and Taipei and of the 

Capital Markets team of the Chase Investment Bank in London.  

Over his lengthy financial management career, Mr. Lechtzier has served on the board of directors 

of various public and private companies.  He has also served on the Advisory Board of The 

Ashmolean Museum in Oxford and is a current member of the Development Committee of The 

Foundling Museum in London. 

Robert Hanson 

Mr. Hanson has been a Director of the Company since June 2012. Mr. Hanson currently serves 

as the Executive Chairman of Hanson Asset Management, Chairman of Hanson Capital 

Investments Ltd., Sinojie Hanson and Hanson Family Holdings Ltd. (formerly Hanson Transport 

Group Limited), and is also Co Chairman and Managing Partner of Millennium Hanson 

Advisors. He was Chairman of Hanson Westhouse Limited from February 1998 to April 2009 

and Strand Hanson Ltd. from October 2009 to April 2010, and an Associate Director of N.M. 

Rothschild & Sons from 1983 to 1990, serving in London, Hong Kong, Chile and Spain. From 

1990 to 1997, he served on the board of directors of Hanson plc, and was primarily responsible 

for strategy and merger and acquisition transactions.  

Robert Hanson was an independent non-executive Director of Vancouver based Ivanhoe Mines 

Ltd. from 2001 to 2010, an independent non-executive Director of Kaizen Discovery Inc., a 

Canadian technology-focused mineral exploration company, from December 2013 to November 

2016 and has been a Director of SouthGobi Resources, a Mongolia-based coal production and 

development company, since 2006. His other non-executive directorships include Sport & Artist 

Management Ltd. (a boutique sports marketing company) and E-commerce Logistics Ltd. (a 

Hong Kong based company which provides fulfilment and logistics facilities in greater China).  

Mr. Hanson was educated at Eton College and received his Master of Arts degree in English 

Language & Literature from St Peter’s College, Oxford. He is a trustee of the Hanson 
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Foundation and a founding trustee of the Raisa Gorbachev Foundation fighting child cancers. He 

is a member of the Institute of Corporate Directors. 

Christopher Wallace 

Christopher Wallace has more than 35 years of banking and corporate finance experience. He 

previously served as the Managing Partner of Second City Capital Corporation, a US$100 

million private equity and mezzanine loan fund. He also was the Chief Operating Officer of 

Canadian Maple Leaf Financial Corporation, a publicly traded Merchant Bank, until 1998 when 

he left the firm to set up Stirling Mercantile Corporation. Mr. Wallace has been a director of 

various boards, including Greening Donald Company Ltd., The Rockford Corporation, and 

Bennett Environmental Inc. He graduated from Queen’s University, Ontario, Canada, with a BA 

Hons. in Economics. 

Benoit La Salle 

Mr. La Salle is a Fellow Chartered Accountant (FCPA, FCA), a member of the Canadian 

Institute of Chartered Accountants and holds a Commerce Degree and a Masters of Business 

Administration from IMEDE in Lausanne, Switzerland. In 1980, Mr. La Salle founded Grou, La 

Salle & Associates, Chartered Accountants. In 1995, Mr. La Salle founded SEMAFO Inc., a 

mining company with gold production and exploration activities in West Africa and held the 

position of President and Chief Executive Officer of the organization until August 2012. He now 

acts as President and Chief Executive Officer of Windiga Energy Inc. In the last quarter of 2012, 

Mr. La Salle was appointed Chairman of Canadian Council of Africa (CCAfrica), Sama 

Resources Inc. and Algold Resources Ltd. Mr. La Salle is the former Chairman of the Board of 

Plan International (Canada). 

Anthony Abbenante 

 

Anthony Abbenante is President of Ivanhoe Industries, LLC, a U.S.-based, privately held 

company actively engaged in supporting technology, energy and natural resource companies 

worldwide that is backed by several prominent entrepreneurs, including Robert Friedland. He 

formerly was an attorney at Mintz, Levin, Cohn, Ferris, Glovsky and Popeo, a U.S. law firm, 

where he worked in the corporate transactional group based out of the firm’s New York and 

Washington, D.C. offices. He has a degree in Foreign Affairs from the University of Virginia 

and a Law degree from American University in Washington, D.C. 

Lei Wang  

Lei Wang is a professional accountant (CPA, CGA) with more than 20 years of experience in the 

natural mineral resources sector. Ms. Wang has been integrally involved in all aspects of 

financial reporting, regulatory compliance and corporate governance, treasury, tax and corporate 

finance activities for both publicly traded resource companies and privately held companies. Ms. 

Wang has held various financial roles, including CFO, in the Canadian mineral resources 

industry since 2001, and prior to that, Ms. Wang worked at Schlumberger in Aberdeen, Scotland 

and Glencore International in Beijing, China. Ms. Wang holds a Bachelor of Science in 

Engineering from Qingdao University, China 
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Cease Trade Orders, Bankruptcies, Penalties or Sanctions 

With the exception of Christopher Wallace, no director or officer of the Company is, or has been 

within 10 years before the date of this Form 2A, a director or officer of any company that, while 

such person was acting in that capacity, was subject to a cease trade order or similar order or an 

order that denied the company access to any exemption under securities legislation for a period 

of more than 30 consecutive days or was subject to a cease trade order or any other similar order 

or an order that denied the company access to any exemption under securities legislation for a 

period of more than 30 consecutive days that was issued after such person ceased to be acting in 

that capacity and which resulted from an event that occurred while such person was acting in that 

capacity. 

Mr. Wallace, was a director of (i) Brandgamz Marketing, Inc. (formerly Numedia Games Inc.) 

which was subject to a cease trade order dated February 5, 2008 for failure to file financial 

statements for the period ended September 30, 2007, and (ii) VendTek Systems Inc. which was 

subject to a cease trade order dated March 6, 2009 for failure to file financial statements for the 

period ended October 31, 2008. The Brandgamz Marketing, Inc. cease trade order was revoked 

May 1, 2009 and the VendTek Systems Inc. cease trade order was revoked March 25, 2010. 

With the exception of Daniel Major and Christopher Wallace, no director or officer of the 

Company is, or has been within 10 years before the date of this Form 2A, a director or officer of 

any other company that while that person was acting in that capacity, or within a year of such 

person ceasing to act in that capacity, became bankrupt, made a proposal under any legislation 

relating to bankruptcy or insolvency or was subject to or instituted any proceedings, arrangement 

or compromise with creditors or had a receiver, receiver manager or trustee appointed to hold its 

assets.  

Mr. Major was a Director of Century Mining Corporation on May 27, 2012, when the Superior 

Court of Québec appointed a receiver to take control of its assets. 

Mr. Wallace resigned as director of Greening Donald Company Ltd. less than a year preceding 

that company making an application under the Companies’ Creditors Arrangement Act in 

November 2006. 

Individual Bankruptcies 

No director, officer, promoter or principal shareholder of the Company is or has, within ten years 

prior to the date hereof, become bankrupt, made a proposal under any legislation relating to 

bankruptcy or insolvency, or become subject to or instituted any proceedings, arrangement or 

compromise with creditors or had a receiver, receiver manager or trustee appointed to hold the 

assets of that individual. 

No director, officer, promoter or principal shareholder of the Company has: (i) been the subject 

of any penalties or sanctions imposed by a court relating to Canadian securities legislation or by 

a Canadian securities regulatory authority or has entered a settlement agreement with a Canadian 

securities regulatory authority; or (ii) been the subject of any other penalties or sanctions 

imposed by a court or regulatory body that would be likely to be considered to be important to a 

reasonable investor making an investment decision. 
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14. Capitalization 

The information below is prepared to the best of the Company’s knowledge and belief as of 

March 31, 2016:   

Issued Capital 

 Number of 

Securities 

(non-diluted) 

Number of 

Securities (fully-

diluted) 

% of Issued 

(non-

diluted) 

% of 

Issued  

(fully diluted) 

Public Float 

 

    

Total outstanding (A)  168,151,349 204,463,488
(1) 

100% 100% 

     

Held by Related Persons or 

employees of the Issuer or Related 

Person of the Issuer, or by persons 

or companies who beneficially 

own or control, directly or 

indirectly, more than a 5% voting 

position in the Issuer (or who 

would beneficially own or control, 

directly or indirectly, more than a 

5% voting position in the Issuer 

upon exercise or conversion of 

other securities held) (B) 

98,719,499 128,766,982
(2) 

58.71% 62.98% 

     

Total Public Float (A-B) 69,431,850 75,696,506 41.29% 37.02% 

     

Freely-Tradeable Float 

 

    

Number of outstanding securities 

subject to resale restrictions, 

including restrictions imposed by 

pooling or other arrangements or 

in a shareholder agreement and 

securities held by control block 

holders (C)  

0 0 0.00% 0.00% 

Total Tradeable Float (A-C) 168,151,349 204,463,488
(1) 

100% 100% 

_________________ 

Notes: 

(1) Number of Securities (fully-diluted) in total includes 14,057,083 stock options exercisable into Class A 

Common Shares (See “Options to Purchase Securities”) and 22,463,488 Warrants exercisable into Class A 

Common Shares. 

(2) Number of Securities (fully-diluted) in total includes 13,683,750 stock options and 16,363,733 Warrants all 

exercisable into Class A Common Shares held by Related Persons. 
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Public Securityholders (Registered) 

 
Instruction: For the purposes of this report, "public securityholders" are persons other than persons 

enumerated in section (B) of the previous chart. List registered holders only. 

 

Class of Security 

 

    

Size of Holding   Number of holders  Total number of securities 

     

1 – 99 securities  1  50 

     

100 – 499 securities  83  9,275 

     

500 – 999 securities  3  1,500 

     

1,000 – 1,999 securities  6  6,000 

     

2,000 – 2,999 securities  1  2,450 

     

3,000 – 3,999 securities  1  3,229 

     

4,000 – 4,999 securities  0  0 

     

5,000 or more  securities
(1) 

 85  70,505,102 

     

TOTAL  180  70,527,606 

_________________ 

Notes: 

(1) This also includes shares registered in the name of CDS &Co. 
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Public Securityholders (Beneficial) 

 
Instruction: Include (i) beneficial holders holding securities in their own name as registered shareholders; 

and (ii) beneficial holders holding securities through an intermediary where the Issuer has been given 

written confirmation of shareholdings. For the purposes of this section, it is sufficient if the intermediary 

provides a breakdown by number of beneficial holders for each line item below; names and holdings of 

specific beneficial holders do not have to be disclosed. If an intermediary or intermediaries will not provide 

details of beneficial holders, give the aggregate position of all such intermediaries in the last line.  

 

Class of Security 

 

    

Size of Holding   Number of holders  Total number of securities 

     

1 – 99 securities  1  2 

     

100 – 499 securities  20  2,000 

     

500 – 999 securities  2  1,000 

     

1,000 – 1,999 securities  9  9,100 

     

2,000 – 2,999 securities  4  8,500 

     

3,000 – 3,999 securities  0  0 

     

4,000 – 4,999 securities  4  17,379 

     

5,000 or more securities  139  38,702,147 

     

Unable to confirm
(1) 

   30,729,703 

     

TOTAL    69,431,850 

_________________ 

Notes: 

(1) Unable to determine number of beneficial holders.  . 
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Non-Public Securityholders (Registered) 

 
Instruction: For the purposes of this report, "non-public securityholders" are persons enumerated in 

section (B) of the issued capital chart.  

 

Class of Security 

 

    

Size of Holding   Number of holders  Total number of securities 

     

1 – 99 securities     

     

100 – 499 securities  1  100 

     

500 – 999 securities  NIL  NIL 

     

1,000 – 1,999 securities  NIL  NIL 

     

2,000 – 2,999 securities  NIL  NIL 

     

3,000 – 3,999 securities  NIL  NIL 

     

4,000 – 4,999 securities  NIL  NIL 

     

5,000 or more  securities  10  97,623,643 

     

TOTAL  11  97,623,743 
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Convertible or Exchangeable Securities 

The following details for any securities convertible or exchangeable into any class of listed 

securities: 

 
Description Number of 

Convertible/Exchangeable 

Securities Outstanding 

Number of Class A Common Shares 

Issuable Upon Conversion/Exercise 

Share Purchase Options exercisable 

for Class A Common Shares at a price 

of $2.15 per share until November 9, 

2016 

150,000 150,000 

Share Purchase Options exercisable 

for Class A Common Shares at a price 

of $2.15 per share until June 4, 2017 

250,000 250,000 

Share Purchase Options exercisable 

for Class A Common Shares at a price 

of $2.15 per share until August 27, 

2017 

333,333 333,333 

Share Purchase Options exercisable 

for Class A Common Shares at a price 

of $2.15 per share until May 31, 2016 

37,500 37,500 

Share Purchase Options exercisable 

for Class A Common Shares at a price 

of $2.15 per share until June 19, 2019 

1,040,000 1,040,000 

Share Purchase Options exercisable 

for Class A Common Shares at a price 

of Cdn$0.30 per share until May 31, 

2016 

50,000 50,000 

Share Purchase Options exercisable 

for Class A Common Shares at a price 

of Cdn$0.30 per share until June 26, 

2016 

56,250 56,250 

Share Purchase Options exercisable 

for Class A Common Shares at a price 

of Cdn$0.30 per share until January 

28, 2020 

2,615,000 2,615,000 

Share Purchase Options exercisable 

for Class A Common Shares at a price 

of Cdn$0.10 per share until November 

19, 2020 

6,725,000 6,725,000 

Share Purchase Options exercisable 

for Class A Common Shares at a price 

of Cdn$0.1125 per share until 

December 31, 2017 

2,800,000 2,800,000 

Share Purchase Warrants exercisable 

for Class A Common Shares at a price 

of Cdn$0.18 per share until September 

28, 2017 

16,228,177 16,228,177 

Share Purchase Warrants exercisable 

for Class A Common Shares at a price 

of Cdn$0.18 per share until November 

3,  2017 

6,026,879 6,026,879 
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There are no listed securities of the Company reserved for issuance other than as disclosed in the  

above table and as related to the proposed Rockgate Acquisition (See “Rockgate Acquisition” 

above for more details). 

 
15. Executive Compensation 

 
Statement of Executive Compensation 

 

In accordance with the requirements of applicable securities legislation in Canada, the following 

executive compensation disclosure is provided in respect of each person who served as the 

Company’s Chief Executive Officer (the “CEO”) or Chief Financial Officer (the “CFO”) during 

the 2015 fiscal year, and each of the three (3) other most highly compensated executive officers 

of the Company and its subsidiaries for the 2015 fiscal year, whose annual aggregate 

compensation exceeded Cdn$150,000 (collectively, the “NEOs”). 

 

Compensation Discussion and Analysis 

 

Objectives of Compensation Program 

 

The objectives of the Company’s compensation program are to provide incentives to attract, 

motivate and retain qualified and experienced executives, to align their interests with the 

interests of the Company’s shareholders, and to provide for transparent and defensible 

compensation. 

 

Overview of the Compensation Philosophy 

 

 The Company’s Human Resources & Compensation Committee (the “Compensation 

Committee”) was established by the Board in 2009. Through the Compensation 

Committee, the Board is committed to the transparent presentation of its compensation 

program. 

 The three principal elements of the compensation program are: (i) base salary; (ii) 

performance bonuses (cash and/or shares); and (iii) long term incentives. 

 Overall incentive compensation is awarded based on individual performance objectives, 

experience levels of the individual, responsibilities relating the individual’s position, 

salaries paid by the Company’s peer compensation group at the time and previous equity 

compensation grants. 

Role of the Compensation Committee 

The duties and responsibilities of the Compensation Committee include the development of a 

compensation philosophy and policy, evaluating the performance of the Company’s senior 

executive officers, reviewing their compensation, monitoring equity incentive arrangements and 

making recommendations about the foregoing to the Board. 
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The role of the Compensation Committee is primarily to review the adequacy and form of 

compensation of executive management and the directors with such compensation realistically 

reflecting the responsibilities and risks of such positions, to administer the Company’s equity 

compensation plan, to determine the recipients of, and the nature and size of share compensation 

awards granted from time to time and to make recommendations to the Board about the 

remuneration of executive management, option grants and any bonuses to be awarded. The 

committee conducts a formal review of the Company’s executive compensation on an annual 

basis and otherwise as required to satisfy itself and the Board that the Company’s compensation 

objectives are being met. 

The majority of the Compensation Committee members are independent directors.  All meetings 

of the Compensation Committee are documented in the form of meeting minutes.  The 

Compensation Committee is made up of the following members, all of whom have experience in 

dealing with compensation matters: 

 

 Mr. Robert Hanson has served as the Chair of the Compensation Committee since July 4, 

2012.  Mr. Hanson currently serves as the Executive Chairman of Hanson Asset 

Management, Chairman of Hanson Capital Investments Ltd., Sinojie Hanson and Hanson 

Family Holdings Ltd. (formerly Hanson Transport Group Limited), and is also Co 

Chairman and Managing Partner of Millennium Hanson Advisors. Mr. Hanson has 

extensive experience in international business, having worked with NM Rothschild & 

Sons in London, Hong Kong, Chile and Spain as well as with his business interests in 

shipping, packaging and fund management. Mr. Hanson has served as a director and 

committee member on other public company boards including Ivanhoe Mines Ltd. (now 

Turquoise Hill Resources Ltd.), Kaizen Discovery Inc. and SouthGobi Resources 

Limited. Mr. Hanson’s other non-executive directorships include Sport & Artist 

Management Ltd. and E-commerce Logistics Ltd. Mr. Hanson has regularly addressed 

matters with respect to executive and director compensation, external compensation 

consultants and human resource professionals. 

 Mr. Govind Friedland has served as a member of the Compensation Committee since 

May 9, 2012. Mr. Friedland, currently the Company’s Executive Chairman of the Board 

of Directors, was primarily responsible for raising approximately $120 million to fund 

acquisitions, finance exploration and pursue other corporate initiatives focused on the 

Company's uranium assets in Niger. Mr. Friedland is also a co-founder of Ivanhoe 

Industries, the parent company of I-Pulse Inc., a hi-tech company providing innovative 

solutions for mining, oil & gas, and advanced manufacturing sectors based in Toulouse 

France.  Mr. Friedland has had direct experience relevant to issues relating to executive 

compensation. 

 Mr. Matthew Lechtzier has served as a member of the Compensation Committee since 

January 16, 2009. Mr. Lechtzier is a qualified lawyer with extensive investment banking 

experience. For over 15 years, Mr. Lechtzier has served as Senior Vice President of 

Ivanhoe Capital Corporation with principal offices in, among other locations, Singapore, 

Vancouver and London where he is based. Mr. Lechtzier’s previous experience is as 

Director of Equity Capital Markets with Jardine Fleming Securities in Hong Kong, a pre-

eminent Asian based investment bank (now part of J.P. Morgan Chase & Co.). Mr. 
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Lechtzier was also a member of Asian Capital Markets Department of J. Henry Schroder 

Wagg & Co./Schroders Securities Limited in London and Taipei and of the Capital 

Markets team of the Chase Investment Bank in London. During Mr. Lechtzier’s career, 

he has had extensive experience with matters pertaining to executive management 

compensation. 

Compensation Philosophy and Goals 

 

The Board has the responsibility of overseeing the Company’s compensation program.  The 

Board has delegated certain oversight responsibilities to the Compensation Committee but 

retains final authority over the compensation program and process, including approval of 

material amendments to or the adoption of new equity-based compensation plans and the review 

and approval of Compensation Committee recommendations. 

 

The Compensation Committee oversees and sets the general guidelines and principles for the 

Company’s executive compensation policies. It assesses the individual performance of the 

Company’s executive officers and makes recommendations relating to compensation to the 

Board.  Based on these recommendations, the Board makes decisions concerning the nature and 

scope of the compensation to be paid to the Company’s executive officers. The Compensation 

Committee bases its recommendations to the Board on its compensation philosophy and the 

Compensation Committee’s assessment of corporate and individual performance, recruiting and 

retention needs. In the normal course, the Company’s total compensation package is comprised 

of three principal elements: salary, bonus, and equity incentives.  

 

The Chairman of the Compensation Committee will meet with the CEO at least annually to 

discuss management’s corporate goals for the forthcoming year, and to complete the annual 

review of the CEO’s performance.  The Compensation Committee works with the CEO to 

evaluate the performance and set the compensation, including proposed salary adjustments and 

awards, for the other NEOs. 

 

NEOs and directors are not permitted to purchase financial instruments, including, for greater 

certainty, prepaid variable forward contracts, equity swaps or collars, or units of exchange funds, 

that are designed to hedge or offset a decrease in market value of equity securities granted as 

compensation or held, directly or indirectly, by the NEO or director in accordance with the 

Company’s Corporate Disclosure, Confidentiality and Securities Trading Policy. 

 

Management of Risk 

 

In designing and implementing the Company’s compensation policy, the Compensation 

Committee and the Board regularly assess the risks associated with the Company’s policies and 

practices.  The Compensation Committee maintains sufficient discretion and flexibility in 

implementing compensation decisions such that unintended consequences in remuneration can 

be minimized, while still allowing the Compensation Committee to be responsive to market 

forces in a competitive environment.  

 

NEOs and directors are not permitted to purchase financial instruments,including, for greater 

certainty, prepaid variable forward contracts, equity swaps, collars, or units of exchange funds, 
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that are designed to hedge or offset a decrease in market value of equity securities granted as 

compensation or held, directly or indirectly, by the NEO or director, by the NEO or director in 

accordance with the Company’s Corporate Disclosure & Confidentiality Policy. 

 

Option Based Rewards 

 

The Company’s Share Purchase Option Plan, as amended and restated, dated March 25, 2014 

(the “Plan”) is administered by the Board with the assistance of the Compensation Committee, 

which makes recommendations to the Board as to the recipients of options and the terms and 

conditions of each grant. As at the date hereof, there is an aggregate 14,057,083 incentive stock 

options granted and outstanding to the Company’s and its affiliates’ officers, directors, 

employees and service providers exercisable to acquire up to 14,057,083  Class A Shares. 

 

Summary of the Share Purchase Option Plan 

 

Purpose 

 

The purpose of the Plan is to secure for the Company and its shareholders the benefits of 

incentive inherent to share ownership by the officers, directors, employees and service providers 

of the Company who, in the judgment of the Board, will be largely responsible for its future 

growth and success (individually, an “Eligible Person”, collectively “Eligible Persons”).  

Equity incentive plans of this nature are not intended to reward or compensate Eligible Persons 

for past contributions to the Company. The objective of the Plan is to aid in retaining and 

encouraging Eligible Persons of exceptional ability by offering to them the opportunity: (i) to 

acquire a proprietary interest by exercising options convertible into Class A Shares (as defined 

herein), and (ii) to benefit from the appreciation in the value of such shares.  

 

Limits of Issuance 

 

The aggregate number of Class A Shares that may be reserved for issuance under the Plan 

(together with any other securities based compensation arrangements of the Company in effect 

from time to time) shall be equal to 10% of total issued and outstanding Class A Shares, at any 

given time. This prescribed maximum may be subsequently increased to any other specified 

amount provided the increase is authorized by a vote of the Shareholders or directors of the 

Company. In addition, the aggregate number of Class A Shares that may be issued to any one 

Insider and his or her Associates under the Plan within any one-year period shall not exceed 5% 

of the Company's total issued and outstanding share capital, at any given time. 

In no event will the number of Class A Shares, at any given time, reserved for issuance to any 

given optionee, exceed 5% of the Company's total issued and outstanding share capital.  

In the above paragraph, the “total issued and outstanding share capital” means, the total number 

of Class A Shares, on a non-diluted basis, that are issued and outstanding as of the date that any 

Class A Shares are issued or reserved for issuance pursuant to an award under the Plan. 
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For greater certainty, as the Plan is a rolling plan, the reloading of options is permitted under the 

Plan and options that are exercised, surrendered, terminated or expire without being exercised no 

longer represent Class A Shares reserved for issuance under the Plan and do not decrease the 

number of Class A Shares issuable under the Plan, as determined at any given time, subject to 

the Plan’s provisions for vesting and lapsed options.  

Options Terms and Exercise Price 

 

The Board may at any time authorize the granting of options to such Eligible Persons as it may 

select, for the number of Class A Shares that it shall designate subject to the provisions of the 

Plan. The term of any options granted shall be five years from the date such option is granted (or 

such greater or lesser duration as the Board, on the recommendation of the committee of the 

Board, may determine at the date of grant), provided that if the expiry date should be determined 

to occur during a “blackout period” or within ten days following the expiry of such a period, the 

expiry date of any vested option shall be deemed to be the tenth business day following expiry of 

such blackout period. The exercise price per Class A Share of any Option shall be not less than 

100% of the fair market value on the date of grant. 

Option Vesting 

 

Unless otherwise determined by the Board, options shall vest (in each case to the nearest full 

Class A Share) in four equal parts, representing 25% of the options, commencing on the date of 

grant and on each of the three anniversaries of the date of grant thereafter. 

Effect of Termination of Employment or Death 

Unless otherwise determined by the Board, if an Eligible Person ceases to be employed by, or act 

as, a director of the Company or its affiliate: (i) as a result of death, any vested option held by 

such Eligible Person at the date of death shall be exercisable only for 12 months after such date 

or the expiration of the option, whichever is sooner; (ii) for any reason other than death or cause, 

any vested option held by such Eligible Person at the effective date thereof shall become 

exercisable for a period of up to 30 days thereafter or the expiration of the option, whichever is 

sooner; or (iii) for cause, no option held by such Eligible Person will be exercisable following 

the date on which such Eligible Person ceased to be employed or to be a director, as the case may 

be. 

Amendments 

The Board may amend the terms of the Plan at any given time either prospectively or 

retrospectively, amend, suspend or terminate the Plan or any option, vested option or other award 

granted under the Plan without shareholder approval, including, without limiting the generality 

of the foregoing: changes of a clerical or grammatical nature, changes regarding the persons 

eligible to participate in this Plan, changes to the option exercise price, vesting, term and 

termination provisions of options, changes to the authority and role of the Committee under the 

Plan, changes to the acceleration and vesting of options in the event of a takeover bid, and any 

other matter relating to the Plan and the options and awards granted thereunder, provided 

however that: (a) such amendment, suspension or termination is in accordance with applicable 
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laws and the rules of the applicable stock exchange; (b) no amendment to the Plan or to an option 

granted hereunder will have the effect of impairing, derogating from or otherwise adversely 

affecting the terms of a vested option at the time of such amendment without the written consent 

of the holder of such vested option; and (c) the expiry date of an option period in respect of an 

option shall not be more than 10 years from the date of grant of an option. 

Stock Options  

The Company re-priced options outstanding as at December 31, 2013, in connection with the 

closing of the Company’s initial public offering on June 19, 2014, and the listing of the 

Company’s Class A shares on the CSE on June 20, 2014 (the “Re-Priced Options”).  The Re-

Priced Options were reduced from an exercise price between $2.25 and $3.00 to $2.15 being the 

offering price of the Company’s initial public offering.  
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Summary Compensation Table  

 

The following table sets forth the total compensation paid to, or earned by, the NEOs for the 

Company’s most recently completed three financial years.  

Name and 

Principal 

Position 

Year 

Ended 

Dec. 

31 

Salary 

($) 

Share -

Based 

Awards(2) 

Option -Based 

Awards(3) 

($) 

Non-Equity Incentive Plan 

Compensation 
All Other 

Compensation(123

) 

($) 

Total 

Compensation 

($) 

Annual Incentive 

Plans 

($) 

Long-term 

Incentive 

Plans 

Govind 

Friedland 

Executive 

Chairman and 

Director 

2015 250,000 N/A 66,000(12) N/A N/A 2,897 318,897 

2014 250,000 N/A 135,000(4) N/A N/A 2,897 387,897 

2013 250,000 N/A  Nil N/A N/A 
2,028 252,028 

Daniel Major 

Chief 

Executive 

Officer and 

Director 

2015 343,845(1) N/A 124,000(12) 30,000(5) N/A 1,488(8) 499,333 

2014 375,252(1) N/A 
585,000(12) 50,073(6) N/A 

1,295(8) 1,011,620 

2013 356,130(1) N/A Nil 75,295(7) N/A 1,295(8) 432,720 

Pierre Massé 

Former Chief 

Financial 

Officer 

2015 60,756(9) N/A 6,000(10)(12) N/A N/A Nil 66,756(11) 

2014 90,794(9) N/A 146,250(12) N/A N/A Nil 237,044(11) 

2013 188,281(9) N/A Nil N/A N/A Nil 188,281(11) 

Lei Wang 

Chief 

Financial 

Officer 

2015 54,831(9) N/A 4,000(11) N/A N/A Nil 58,831(11) 

Notes: 
(1) Represents annual salary of £225,000 (based on an exchange rate of £1:$1.582 for 2015, £1:$1.6677 for 2014 

and £1:$1.5828 for 2013).  . 
(2) The value attributed to share based awards was determined with reference to the fair market value at the date of 

grant.  
(3) The value attributed to option grants was determined using the Black Scholes Pricing Model in according with 

IFRS with key assumptions: annualized volatility 75% (2014 - 70%); expected life 5 years for both 2015 & 

2014; estimated forfeiture rates 0%$ for both 2015 & 2014; risk free interest rate 0.69% (2014 – 1.54%). The 

Company did not grant any stock options in 2013 
(4) Represents the incremental fair value of the repricing of 750,000 options on June 19, 2014, from an exercise 

price of $2.75 to $2.15. 
(5) Represents a cash bonus of £20,000 (based on £1:$1.5000 exchange rate) paid to the NEO in 2015 pursuant to 

the terms of his employment agreement.  See “Termination and Change of Control Benefits” section below 
(6) Represents a cash bonus of £30,000 (based on £1:$1.6691 exchange rate) paid to the NEO in 2014 pursuant to 

the terms of his employment agreement.  See “Termination and Change of Control Benefits” section below 
(7) Represents a cash bonus of £50,000 (based on £1:$1.5059 exchange rate) paid to the NEO in 2013 pursuant to 

the terms of his employment agreement.  See “Termination and Change of Control Benefits” section below. 
(8) Represents insurance premiums of £975 (based on an exchange rate of £1:$1.5261 for 2015, £1:$1.3283 for 

2014 and £1:$1.3284 for 2013) paid by, or on behalf of, the Company during the covered year for personal 

insurance for the NEO, where the estate of the NEO is the beneficiary 
(9) All cash compensation with respect to Mr. Massé’s and Ms. Wang’s services is paid in Cdn$ (based on an 

exchange rate of Cdn$1:$1.2767 for 2015, Cnd$1:$1.1.0964 for 2014, Cdn$1:$1.0.9710 for 2013).  
(10) Was granted 200,000 options exercisable at Cdn$0.30 each on January 28, 2015.  Resigned as CFO effective 

May 31, 2015, at which time 150,000 unvested options expired automatically pursuant to the Plan leaving a 

balance of 50,000 options that will expire May 31, 2016. The amount here represents the value of the 50,000 

options that remained exercisable as at December 31, 2015. 
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(11) Paid through to Global Mining Management Corp.  See “Transactions with Related Parties” section in the 

MD&A.  Mr. Massé retired as Company’s CFO effective May 31, 2015.  Ms. Wang was appointed as the 

Company’s Interim CFO on May 31, 2015, and currently serves as the Company’s full-time CFO. Prior to her 

appointment, Ms. Wang provided the services as corporate controller to the Company thought Global Mining 

Management Corp. and was paid the sum of $21,293 for such services in 2015. 
(12) The options were granted in accordance with the Plan and shall vest in four equal parts, each representing 25% 

of the options, commencing on the date of grant and on each of the three anniversaries thereafter. 
(13) Perquisites have not been included as they do not reach the prescribed value thresholds of $50,000 or more, or 

10% or more of total salary of the NEOs for the financial year. 

 

Incentive Plan Awards  

Outstanding Share-Based and Option-Based Awards  

The following table sets forth share-based and option-based awards made to each of the NEOs 

and outstanding at the end of the most recently completed financial year, including awards 

granted before the most recently completed financial year.    

  Option-Based Awards Share-Based Awards 

Name 

Number of 

Class A Shares 

underlying 

unexercised 

options 

Option 

exercise 

price 

($) 

Option 

expiration date 

Value of  

unexercised 

in-the-

money 

options(1) 

Number of 

shares or 

units of 

shares 

that have 

not vested 

(#) 

Market or 

payout 

value of 

share-

based 

awards 

that have 

not vested 

Market or 

payout 

value of 

vested 

share-

based 

awards 

not paid 

out or 

distributed 

Govind 

Friedland 

Executive 

Chairman and 

Director 

300,000 

1,000,000 

1,000,000 

Cdn$0.30 

Cdn$0.10 

Cdn$0.1125 

Jan 28, 2020 

Nov 19, 2020 

Dec 31, 2017 

Nil N/A N/A N/A 

Daniel Major 

Chief Executive 

Officer and 

Director 

750,000 

800,000 

1,800,000 

Cdn$0.30 

Cdn$0.10 

Cdn$0.1125 

Jan 28, 2020 

Nov 19, 2020 

Dec 31, 2017 

Nil N/A N/A N/A 

Pierre Massé 

Former Chief 

Financial 

Officer 

37,5002) 

50,000(3) 

 

$2.15 

Cdn$0.30 

May 31, 2016 

May 31, 2016 

Nil N/A N/A N/A 

Lie Wang 

Chief Financial 

Officer 

200,000 Cdn$0.10 Nov 19, 2020 Nil N/A N/A N/A 

Notes:  
(1)

 The value of unexercised in-the-money options is calculated based on the difference between the market 

value of the underlying Class A Shares as of December 31, 2015, which was Cdn$0.045, and the exercise price of 

the options. 
(2)

 Was granted 150,000 options exercisable at $2.15 per share on June 19, 2014.  Resigned as CFO effective 

May 31, 2015, at which time 112,500 unvested options expired automatically pursuant to the Plan leaving a balance 

of 37,500 options that remain exercisable until May 31, 2016. 
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(3)
 Was granted 200,000 options exercisable at Cdn$0.30 per share on January 28, 2015.  Resigned as CFO 

effective May 31, 2015, at which time 150,000 unvested options expired automatically pursuant to the Plan leaving 

a balance of 50,000 options that remain exercisable until May 31, 2016. 

Incentive Plan Awards – Value Vested or Earned during the Year  

The value vested or earned during the most recently completed financial year of incentive plan 

awards granted to Named Executive Officers are as follows 

Name 

Option-based 

awards  –  Value 

vested during the 

year
(1) 

($) 

Share-based awards 

– Value earned 

during the year 

Non-equity incentive 

plan compensation   

–  Value earned 

during the year 

Govind Friedland Nil N/A Nil 

Daniel Major Nil N/A Nil 

Pierre Massé Nil N/A Nil 

Lei Wang Nil N/A Nil 

Notes:  
(1)

 This amount is the dollar value that would have been realized computed by obtaining the difference 

between the market price of the underlying securities at exercise and the exercise or base price of the options under 

the option-based award on the vesting date. 

Termination and Change of Control Benefits  

The Company has entered into employment agreements with each of Mr. Friedland and Mr. 

Major which are summarized below. 

Govind Friedland 

Until the end of fiscal 2015, Mr. Friedland’s employment agreement provided for a base salary 

of $250,000 per year (effective January 1, 2016, Mr. Friedlan’s employment contract was 

amended to reflect a reduction in his base salary to $200,000) and the reimbursement for all 

reasonable expenses incurred in the course of performing his duties as Executive Chairman. 

GoviEx may terminate Mr. Friedland’s employment agreement with three months notice in 

writing, or provide payment in lieu of notice of a lump sum amount equal to three months salary 

plus any amount required to reimburse Mr. Friedland for expenses incurred to the date he ceases 

to be employed by the Company. Likewise, Mr. Friedland may terminate his employment on 

three months notice in writing.  

 

Daniel Major 

Until the end of fiscal 2015, Mr. Major’s employment agreement provided for a base salary of 

£225,000 per year (effective January 1, 2016, Mr. Major’s employment contract was amended to 

reflect a reduction in his base salary to £188,963) and the reimbursement for all reasonable 

expenses incurred in the course of performing his duties as Chief Executive Officer. GoviEx may 
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terminate Mr. Major’s employment agreement with three months notice in writing, or provide 

payment in lieu of notice of a lump sum amount equal to three months salary plus any amount 

required to reimburse Mr. Major for expenses incurred to the date he ceases to be employed by 

the Company. Likewise, Mr. Major may terminate his employment on two months notice in 

writing. 

Under Mr. Major’s employment agreement, upon a change of control, Mr. Major would be 

eligible to receive a one-time bonus (payable in cash or shares depending on the consideration 

paid to the Company in the transaction) equal to 0.5% of the net proceeds received by the 

Company at the closing of the transaction. 

Pursuant to his employment agreement, a milestone bonus of £100,000 was payable to Mr. 

Major, subject to Board  approval, in relation to the successful completion of a pre-feasibility 

study in respect to the Company’s Madaouela Project in Niger.  Mr. Major and the Company 

agreed to have this bonus paid to Mr. Major in instalments over time.  The final installment was 

completed in January 2015. See NEO “Summary Compensation Table” and notes thereto above. 

Compensation of Directors 

The following table sets forth the standard compensation arrangements for non-executive 

directors of the Company.  The Board determined to suspend these compensation arrangements 

until the Company’s financial circumstances improve.  

 

Retainers and Fees   Amount 

Basic Annual Retainer for Non-Executive Directors   $30,000 

Lead Director Annual Retainer   $15,000 

Audit Committee Chair Annual Retainer   $12,000 

Human Resources and Compensation Committee Chair Annual Retainer   $5,000 

Technical Committee Chair Annual Retainer   $5,000 

Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee Chair Annual Retainer   $5,000 

Meeting Fees (per Board and Committee meeting)   $1,000 
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Director Compensation Table  

The following table sets forth all amounts of compensation provided to the directors, who are not 

also NEOs, for the Company's most recently completed financial year.  

Name and 

Principal 

Position 

Fees 

Earned 

Share-

based 

awards
(1)

 

Option-Based 

Awards
(2) 

($) 

Non-equity 

Incentive Plan 

Compensation 
All Other 

Compensation 

Total 

Compensation 

($) 

Matthew 

Lechtzier 

Nil Nil 38,000
 

N/A Nil 38,000 

Robert 

Hanson 

Nil Nil 38,000
 

N/A Nil 38,000 

William 

Assini
(3) 

Nil Nil 6,750 
 

N/A Nil 6,750 

Benoit La 

Salle 

Nil Nil 38,000 N/A Nil 38,000 

Rachid 

Benyakhlef
(4) 

Nil Nil 38,000
 

N/A Nil 38,000 

David 

Marsh
(4) 

Nil Nil 33,000 
 

N/A Nil 33,000 

Christopher 

Wallace
(5) 

Nil Nil 11,000 N/A Nil 11,000 

Anthony 

Abbenante
(6) 

Nil Nil 6,000 N/A Nil 6,000 

Notes:  
(1) The value attributed to share based awards was determined with reference to the fair market value at the date of 

grant. 
(2) The value attributed to option grants was determined using the Black Scholes Model in accordance with IFRS. 
(3) Ceased as a director effective June 26, 2015. 
(4) Resigned as a director effective November 18, 2015. 
(5) Elected as a director effective June 26, 2015. 
(6) Appointed as a director effective November 18, 2015. 
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Outstanding Share-Based Awards and Option-Based Awards  

The following table sets out all share-based awards and option-based awards outstanding to 

directors who are not also NEOs as at the end of the last financial year, including awards granted 

before the most recently completed financial year.  

Option-Based Awards Share-Based Awards 

Name 

Number of 

securities 

underlying 

unexercised 

options 

Option 

exercise 

price 

Option 

expiration 

date 

Value of 

unexercised 

in-the-

money 

options(1) 

Number of 

shares or 

units of 

shares that 

have not 

vested (#) 

Market or 

payout 

value of 

share-

based 

awards 

that have 

not vested 

Market or 

payout 

value of 

vested 

share-

based 

awards not 

paid out or 

distributed 

Matthew Lechtzier 225,000 

550,000 

Cdn$0.30 

Cdn$0.10 

Jan 28, 2020 

Nov 19, 2020 

Nil N/A N/A N/A 

Robert Hanson 250,000 

225,000 

550,000 

$2.15(3) 

Cdn$0.30 

Cdn$0.10 

Jun 4, 2017 

Jan 28, 2020 

Nov 19, 2020 

Nil N/A N/A N/A 

William Assini 400,000 

56,250 

$2.15(3) 

Cdn$0.30 

Mar 17, 2016 

Jun 26, 2016 

Nil N/A N/A N/A 

Benoit La Salle 250,000 

225,000 

550,000 

$2.15 

Cdn$0.30 

Cdn$0.10 

Jun 19, 2019 

Jan 28, 2020 

Nov 19, 2020 

Nil N/A N/A N/A 

Rachid Benyakhlef Nil N/A N/A Nil N/A N/A N/A 

David Marsh 250,000 

225,000 

300,000 

$2.15(3) 

Cdn$0.30 

Cdn$0.10 

Aug 27, 2017 

Jan 28, 2020 

Nov 19, 2020 

Nil N/A N/A N/A 

Christopher Wallace 550,000 Cdn$0.10 Nov 19, 2020 Nil N/A N/A N/A 

Anthony Abbenante 250,000 

300,000 

$2.15(3) 

Cdn$0.10 

Nov 9, 2016 

Nov 19, 2020 

Nil N/A N/A N/A 

Notes:  

(1)
 The value of unexercised in-the-money options is calculated based on the difference between the market 

value of the underlying Class A Shares as of December 31, 2015, which was Cdn$0.045, and the exercise price of 

the options 

(2)
 On June 19, 2014, following completion of the Company’s initial public offering, these options were re-

priced from $2.75 to $2.15.  See “Option Based Rewards – Stock Options”. 

(3)
 On June 19, 2014, following completion of the Company’s initial public offering, these options were re-

priced from $3.00 to $2.15.  See “Option Based Rewards – Stock Options”. 
 

Other than as disclosed herein, and including the notes to the table above, the Company has no 

arrangements, standard or otherwise, pursuant to which directors are compensated by the 

Company or its subsidiaries for their services in their capacity as directors, or for committee 

participation, involvement in special assignments or for services as consultant or expert during 
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the most recently completed financial year or subsequently, up to and including the date of this 

Information Circular other than the Company's stock option plan. 

 

Incentive Plan Awards – Value Vested or Earned during the Year  

 

The following table sets forth the value vested or earned during the year of share-based awards 

and option-based awards granted and non-equity incentive plan compensation paid to directors, 

not including those directors who are also NEOs, during the most recently completed financial 

year.  
 

Name 

Option-based awards – 

Value vested during the 

year
(1)

 

Share-based 

awards – Value 

vested during the 

year 

Non-equity incentive 

plan compensation – 

Value earned during 

the year 

Matthew Lechtzier Nil N/A Nil 

Robert Hanson Nil N/A Nil 

William Assini Nil N/A Nil 

Benoit La Salle Nil
 

N/A Nil 

Rachid Benyakhlef Nil N/A Nil 

David Marsh Nil N/A Nil 

Christopher Wallace Nil N/A Nil 

Anthony Abbenante Nil N/A Nil 

Notes:  
 (1)

 This amount is the dollar value that would have been realized computed by obtaining the difference between the 

market price of the underlying securities at exercise and the exercise or base price of the options under the 

option-based award on the vesting date. 

 
16. Indebtedness of Directors and Executive Officers 

None of the directors or executive officers of the Company, or associates or affiliates of the 

foregoing persons is indebted to us or has been the subject of a guarantee, support agreement, 

letter of credit or other similar arrangement or understanding provided by us. 

 

17.  Risk Factors 

Please refer to the “Financial Risks and Management Objectives” section of the MD&A. 
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18. Promoters  

Govind Friedland, the Company’s Executive Chairman, may be considered to be a promoter of 

the Company within the meaning of relevant Canadian securities legislation by reason of his 

initiative and involvement in the formation and establishment of the Company.  

As of the date of this Form 2A, Mr. Friedland owns 31,265,556 Class A Common Shares, 

representing 18.59% of the currently-outstanding total.  

Other than compensation received by Mr. Friedland in his personal capacity as director, officer 

or employee of the Company, and the grant of incentive stock options in the ordinary course as 

disclosed elsewhere in this Form 2A, nothing of value, including money, property, contracts, 

options or rights of any kind will be received by the promoter directly or indirectly from the 

Company. See “Options to Purchase Securities”, “Executive Compensation” and “Interest of 

Management and Others in Material Transactions”. 

 
19. Legal Proceedings 

Other than as described in Note 17 (“Commitments and Contingencies) of the Financial 

Statements. to the Company’s knowledge, there are no legal proceedings or regulatory actions 

material to the Company to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries is a party, or of which 

any of their respective property is the subject matter, and no such proceedings are known by us 

to be contemplated. 

There have been no penalties or sanctions imposed against the Company by a court relating to 

provincial or territorial securities legislation or by any securities regulatory authority, there have 

been no penalties or sanctions imposed by a court or regulatory body against the Company and 

the Company has not entered into any settlement agreements before a court relating to provincial 

or territorial securities legislation or with any securities regulatory authority since the Company’s 

incorporation. 

 
20. Interest of Management and Others in Material Transactions 

Other than disclosed elsewhere in this Form 2A, no director, executive officer or shareholder that 

beneficially owns, or controls or directs, directly or indirectly, more than 10% of the outstanding 

Common Shares, or any of their respective associates or affiliates, has any material interest, 

direct or indirect, in any transaction within the three most recently completed financial years or 

during the current financial year that has materially affected or is reasonably expected to 

materially affect the Company. See “Management’s Discussion & Analysis”. 

 
21. Auditors, Transfer Agents and Registrars 

The auditors of the Company are Deloitte LLP, Chartered Professional Accountants, having an 

address at Suite 2800, 1055 Dunsmuir Street, Vancouver, British Columbia, Canada, V7X 1P4. 

The Company has appointed, as transfer agent and registrar for the Class A Common Shares, 

Computershare Trust Company of Canada at its principal offices in Vancouver, British Columbia 

and Toronto, Ontario. 
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22. Material Contracts 

The only material contracts of the Company that were entered into, other than in the ordinary 

course of business, either (a) in the last two years or (b) at any time since the date of 

incorporation and are still in effect are as follows: 

1. Convention Minière dated May 26, 2007 between GoviEx Niger Holdings Limited 

Madaouela and the Republic of Niger; 

2. The Purchase Agreement; and 

3. The Tranche B Bond; and 

4. The Off-take Agreement. 

Copies of the foregoing documents are available on SEDAR at www.sedar.com. 

 
23 Interest of Experts 

GoviEx’s auditors, Deloitte LLP, are independent of the Company in accordance with the rules 

of professional conduct of the Institute of Chartered Professional Accountants of British 

Columbia as at the date of their audit report. 

None of the following companies, partnerships or persons received or has received a direct or 

indirect interest in the property of the Company or of any of its associates or affiliates. As at the 

date hereof, such persons, and the directors, officers, partners and employees, as applicable, of 

each of the following companies and partnerships do not beneficially own, whether directly or 

indirectly, any of the securities of the Company: 

1. Deloitte LLP (the Company’s auditors); 

2. Robert Bowell PhD C.Chem, C. Geol FGS, E.Geol, FIMM (the Qualified Person who has 

reviewed all scientific and technical information in this Form 2A); or 

3. SRK Consulting (UK) Ltd. or Robert Bowell PhD C.Chem, C. Geol FGS, E.Geol, 

FIMM, Daniel Guibal, Tim McGurk C.Eng MIMM,  Neal Rigby, C. Eng., MIMMM, 

PhD, Richard Ingram Skelton MSc, BSc (Hons). C.Eng, MIMMM, MSAIMM, ARSM, 

John Arthur PhD, MSc, BSc, MIMMM of SRK (authors of the Technical Report). 

None of such persons, or any director, officer or employee, as applicable, of any such companies 

or partnerships, is currently expected to be elected, appointed or employed as a director, officer 

or employee of the Company or of any associate or affiliate of the Company. 

  

http://www.sedar.com/
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24. Other Material Facts 

Other than as set forth herein, there are no material facts about the Company’s securities that are 

necessary to be disclosed in order for this Form 2A to contain full, true and plain disclosure of all 

material facts relating to the Company and its securities. 

 
25. Financial Statements  

A copy of the Company’s audited consolidated financial statements for the years ended 

December 31, 2015 and 2014 are attached as Appendix “A” hereto and form part of this Form 

2A. 

A copy of the Company’s Management’s Discussion & Analysis for the years ended December 

31, 2015 and 2014 are attached as Appendix “B” hereto and form part of this Form 2A. 
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CERTIFICATE OF THE ISSUER 

The foregoing contains full, true and plain disclosure of all material information relating to 
GoviEx Uranium Inc. It contains no untrue statement of a material fact and does not omit to state 
a material fact that is required to be stated or that is necessary to prevent a statement that is made 
from being false or misleading in light of the circumstances in which it was made. 

Dated at Vancouver, British Columbia 

this 22nd day of April, 2016. 

 

“(s)Daniel Major”  “(s)Lei Wang” 

Chief Executive Officer  Chief Financial Officer 

Daniel Major  Lei Wang 

 

“(s)Govind Friedland” 

  
 
“(s)Robert Hanson” 

Executive Chairman & Promoter  Director 

Govind Friedland  Robert Hanson 

 

“(s)Matthew Lechtzier” 

  
 
“(s)Christopher Wallace” 

Director  Director 

Matthew Lechtzier  Christopher Wallace 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
 
To the Shareholders of  
GoviEx Uranium Inc.  
 
 
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of GoviEx Uranium Inc., which 
comprise the consolidated statements of financial position as at December 31, 2015 and December 31, 
2014, and the consolidated statements of loss and comprehensive loss, consolidated statements of changes 
in equity and consolidated statements of cash flows for the years then ended, and a summary of 
significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.  
 
Management's Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements 
 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial 
statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control 
as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
Auditor's Responsibility 
 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. 
We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards.  Those 
standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain 
reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material 
misstatement. 
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in 
the consolidated financial statements.  The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, 
including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control 
relevant to the entity's preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order 
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing 
an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the 
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by 
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. 
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and appropriate to provide 
a basis for our audit opinion.  
 
  



 
 
Opinion 
 
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of GoviEx Uranium Inc. as at December 31, 2015 and December 31, 2014, and its financial 
performance and its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards.  
 
Emphasis of Matter 
 
Without qualifying our opinion, we draw attention to Note 1 in the consolidated financial statements 
which indicates that the Company incurred a net loss of $5.3 million during the year ended December 31, 
2015 and as at December 31, 2015 has working capital of $0.9 million. This condition, along with other 
matters as set forth in Note 1, indicate the existence of a material uncertainty that may cast significant 
doubt about the Company's ability to continue as a going concern. 
 
 

 
 
Chartered Professional Accountants 
April 21, 2016 
Vancouver, British Columbia  
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GoviEx Uranium Inc. 

(Stated in thousands of U.S. dollars) 

December 31, December 31,

Notes 2015                     2014                     

$ $

Assets

Current assets

Cash 1,039                    3,653                    

Amounts receivable 93                          48                          

Prepaid and deposit 90                          188                        

1,222                    3,889                    

Non-current assets

Long-term deposits 300                        327                        

Plant and equipment 4          71                          342                        

Mineral exploration rights 5          57,147                  57,147                  

57,518                  57,816                  

Total assets 58,740                  61,705                  

Liabilities and equity

Current liabilities

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 324                        803                        

Uranium loan 6          -                         9,657                    

324                        10,460                  

Uranium loan 6          10,511                  -                         

Share purchase warrants liability 7          55                          -                         

Total Liabilities 10,890                  10,460                  

Equity  

Share capital 7,8 218,743                217,625                

Capital contribution 1,775                    1,775                    

Share-based payment reserve 14,761                  14,020                  

Accumulated deficit (187,429)              (182,175)              

47,850                  51,245                  

Total equity and liabilities 58,740                  61,705                  

Consolidated statements of financial position

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 

 
Going concern (Note 1) 
Commitments and contingencies (Note 17) 
Subsequent events (Note 18) 
 
Approved and authorized for issue on behalf of the Board of Directors on April 21, 2016 
 
/s/ “Daniel Major”  /s/ “Christopher Wallace” 
    
Director Director 
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The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 

 
 
  
 

GoviEx Uranium Inc. 

(Stated in thousands of U.S. dollars, except for shares and per share amounts)

Notes 2015                     2014                     

$ $

Expenses 

Exploration and evaluation 10        (3,127)                   (4,018)                   

General and administrative 11        (884)                      (1,160)                   

(4,011)                   (5,178)                   

Other income and (expenses) 

Depreciation (222)                      (262)                      

Gain on derivative liability  7          640                        -                             

Foreign exchange loss (93)                         (42)                         

Gain (loss) on uranium loan 6          332                        (242)                      

Loss on inventory of uranium concentrate -                             (100)                      

Gain on disposal of plant and equipment 21                          -                             

Interest income 6                            9                            

Interest on convertible debenture 6          -                             (23,107)                 

Interest on uranium loan 6          (1,186)                   (1,035)                   

Share-based payment 9          (741)                      (1,484)                   

(1,243)                   (26,263)                 

Loss and comprehensive loss for the year (5,254)                   (31,441)                 

Loss per share (basic and diluted) (0.03)$                   (0.24)$                   

151,302,249        132,646,180        Weighted average number of common shares outstanding

For the year ended December 31,

Consolidated statements of loss and comprehensive loss
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GoviEx Uranium Inc. 
Consolidated statements of changes in equity
(Stated in thousands of U.S. dollars, except for shares) 

Note

 Number of 

Shares  Share capital 

 Capital 

contribution 

 Share-based 

payment reserve 

 Accumulated 

deficit  Total 

$ $ $ $ $

Balance, December 31, 2013 117,080,738        156,039                1,775                    12,536                  (150,734)              19,616                  

Issuance of common shares 6 & 8 29,135,315          61,586                  -                         -                         -                         61,586                  

Share-based payments -                         -                         -                         1,484                    -                         1,484                    

Loss and comprehensive loss for the year -                         -                         -                         -                         (31,441)                 (31,441)                 

Balance, December 31, 2014 146,216,053        217,625                1,775                    14,020                  (182,175)              51,245                  

Issuance of common shares 7 & 8 21,935,296          1,118                    -                         -                         -                         1,118                    

Share-based payments -                         -                         -                         741                        -                         741                        

Loss and comprehensive loss for the year -                         -                         -                         -                         (5,254)                   (5,254)                   

Balance, December 31, 2015 168,151,349        218,743                1,775                    14,761                  (187,429)              47,850                  

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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GoviEx Uranium Inc. 

Consolidated statements of cash flows
(Stated in thousands of U.S. dollars)

2015                     2014                     

$ $

Operating activities 

Loss for the year (5,254)                   (31,441)                 

Adjustments for non-cash items 

Depreciation 222                        262                        

Gain on derivative liability (640)                      -                             

Interest expense 1,186                    24,142                  

Loss on inventory of uranium concentrate -                             100                        

Share-based payment 741                        1,484                    

Unrealized (gain) loss on uranium loan (332)                      242                        

Unrealized foreign exchange loss 223                        12                          

Changes in non-cash operating working capital items

Amounts receivable (38)                         31                          

Prepaid expenses and deposit 115                        112                        

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (460)                      176                        

Cash used in operating activities (4,237)                   (4,880)                   

Investing activities 

Net proceeds from sale of uranium concentrate -                             3,350                    

Proceeds from disposal of plant and equipment 57                          -                             

Cash provided by investing activities 57                          3,350                    

Financing activities 

Net proceeds from share issuance 1,118                    1,245                    

Proceeds from derivative liability - warrants 698                        -                             

Cash provided by financing activities 1,816                    1,245                    

Effect of foreign exchange on cash (250)                      (14)                         

Decrease in cash (2,614)                   (299)                      

Cash, beginning of year 3,653                    3,952                    

Cash, end of year 1,039                    3,653                    

Non-cash transactions

Redemption of convertible debenture -                      (60,341)                 

Shares issued to redeem convertible debenture -                      60,341             

For the years ended December 31,

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements 
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1. NATURE OF OPERATIONS AND GOING CONCERN 
 
GoviEx Uranium Inc. (“GoviEx” or the “Company”) is a Canadian mineral resources company focused 
on the exploration and development of uranium properties located in Republic of Niger (“Niger”). The 
Company was originally incorporated in British Virgin Islands as a private investment company and 
continued under the Business Corporation Act (British Columbia) in Canada on March 1, 2011. The head 
office, principal address, registered and records office of the Company is located at 999 Canada Place, 
Suite 654, Vancouver, British Columbia, Canada, V6C 3E1. 
 
On June 19, 2014, the Company completed an initial public offering (“IPO”) and its Class A common 
shares commenced trading on the Canadian Securities Exchange (“CSE”) under the symbol “GXU” on 
June 20, 2014. 
 
The Company is an advanced exploration company conducting work on its uranium properties located in 
West Africa. The Company capitalizes acquisition costs and expenses all other exploration and 
development costs related to the projects on which it is conducting exploration. The underlying value and 
the recoverability of the amounts recorded as mineral exploration rights is dependent upon the Company’s 
ability to demonstrate the existence of economically recoverable mineral reserves, obtain the mining 
permit and necessary finance to complete the development of the uranium asset. As a result the carrying 
value of the mineral rights may not reflect current or future values.  
 
On November 3, 2015, the Company closed a non-brokered private placement for gross proceeds of $1.8 
million (Canadian dollars $2.5 million) by issuing 21.9 million units (Note 8).   
 
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in on a going concern basis which assumes 
that the Company will realize its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business. 
During the year ended December 31, 2015, the Company recorded a loss of $5.3 million (2014 - $31.4 
million) and since inception to December 31, 2015, the Company has incurred cumulative losses of 
$187.4 million (2014 - $182.2 million). At December 31, 2015, the Company has working capital of $0.9 
million. As described in Note 18, Subsequent Events, the Company is also required to pay Euro 7 million 
($8 million) in connection with the receipt in January 2016 of a mining permit relating to its Madaouela I 
Project. Continuation of the Company as a going concern is dependent upon the confirmation of 
economically recoverable reserves, negotiation of the timing and terms of the Euro 7 million payments, 
and the ability of the Company to obtain further financing to develop its mineral properties. Management is 
planning to raise funds through either equity/debt financing and/or joint venture arrangements, which are 
further described in Note 18 Subsequent Events. The lack of sufficient committed funding for the next 12 
months cast a significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. Although the 
Company has been successful in raising funds in the past, there can be no assurance that it will be able to 
do so in the future. The Company has no source of revenue, and significant cash requirements to 
maintain its mineral interests, meet its administrative overhead, and pay its liabilities.  
 
Should the Company be unable to continue as a going concern, the net realizable value of its assets may 
be materially less than the amounts on the statements of financial position. These financial statements do 
not reflect adjustments to the carrying value and classification of asset and liability that might be 
necessary in the event of going concern and such adjustments could be material.  
 

 
2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 

Statement of compliance 
 

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (“IFRS”), as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) 
effective as of December 31, 2015. The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these 
consolidated financial statements are set out below which have been applied to all the years presented, 
unless otherwise stated.  
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements 
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Basis of measurement and consolidation 
 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, except for financial 
instruments, that are measured at fair value. 

 
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of GoviEx and its controlled subsidiaries 
Control is achieved where the Company has the power to govern the financial and operating policies of an 
entity.   

 
Details of the Company’s subsidiaries are as follows: 
 

 
 
All intercompany transactions, balances, income and expenses are eliminated on consolidation. 

 
 
Significant accounting estimates and judgments 
 
In order to provide timely financial information to users, the Company makes estimates and uses 
judgment when determining the assets, liabilities and expenses reported in these consolidated financial 
statements. These estimates and judgments are based on historical experience, current economic 
conditions, and include expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the 
circumstances. Actual outcomes could differ from these estimates. 
 
Critical accounting estimates 
 
a) Impairment of mineral rights and mineral reserves 

 
Mineral exploration rights are carried at cost. At each reporting date, management determines 
whether any impairment indicators exist such as a significant decline in uranium price, changes in 
status of exploration licenses or plans for the mineral projects and/or negative results from exploration 
and evaluation to date. Based on the above indicators and a preliminary financial analysis of the 
mineral resources contained within the exploration rights owned by the Company, management 
determined that there were no impairment indicators as at December 31, 2015. 
 
Probable mineral reserves are the economically minable parts of the Company’s measured and 
indicated mineral resources demonstrated by at least a preliminary feasibility study. The Company 
estimates its mineral resources and reserves based on information compiled by appropriately 
qualified persons. The information relating to the geological data on the size, depth and nature of the 
ore body requires complex geological judgments to interpret the data. 
 

b) Share-based payments and fair value of warrants classified as derivative liabilities 
 
The Company follows accounting guidelines in determining the fair value of share-based payments, 
warrants and the fair value gain or loss on the revaluation of the derivative liability. The computed 
amount is not based on historical costs, but is derived based on subjective assumptions input into a 
pricing model. Certain inputs to the model are estimates that involve considerable judgment and are 
or could be affected by significant factors that are out of the Company’s control.  

  

2015 2014

GoviEx Niger Holdings  Ltd. Bri ti sh Virgin Is lands  Holding company 100% 100%

GoviEx Niger S.A. Niger Mineral  exploration 100% 100%

GoviEx (Barbados) Inc. Barbados  Holding company 100% 100%

GoviEx Agadez Niger S.A. Niger Mineral  exploration 100% 100%

Effective ownership 

Place of incorporation Principal activity Name of subsidiary 
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c) Rehabilitation provision 
 
A provision for environmental rehabilitation was not recognized as at December 31, 2015, since site 
disturbances have not been significant to date and land rehabilitation has been an ongoing process 
during the exploration phase.  
 

 Critical accounting judgments 
 

The critical judgments that the Company’s management has made in the process of applying the 
Company’s accounting policies, apart from those involving estimations, that have the most significant 
effect on the amounts recognized in the Company’s consolidated financial statements are related to the 
economic recoverability of the mineral properties, the determination of functional currency for the 
Company and its subsidiaries and the assumption that the Company will continue as a going concern.  
 
Functional currency and foreign currency translation   
 
These consolidated financial statements are presented in U.S. dollars which is the functional currency of 
the Company and each of its subsidiaries. Canadian dollars are referred as CAD.  

 
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates 
prevailing at the date of the transaction. Foreign currency monetary items are translated at the year-end 
exchange rate. Non-monetary items measured at historical cost continue to be carried at the exchange 
rate at the date of the transaction. Non-monetary items measured at fair value are reported at the 
exchange rate at the date when fair values were determined.  

 
Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of foreign currency transactions and 
from the translation at period-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in 
currencies other than the Company’s functional currency are recognized in the loss and comprehensive 
loss. 
 
Plant and equipment 

 
Plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment, if any. 
 
Depreciation is charged over the expected useful lives using the straight-line method over the following 
terms: 
 
Motor Vehicles and buildings  5 years 
Plant and equipment   3 – 5 years 
Computers and office equipment  3 years 
 
The useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at each year end, with the effect 
date of any changes in estimated accounted for on a prospective basis. 
 
The gain or loss arising on disposal or retirement of an item of plant and equipment is determined as the 
difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amounts of the asset and is recognized in profit or 
loss. 
 
Mineral exploration rights  
 
Mineral exploration rights consist of payments to acquire minerals exploration rights and mining permits 
and licenses. Acquisition costs are capitalized and deferred until such a time as the mineral property is put 
into production, sold or abandoned, or impaired.  
 
If a mineral property is put into production the costs of the acquisition will be amortized over the life of the 
property on a unit-of-production basis based on the estimated proven and probable reserves. Proceeds 
received from the sale of an interest in a property will be credited against the carrying value of the 
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property, with any difference recorded as a gain or loss on sale. If a property is abandoned or has become 
impaired, the acquisition costs will be written off or written down to profit and loss.  
 
The carrying values of capitalized amounts are reviewed when indicators of impairment are present.  
Recorded amounts of mineral exploration rights are not intended to reflect present or future values of the 
properties. The recorded costs are subject to measurement uncertainty and it is reasonably possible, 
based on existing knowledge, that change in future conditions could require a material change in the 
recognized amount. 
 
Exploration and evaluation expenditure 

 
Exploration and evaluation expenditure, including but not limited to geological and geophysical evaluation, 
surveying, exploratory drilling and sampling, and evaluating the technical feasibility of extracting a mineral 
resource, is expensed as incurred until the property reaches the development stage.  
 
The development stage is considered to begin once the technical feasibility and commercial viability of the 
extraction of mineral property in an area of interest are demonstrable. Development expenditures incurred 
subsequent to a development decision, and to increase or to extend the life of existing production, are 
capitalized and will be amortized on the unit-of-production method based upon estimated proven and 
probable reserves. 
 

 Provisions 
 
Provisions are recognized when the Company has a present obligation as a result of a past event, it is 
probable that the Company will be required to settle that obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made 
of the amount of the obligation. 
 
The amount recognized as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the 
present obligation at the statement of financial position date, taking into account the risks and 
uncertainties surrounding the obligation. Where a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to 
settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows. 
 
When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered 
from a third party, the receivable is recognized as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will 
be received and the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably. 
 
Impairment for non-current assets 
 
Non-current assets are tested for impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate that the 
carrying amount may not be recoverable. For the purpose of measuring recoverable amounts, assets are 
grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units 
or CGUs).  
 
The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs of disposal and value in use 
(being the present value of the expected future cash flows of the relevant asset or CGU). An impairment 
loss is recognized for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount.  
 
The Company evaluates impairment losses for potential reversals when events or circumstances warrant 
such consideration. 
 
Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) 
is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount 
does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been 
recognized for the asset (cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is 
recognized immediately in profit or loss.  
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Interest income 
 

Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective 
interest rate applicable. 
 
Financial instruments 
 
Financial instruments are classified as one of the following: fair value through profit and loss (”FVTPL”), 
held-to-maturity, loans and receivables, available-for-sale financial assets or other financial liabilities. 
Financial assets held-to-maturity, loans and receivables, and other financial liabilities are measured at 
amortized cost using the effective interest method. Available-for-sale instruments are measured at fair 
value with unrealized gains and losses recognized in other comprehensive income (loss) and reported in 
the statement of changes in equity.  
 
At each reporting date, the Company assesses whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset 
is impaired. If such evidence exists, the Company recognizes an impairment loss accordingly. 
 
The Company has classified cash and amounts receivable as loans and receivables; accounts payable 
and accrued liabilities and uranium loan are classified as other financial liabilities.  
 
Share purchase warrants issued with an exercise price denominated in a currency other than the 
functional currency are considered derivative instruments. As such they are classified as financial 
liabilities measured at fair value and are re-measured each reporting period with all changes recorded as 
a component of net earnings (loss).  
 
Share-based payments 
 
The Company issues stock options to certain directors, officers and employees. For a grant of stock 
options, the share-based payment arrangement is settled when the options are exercised, forfeited (e.g. 
upon cessation of employment) or lapsed (e.g. at the end of the option’s life). The board of directors 
grants such options for periods up to 5 years at market price, with vesting periods determined at its sole 
discretion.  

 
The fair value of the options is measured at grant date, using the Black-Scholes option pricing model, and 
is recognized as an expense with a corresponding increase in equity over the vesting period. The amount 
recognized as an expense is adjusted to reflect the number of stock options expected to vest.  
 
Earnings (loss) per share 

 
A basic earnings (loss) per share is computed by dividing the net earnings (loss) available to shareholders 
by the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the reporting period. Diluted earnings (loss) 
per share is computed similar to basic earnings (loss) per share except that the weighted average shares 
outstanding are increased to include additional shares for the assumed exercise of stock options and 
warrants, if dilutive.  

 
Income taxes 

 
The Company follows the asset and liability method of accounting for income taxes whereby deferred tax 
assets and liabilities are recognized for the deferred tax consequences attributable to differences between 
the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases as 
well as for the benefit of losses available to be carried forward to future years for tax purposes.  Deferred 
tax assets and liabilities expected to be recovered or settled are measured using enacted or substantively 
enacted tax rates and are recorded in the financial statements if realization is considered probable. To the 
extent that the Company does not consider it probable that a deferred tax asset will be recovered, the 
deferred tax asset is reduced.  The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is 
recognized in income in the period that includes the substantive enactment date. 
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3. RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS 
 
Certain pronouncements were issued by the IASB or the IFRS Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”) that 
are mandatory for accounting periods starting after December 31, 2015. Pronouncements that are not 
applicable to the Company have been excluded from this note. 
 
The following pronouncements have been issued but are not yet effective: 

 
a) IFRS 7 -  Financial Instruments – Disclosure 

 
IFRS 7 is amended to clarify whether a servicing contract is continuing involvement in a transferred 
asset and to clarify offsetting disclosure requirements in condensed interim financial statements. It is 
effective for annual periods beginning on or after July 1, 2016.  
 

b) IFRS 9 - Financial Instruments  
 
IFRS 9 replaces the current standard, IAS 39 Financial Instruments, classification and measurement 
criteria for financial assets and liabilities with only two categories: amortized cost and fair value. The 
new standard is effective for annual reporting periods beginning January 1, 2018 for public entities.  
 

c) IFRS 15 - Revenue from Contracts with Customers 
 
IFRS 15 provides a comprehensive revenue recognition model for all contracts with customers and 
requires management to exercise judgement and make estimates that affect revenue recognition. 
IFRS 15 is effective for annual reporting periods beginning January 1, 2018 for public entities with 
early adoption permitted. Entities have the option of using either a full retrospective or a modified 
retrospective approach to adopt the guidance.  

 
d) IFRS 16 – Leases 

 
IFRS 16 specifics how an IFRS reporter will recognize, measure, present and disclose leases. The 
standard provides a single lease accounting model, requiring lessees to recognize assets and 
liabilities for leases unless the lease term is 12 months or less or the underlying asset has a low 
value. Lessors continue to classify leases as operating or finance, with IFRS 16’s approach to lessor 
accounting substantially unchanged from its predecessor IAS 17. The standard was issued in January 
2016 and is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019. 
 

e) Amendments to IAS 7 -  Statement of Cash Flows 
 
IAS 7 requires an entity to present a statement of cash flows as an integral part of its primary financial 
statements. Cash flows are classified and presented into operating activities (either using the 'direct' 
or 'indirect' method), investing activities or financing activities, with the latter two categories generally 
presented on a gross basis. The amendments require additional disclosures with respect to changes 
in liabilities arising from financing activities.  It is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 
January 1, 2017. 

 
The Company has not yet adopted any of these new and amended standards or interpretations, and 
is currently assessing the impact of adoption. 
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4. PLANT AND EQUIPMENT   
 
 Plant and equipment is summarized as follows: 
 

  
 

As at December 31, 2015, plant and equipment with a cost of $897,000 were fully depreciated but still in 
use by the Company.   

 Motor 

Vehicles 

 Plant and 

Equipment 

 Land and 

Buildings Computer

 Office 

Equipment Total

$ $ $ $ $ $

Cost

At December 31, 2013 1,112         897            308            696             182            3,195         

Additions -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  

Disposals -                  (20)             (7)               -                  -                  (27)             

At December 31, 2014 1,112         877            301            696             182            3,168         

Disposals (801)           (8)               -                  -                  (809)           

At December 31, 2015 311            869            301            696             182            2,359         

Accumulated depreciation 

At December 31, 2013 836            750            280            639             86              2,591         

Disposals -                  (20)             (7)               -                  -                  (27)             

Depreciation 92              92              2                 29               47              262            

At December 31, 2014 928            822            275            668             133            2,826         

Disposals (752)           (8)               -                  -                  -                  (760)           

Depreciation 104            54              1                 20               43              222            

At December 31, 2015 280            868            276            688             176            2,288         

Carrying amount

At December 31, 2014 184            55              26              28               49              342            

At December 31, 2015 31              1                 25              8                 6                 71              
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5. MINERAL EXPLORATION RIGHTS 
 

The Company’s primary asset is an advanced-stage exploration uranium property located in north central 
Niger. The Company acquired a 75% interest in five mineral tenements in June 2007, Madaouela I, II, III, 
IV, and Anou Melle (the “Madaouela Project”) for Euro 25 million ($34.6 million), and acquired the 
remaining 25% interest in July 2008 by issuing 10 million common shares at $2.25 per share. These 
exploration licenses are held 100% by the Company’s wholly-owned subsidiary GoviEx Niger Holding Ltd.  
 
An exploration license is valid for three years and is renewable for two further three-year periods subject 
to certain land holding reduction criteria and field work. An exploration license also can be converted to a 
mining permit if a viable deposit is discovered.  
 
In May 2010, the Minister of Mines of Niger formally extended the expiry of the first validity period of the 
exploration licenses to September 3, 2012 with no reduction in the area covered by the licenses. The 
extension was granted to compensate for interruptions to GoviEx exploration activities between August 
2007 and November 2009 as a result of a government imposed state of alert. 
 
On November 2, 2012, the Niger Ministry of Mines granted a three years renewal of these five licenses 
with a 50% reduction of the original granted surface area. On November 22, 2012, the Company reapplied 
for the two halves of Madaouela I and IV that it had to relinquish as part of the renewal, which have been 
renamed Agaliouk and Eralrar.  
 
On June 30, 2015, the Company filed a mining permit application for Madaouela I. On July 1, 2015, the 
Company filed exploration license renewal applications for Madaouela II, III, IV and Anou Melle.  
 
Please see Note 18 Subsequent Events for the latest status of the mining permit and licenses.  
 

 
6. TOSHIBA BOND FINANCING 
 

In April 2012, the Company entered into a bond purchase agreement with Toshiba pursuant to which the 
Company issued the following to Toshiba (collectively, the “Bond Financing”):  

 
a) a $30 million convertible debenture (the “Bond A”) at an interest rate of 15% compounded annually 

and maturing April 19, 2019. On June 19, 2014, following the IPO, the Company redeemed the Bond 
A by issuing 28,395,466 common shares for a total value of $60.3 million including interest. 
 

b) a uranium loan in the principal amount of 200,000 pounds of uranium concentrate U3O8 (the “Bond B” 
or “Uranium Loan”) at an interest rate of 12%  compounded annually and maturing April 19, 2020 
subject to early redemption by Toshiba. The principal and interest are stated in pounds of U3O8, and 
at maturity date the Company will have to repay Toshiba a total of 495,193 pounds of U3O8 including 
interest accrued.   

 
 The Bond Financing is secured by a floating charge on all assets of the Company.  

 
Toshiba has the right to demand repayment of the Uranium Loan and accrued interest if (i) the Company 
fails to deliver a definitive feasibility study relating to Madaouela Project prior to December 31, 2017, or (ii) 
the sum of the production and capital costs per pound of U3O8, as estimated in a feasibility study prepared 
in respect of the Madaouela Project, is not lower than $44 per pound.  
 
On September 1, 2015, the Uranium Loan was amended to extend the right to demand repayment from 
December 31, 2015 to December 31, 2017. In the event of a change in control of the Company, and such 
change of control involves a competitor to Toshiba or its subsidiaries, Toshiba can require the Company 
to repay the Uranium Loan in U3O8. 
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Concurrent with the Bond Financing, the Company entered into an off-take agreement with Advance 
Uranium Asset Management Limited (“AUAML”) and Toshiba whereby AUAML has the right and 
obligation to purchase up to 600,000 pounds of U3O8 per year for a period of 14 years commencing as 
early as January 1, 2019. AUAML may terminate the off-take agreement if the Company does not deliver 
a final investment notice to AUAML to put the Madaouela Project into commercial production by the last 
day of 2019. 
 
The spot U3O8 price, published by Ux Consulting Company, LLC, was US$34.5 per pound on December 
31, 2015 and US$35.5 per pound on December 31, 2014:  
 

  
 
 
 
7. SHARE PURCHASE WARRANTS DERIVATIVE LIABILITY 
 

In connection with a non-brokered private placement closed in tranches on September 28 and November 
3, 2015 as per Note 8, the Company issued 22.3 million warrants to the unit holders. Each warrant entitled 
the holder to purchase one common share of the Company at an exercise price of CAD$0.18 for a period 
of two years following the issuances. As these warrants are exercisable in Canadian dollars which differs 
from the Company’s functional currency, they are classified as derivative liabilities and carried at fair 
value. The warrants are therefore required to be revalued at fair value through net profit or loss at each 
reporting date.   
 
The fair value was estimated to be $0.04 on the date of issue by using the Black-Scholes option pricing 
model assuming an expected volatility of 75%, a risk-free interest rate of 0.50%, a dividend yield of 0%, 
and an expected term of two years.  
 
During the year ended December 31, 2015, the Company recorded a derivative gain of $0.64 million. The 
following table provides detail of the movement of the warrant liability:  
 

  
 
 
  

U3O8    2015 U3O8    2014

Pounds $ Pounds $

Balance, beginning of year 272,038        9,657            242,891    8,380       

Unrealized (gain) loss -                 (332)              -             242           

Net principal balance 272,038        9,325            242,891    8,622       

Accrued interest 32,644          1,186            29,147      1,035       

Balance, end of year 304,682        10,511         272,038    9,657       

December 31, December 31,

Number of 

warrants Amount 

Balance as January 1, 2015 -                     -$               

Warrants issued on September 28, 2015 16,228,177 645            

Warrants issued on November 3, 2015 5,707,119    50              

Change in fair value estimates -                     (640)           

Balance as December 31, 2015 21,935,296 55$            
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8. SHARE CAPITAL 
 
The Company is authorized to issue an unlimited number of Class A and Class B shares with no par 
value. 
 
On September 28 and November 3, 2015, the Company closed a non-brokered private placement in 
trenches by issuing 21,935,296 units for gross proceeds of $1.8 million (CAD$2.5 million). Each unit 
consists of one common share and one common share purchase warrant. Each warrant entitles the holder 
to purchase one additional common share at a price of CAD$0.18 for a period of two years. 
 
Share issue costs include $40,325 cash payments and 319,760 agent warrants with the same term as the 
warrants issued related to the private placement.  
 
Share reclassification plan 
 
On March 12, 2014, the Company enacted a Share Reclassification Plan under which the existing 
Company’s common shares were reclassified into Class B shares and a new common share category, 
Class A shares, was created. 
 
The reclassification preserves Class B shares’ pre-existing rights to voting, dividends and winding up, but 
freezes the ability of shareholders to transfer ownership of Class B shares until such time as Class B 
shares are converted into Class A shares. On November 24, 2014, the Company removed the contractual 
lock-up restriction on the Class B common shares and converted the entire Class B to Class A common 
shares.   
 
Initial Public Offering of Shares 
 
On June 19, 2014, the Company completed an IPO and concurrent listing on the CSE by issuing 739,849 
Class A common shares for gross proceeds of $1.6 million. The Company incurred $345,781 of share 
issue costs including $17,467 in cash commissions paid to the agent of the IPO.  
 

 
9. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS 

 
The Company has a share option scheme for certain employees of the Company administered by the 
Board of Directors of the Company. Share options are granted at an exercise price equal to the estimated 
value of the Company’s common shares on the date of the grant after IPO in June 2014. Options granted 
after IPO vest in four or five equal annual stages commencing on the date of grant.  
 
Options are forfeited if optionees leave before the options vest, and options vested shall expire 30 days 
after the employees leave, unless otherwise determined by the Board of the Directors. The Company is 
authorized to issue options for a maximum of 10% of the issued and outstanding common shares 
pursuant to the stock option plan.  
 
A summary of changes in the Company’s outstanding is presented below: 

Outstanding, beginning of year 4,648,333        2.15                       3,808,333   2.81                        

Options granted 12,800,000     0.12                       1,200,000   2.15                        

Options expired (2,178,750)      (2.10)                      (360,000)     2.25                        

Options forfeited (662,500)          (0.72)                      -               -                          

Outstanding, end of year 14,607,083     0.44                       4,648,333   2.15                        

Exercisable, end of year 4,165,416        0.97                       3,285,000   2.15                        

December 31, 2014December 31, 2015

Number 

of options

Weighted average 

exercise price ($)

Number 

of options

Weighted average 

exercise price ($)
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Stock options granted during the year ended December 31, 2015 vest over a period of three years (2014 
– three years) are exercisable at C$0.15 per option (2014 – $2.15 ) expire in 2020 (2014 – 2019) and had 
a total fair value of $0.52 million (2014 - $1.61 million) at the date of grant.  
 
The following table lists the stock options outstanding and exercisable with a weighted average remaining 
life of 3.74 and 3.45 years respectively:  
 

 
 
On June 19, 2014, the Company modified the exercise price of its existing stock options with an exercise 
price of over $2.15 for its employees and consultants such that they were priced on a basis consistent 
with the shares issued in its IPO. All other existing terms of the options remained unchanged. As a result 
of this re-pricing of options, $633,523 in additional share-based payments expense was recognized in 
2014 using the following assumptions annual volatility 70%, expected life 1.5 years, and risk-free interest 
rate 0.71%.  
 
The fair value of each option granted is estimated at the time of grant using the Black-Scholes option 
pricing model with weighted average assumptions and values for grants as follow: 
 

  
 

  

Expiry date Outstanding Exercisable Outstanding Exercisable

1.34$    2.15$       April 30, 2015 -                   -                     50,000         50,000         

1.34$    2.15$       June 22, 2015 -                   -                     1,765,000   1,765,000    

1.34$    2.15$       February 15, 2016 50,000            50,000          150,000      150,000       

1.34$    2.15$       June 6, 2016 400,000          400,000       400,000      320,000       

1.34$    2.15$       November 9, 2016 250,000          250,000       250,000      200,000       

1.34$    2.15$       June 4, 2017 250,000          200,000       250,000      150,000       

1.34$    2.15$       July 19, 2017 -                   -                     250,000      150,000       

1.34$    2.15$       August 27, 2017 333,333          266,666       333,333      200,000       

1.34$    2.15$       June 19, 2019 1,077,500      557,500       1,200,000   300,000       

0.12$    0.24$       January 28, 2020 2,721,250      760,000       -               -                

0.02$    0.08$       November 19, 2020 6,725,000      1,681,250    -               -                

0.01$    0.08$       December 31, 2017 2,800,000      -                     -               -                

14,607,083    4,165,416    4,648,333   3,285,000    

December 31, 2014December 31, 2015Exercise 

price 

Fair 

value 

December 31, 2015 December 31, 2014

Annualized volatility 75% 70%

Expected life in years 5 5                                    

Estimated forfeiture rate 0% 0%

Risk free interest rate 0.69% 1.54%

Dividend rate Nil Nil
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10. EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION 
 

Exploration and evaluation expenses for the Company were principally incurred in Niger and are 
summarized as follows: 
 

 
 

 
 
11. GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES 
 

Administrative expenses for the Company are summarized as follows: 

  
  

2015 2014

$ $

Salaries 1,338                                  1,366                                  

Consultants 1,070                                  1,304                                  

Camp supplies & repairs 320                                      619                                      

Office expenses 195                                      303                                      

Insurance 130                                      210                                      

Travel 74                                        216                                      

3,127                                  4,018                                  

Years ended December 31,

2015 2014

$ $

Salaries 527                                      561                                      

Investor relations 54                                        61                                        

Insurance 59                                        67                                        

Office expenses 81                                        116                                      

Travel 41                                        85                                        

Professional fees 97                                        241                                      

Regulatory and transfer agent 25                                        29                                        

884                                      1,160                                  

Years ended December 31,
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12. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES 
 

Related parties include the board of directors and officers, close family members and enterprises that are 
controlled by these individuals as well as certain consultants performing similar functions.  
 
Key management compensation  
 
The Company has no compensation arrangements with its board of directors other than non-cash stock 
option grants. The Company has no post-employment benefits and other long-term benefits in place.  
 
Key management includes the Board of Directors and executive officers. Compensation awarded to key 
management is listed below: 
 

2015 2014

$ $

Salaries 709                                      711                                      

Bonus 30                                        50                                        

Share-based payments 470                                      1,212                                  

1,209                                  1,973                                  

Years ended December 31,

 
 
In the event of change of control, a certain executive officer is eligible to receive a one-time bonus equal 
to 0.5% of the net proceeds received by the Company at the closing of the transaction. The timing, 
structure and payment of the bonus would be at the sole discretion of the Board of the Company.  
 
 
Global Mining Management Corporation (“GMM”) 
 
GMM is a private company, incorporated in British Columbia, Canada, owned equally by its seven 
shareholders one of which is the Company. GMM provides general administration, finance and 
accounting, and corporate services to the Company at a cost recovery basis. The following fees were 
incurred in the normal course of operations: 
 

2015 2014

Personnel 261                                      271                                      

Corporate overhead 49                                        62                                        

311                                      332                                      

Years ended December 31,

 
 
As of December 31, 2015, $12,721 (2014 – $20,130) was owed to GMM and is included in the accounts 
payable and accrued liabilities.  
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13. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT  

 
The Company’s objective in managing its capital is to maintain the ability to continue as a going concern 
and to continue to explore and develop its Madaouela Project for the benefits of its stakeholders. The 
Company’s operations have been and will continue to be funded by various finance arrangements 
including the sale of equity to investors.  
 
The Company’s capital includes the components of shareholders’ equity. Capital requirements are driven 
by the Company’s exploration activities on its mineral property interests and associated administration 
expenses. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Company may attempt to issue new shares, 
debt and acquire or dispose of mineral rights. 

 
The Company monitors actual expenses to budget on all exploration projects and overheads to manage 
costs, commitments and exploration activities. There were no changes in the Company’s approach to 
capital management during the year ended December 31, 2015. 
 

 
14. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT 

 
Fair value measurement of financial assets and liabilities 
 
The Company uses a fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance of inputs of valuation techniques 
used in making fair value measurements as follows: 
 
Level 1 - quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities; 
 
Level 2 - inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable either directly or 
indirectly; and 
 
Level 3 - inputs for the asset or liability that are not based upon observable market data. 
 
As at December 31, 2015, the recorded amounts for cash, amounts receivable, accounts payable and 
accrued liabilities approximate their fair values due to their short-term nature.  

 
The fair value of the Company’s uranium loan is determined by reference to the closing uranium price on 
UxC weekly spot price and thus is a level 1 fair value measurement.  
 
The derivative liability is measured at fair value and categorized in level 3.  
 
Foreign currency risk 
 
Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value of financial instruments of future cash flows will fluctuate 
as a result of changes in foreign exchange rates. The Company operates internationally with the head 
office located in Canada, thus the Company is exposed to foreign currency risk arising from transactions 
denominated in Canadian dollars, CFA Franc, and other currencies.  
 
A 10% change in the exchange rate between the Canadian and U.S. dollars would have an effect on the 
loss before income taxes for the year ended December 31, 2015 of approximately $164,419.  
 
The table below summarizes the net monetary assets and liabilities held in foreign currencies: 
 

December 31, 2015 December 31, 2014

Canadian dollar  1,188$                          190$                                   

CFA franc 2                                    (83)                                       

Other (77)                                (67)                                       

1,113$                          40$                                       
  



GoviEx Uranium Inc. 
Notes to the consolidated financial statements 
For the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014 
(Stated in U.S. dollars unless otherwise noted; tabular amounts in thousands except for shares) 

 

Page | 21  
 

Price risk 
 
Price risk is the risk that the future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in 
market prices other than those arising from currency or interest rate risks. The Company’s uranium loan is 
carried at market value and is therefore directly affected by fluctuations in the uranium market price. A 
10% change in the uranium price would have an effect of $1.1 million on the value of the uranium loan as 
of December 31, 2015.  
 
Interest rate risk  
 
Interest risk is the risk of that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
because of changes in market interest rates. The Company is exposed to the short-term interest rates 
through the interest earned on cash balances. Management does not believe this exposure is significant.  
 
Credit risk  
 
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Company if a customer fails to meet its contractual obligations. 
The Company is exposed to credit risk through its cash which is held in large, federally insured, 
commercial financial institutions and accounts receivable. The Company believes this credit risk is not 
significant.  
 
Liquidity risk  
 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. 
The Company manages liquidity risk through the management of its capital structure. As discussed in 
Note 1 the Company requires additional funds from shareholders or lenders to meet its obligations as they 
come due in 2016. The Company is engaged in discussions with various parties with respect to potential 
financings. However, there can be no assurance that these discussions will be completed successfully. 
 

 
15. SEGMENTED INFORMATION  
 

The Company has one business segment, being the exploration of mineral properties in West Africa 
where the mineral property expenditures are incurred. All the non-current assets are located in Niger. The 
Company’s corporate division only earns revenues that are considered incidental to the activities of the 
Company and therefore does not meet the definition of an operating segment as defined in IFRS 8, 
Operating Segments.  
 
 

16. INCOME TAXES 
 

Due to the exploration stage of the Company, no deferred income tax assets are recognized as there is no 
reasonable assurance that the tax benefits will be realized. 
 
For the duration of the exploration activities, the Company is exempt from income tax in Niger. The 
income tax rate in Niger is 30%. Claiming of tax depreciation is mandatory; however, unused depreciation 
can be deferred indefinitely and applied to reduce future taxable profit. Tax losses can be carried forward 
and applied to reduce future taxable profit for a period of three years. These rules are included and 
described in a bi-lateral convention signed by the Company and the Government of Niger and are 
consistent with Niger’s Mining Code. 
 
The recovery of income taxes shown in the consolidated statements of loss and comprehensive loss 
differs from the amounts obtained by employing substantively enacted statutory rates to the loss before 
provision for income taxes for fiscal 2015 and 2014 as follows: 
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2015 2014

$ $ 

Loss before income tax (5,254)                (31,441)              

Canadian statutory income tax rate 26% 26%

Income tax recovery at statutory rate (1,366)                (8,175)                

Effect on income taxes of: 

Different effective tax rate in foreign jurisdictions (492)                   (916)                   

1,272                 1,084                 

Non-deductible expenses 101                    7,318                 

Permanent differences 390                    581                    

Other 95                     108                    

-                        -                        

Tax effect of tax losses and temporary 

differences not recognized 

 
 

The Company is subject to assessments by various taxation authorities which may interpret tax legislation 
and tax filing positions differently from the Company. The Company provides for such differences when it 
is probable that a taxation authority will not sustain the Company’s filing position and the amount of the tax 
exposure can be reasonably estimated. As at December 31, 2015 and 2014, no provisions have been 
made in the financial statements for any estimated tax liability. 

 
The Company has no deferred income tax assets and liabilities as at December 31, 2015 and 2014. 

 
Deferred income tax assets are recognized for tax loss carry-forwards to the extent that the realization of 
the related tax benefit through future taxable profits is reasonably assured. The Company did not 
recognize deferred income tax assets in respect of tax losses in Canada of $28.8 million that can be 
carried forward against future taxable income. Losses in Canada expire between 2031 and 2035. 
 
The Company’s unrecognized deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses consist of the 
following amounts: 

 

2015 2014

$ $ 

Non-capital loss carry forwards 28,823               23,252               

Share issue costs 251                    502                    

Mineral properties 130,124             128,203             

Unrecognized temporary differences 159,198             151,957              
 

The temporary differences relating to mineral properties arise principally from exploration and evaluation 
expenditures in Niger. The amount of such temporary difference ultimately acceptable to the Niger tax 
authorities as deductible against future profits in Niger is uncertain.  

 
 
17. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 
 

a) Subsequent to December 31, 2015, the Company received confirmation from the Niger government 
that the exploration licenses for Madaouela II, III, IV and Anou Melle had been renewed. As part of the 
terms of the license renewals, the Company is required to incur an aggregate of $6.98 million 
exploration expenditures including general administrative costs on these properties over the three-
year life of the licenses.  

 
The Company is also required to incur $0.55 million over three years in Niger for various contracts 
and office lease payments at $0.23 million, $0.29 million and $0.03 million in 2016, 2017 and 2018, 
respectively.  
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b) Although the Company has taken steps to verify ownership and the validity of its exploration rights 
and licenses relating to the mineral properties in which it has an interest, according to usual industry 
standards for exploration stage mining companies, these procedures do not guarantee the 
Company’s title and interest.  Such properties may be subject to prior agreements or transfers and 
title may be affected by undetected defects. Although management believes that the Company has 
appropriate ownership of its mineral property rights there can be no assurance that these rights will 
not be challenged in the future.  

 
c) The Company presently has a dispute with one of its former employees regarding his termination. The 

Company believes it has substantial defences to any potential legal claim with respect of this matter 
and its ultimate settlement will not have a material adverse effect on the financial position or results of 
operations of the Company. Euro 72,550 was accrued for this dispute as of December 31, 2015 (2014 
– Euro 72,550). 

 
d) The Company is also aware of certain claims or potential claims, resulting from the normal course of 

business none of which management believes will result in a material effect on the results of 
operations or financial position. 

 
 
18. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 
 

a) On February 1, 2016, the Company announced that the mining permit for the Company’s Madaouela I 
project was granted by the Niger government. Under the terms of the 2007 Mining Convention with 
the Republic of Niger Ministry of Mines and Energy, the Company is required to make a one-time 
payment of Euro 7 million ($8 million) upon the publication of a decree awarding the first mining 
permit issued. The Company is in discussion with the Ministry to negotiate the terms of this payment.  
 
Upon the grant of the mining permit, and the incorporation of a Niger company to act as the mining 
company, the Niger government will receive a 10% interest in the Madaouela I project, and has the 
option to purchase an additional 30% equity interest at fair market value subject to certain conditions 
at the time the mining company is incorporated. 
 
In addition, the exploration licenses application for Eralrar and the renewals for the Madaouela II, III, 
IV and Anou Melle were approved by Niger government.   
 

b) On March 29, 2016, the Company entered into a Definitive Share Purchase Agreement with Denison 
Mines Corp. (“Denison”) to acquire Rockgate Capital Corp., a Denison subsidiary that owns uranium 
projects in Zambia, Mali and Namibia, by issuing 56.1 million common shares and 22.4 million share 
purchase warrants of the Company (the “Transaction”).  

 
Each warrant is exercisable at $0.15 per share for a period of three years subject to acceleration in 
the event that the GoviEx’s common share closes at minimum CAD$0.24 for consecutive 15 trading 
days.  
 
The Transaction is subject to regulatory approval and successful completion of a minimum $2.0 
million non-brokered private placement of GoviEx, of which Denison will provide up to $500,000. The 
Transaction is expected to close on or about May 17, 2016.  
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS 

For the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014 
 

Introduction 

 
GoviEx Uranium Inc. (“GoviEx” or the “Company”) is a company focused on the acquisition, exploration and 
development of uranium projects in Africa. The Company was originally incorporated in British Virgin Islands 
and migrated to Canada with limited liability under the legislation of the province of British Columbia on March 
1, 2011.  

On June 19, 2014, the Company successfully closed its initial public offering (“IPO”) on the Canadian Stock 
Exchange (“CSE”) under the trading symbol “GXU”. The Company is based in Vancouver, British Columbia, 
Canada. Additional information related to GoviEx is available on the Company’s website www.goviex.com or on 
SEDAR at www.sedar.com. 

The following Management’s discussion and analysis (“MD&A”) is prepared as of April 21, 2016 and relates to 
the financial condition and results of operations for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014. This MD&A 
should be read in conjunction with the audited consolidated financial statements for the years ended December 
31, 2015 and 2014, together with the related notes thereto. The Company reports its financial position, financial 
performance and cash flows in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) issued by 
the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) effective December 31, 2015.  

The first, second, third and fourth quarters of the Company’s fiscal years are referred to as “Q1”, “Q2”, “Q3”, 
and “Q4” respectively. All amounts contained herein are in U.S. dollars, unless otherwise indicated. References 
to C$ are to Canadian dollars.  

This MD&A contains forward-looking statements that are related to the Company’s activities and future financial 
results. In the opinion of management, all adjustments considered necessary for a fair presentation have been 
included. The results for the current periods are not necessarily indicative of the results for any future period. 
The Company cautions investors that any forward-looking statements by the Company are not guarantees of 
future performance as they are subject to significant risks and uncertainties that, disclosed in the end of this 
MD&A, may cause projected results of events to be differ materially from actual results or events.  

Mr. Robert Bowell of SRK Consulting (UK) Limited (“SRK”) is the qualified person responsible for the 
preparation of the technical information included in this MD&A. 

 

  

http://www.goviex.com/
http://www.sedar.com/
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Highlights 

 On March 10, 2015, the Company completed and filed the Environmental and Social Impact 
Assessment (“ESIA”) with The Nigerien Minster in charge of the environment.  

 On April 21, 2015, the Company announced a resource update for the Marianne and Marilyn 
deposits, which increased the Measured and Indicated Resource by 12.54 Mlb U3O8 and Inferred 
Resource by 3.57 Mlb U3O8.   

 On July 28, 2015 the ESIA was approved by the Minister in charge of the environment 

 On August 11, 2015 filed an updated NI 43-101 Integrated Development Plan (IDP) for the 
Madaouela Uranium Project, with a higher net present value and lower operating costs than the 
previous report.  

 On September 2, 2015 the Company announced that its strategic partner, Toshiba Corporation 
(“Toshiba”) had agreed to a two-year extension of an early redemption right of Toshiba’s uranium 
loan (B Bond), to December 31, 2017.  

 On January 26, 2015, the Company was granted the Mining Permit for its Madaouela I tenement, 
and the Exploration license for the Eralrar tenement.  

 On January 29, 2015, the Company was granted renewal approval of the Madaouela II, III, IV and 
Anou Melle exploration tenements.  

 On March 30, 2015, the Company announced the execution of a Definitive Share Purchase 
Agreement with Denison Mines Corp. to combine their respective African uranium mineral interests. 
The transaction is subject to regulatory approval and successful closure of a concurrent equity 
financing that is expected to be closed on or about May 17, 2016. See detailed discussion in 
Definitive Share Purchase Agreement.  

 

Mineral Properties  

The Company’s principal asset is a development stage property located in close proximity to the Somair and 
Cominak mines in the Agadez region of Niger in the heart of a historically prolific uranium producing district (the 
“Madaouela Project”). The Madaouela Project consists of the Company’s ownership interest in the Madaouela I 
mine permits and five exploration licenses for the tenements known as Madaouela II, III, IV, Eralrar and Anou 
Melle. The Company’s principal objective is to become a significant uranium producer through the continued 
exploration and development of its Madaouela Project. 

 

  

Fig 1. Location of the GoviEx’s Uranium Properties in Niger Fig 2. GoviEx Exploration Licences 

Note: Somair and Cominak are subsidiaries of Areva SA 
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Madaouela Project - The Company’s resources are mainly located on seven deposits on the Madaouela I 
tenement where the majority of the Company’s exploration and development drilling to date has been 
conducted, and contain 99.1 Mlb eU3O8 as drill measured and indicated resources with an average grade of 
1.39 kg/t eU3O8, and an additional 18.31 Mlb as drill Inferred resources with an average grade of 1.28 kg/t 
eU3O8. Additionally, the Madaouela Project contains numerous prospective exploration targets worthy of 
continued exploration drilling on each of its licences. Madaouela Project’s current resource estimates are 
derived from a resource estimation update prepared by SRK on March 2, 2016. 

The Company acquired the Madaouela Project in May 2007 pursuant to mining conventions between Niger and 
GoviEx Niger. Exploration licenses for these tenements were awarded in September 2007 by the Niger Ministry 
of Mines and Energy.  The Company paid EUR 25 million for the exploration licenses and will pay, as a one-
time payment, a further EUR 7 million on official publication in the Journal Officiel de la Republique du Niger 
regarding the conversion of any one of the exploration licenses to a mining license. 

In May 2010, the Ministry of Mines and Energy of Niger formally extended the expiry of the first validity period 
of the exploration licenses for the Madaouela Project’s tenements to September 2012 with no reduction in the 
area covered by the license. The extensions were granted to compensate for interruptions to the Company’s 
exploration activities at the Madaouela Project between August 2007 and November 2009 as a result of a 
government imposed state of alert. Under Niger's Mining Code, upon expiry the exploration licenses may be 
(i) renewed for a second and third period of validity, provided that each time the license is renewed, the area 
covered by the license will be reduced by half, (ii) extended for an additional year in order to finalize a feasibility 
study, or (iii) converted to a mining license. On November 2, 2012, Nigerien authorities granted a renewal of 
the exploration licenses of the Madaouela Project licenses on the basis of a 50% reduction of the surface 
areas.  

On November 22, 2012, the Company submitted to the Niger authorities an application covering certain 
portions of the original Madaouela I and Madaouela IV license surface areas that were excluded from the 
renewed licenses granted on November 2, 2012, now known as Agaliouk and Eralrar.  

On January 26, 2015, the Company was granted the Mine Permit for its Madaouela I license. The confirmed 
Mine Permit and approved Environmental and Social Impact Assessment means that the Madaouela Project is 
fully permitted for construction and production. In addition, the Company was granted the Exploration license 
for the Eralrar license.  
 

On January 29, 2015, the Company was granted exploration tenements renewals for the Madaouela II, III, IV 
and Anou Melle. However, the company’s renewal application for Agaliouk exploration tenement was not 
approved and the company remains focused assessing the various options available.  
 
The exploration rights to the uranium properties are held 100% by GoviEx Niger Holdings Ltd., a wholly owned 
subsidiary of the Company; however, the Government of Niger retains a 10% carried interest in all mining 
projects upon the conversion from exploration license to mining license, with the option to purchase up to an 
additional 30% equity interest at fair market value (subject to certain conditions). 
 
Exploration  
 
GoviEx commenced its exploration on the Madaouela Project on August 8, 2008. A summary of the annual 
drilling meters is summarized in the table below: 
 

 
 
Note: Other includes diamond drilling, water wells, and reopening historical holes.  

2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 Total

Exploration 57,162     90,204       100,551    93,513       159,786    72,407     573,623    

Other 5,486        15,631       8,899         7,364         12,138       3,886        53,404       

Total 62,648     105,835    109,450    100,877    171,924    76,293     627,027    
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Ore Resources  

For the narrow flat lying mineralisation that occurs in most of Madaouela Uranium Project deposits (MSNE, 
MSCE, MSEE, and Maryvonne), a 2D approach has historically been used as an appropriate resource 
modelling technique for the potential Underground mining method. Marilyn/Marianne (M&M) has used a 3D 
unfolding approach allied with conventional block kriging, in order to smooth the process to mine scheduling. 
Both approaches are suitable for the flat lying mineralisation. For the potential Open Pit mining at Miriam a 3D 
recoverable resource approach (UC) was utilised.  
 
Mineral resources for are defined using the convention of “eU” in kg/t for grade. The eU distinquishes 
concentration as being uranium concentration largely defined from gamma spectrometry with only a small 
portion of core chemically assayed. This does not compromise the integrity of the result but only seeks to 
demonstrate source of the information. This value can be related to eU3O8 concentration by a factor of 
1.17924. Uranium concentrations determined by chemical assay are shown simply as U or U3O8. 
 
The Classified Mineral Resources at a 0.4 kg/t eU cut-off (approximately 0.047 % eU3O8) and a minimum 
thickness of 0.4 m (except for Miriam, where a Mining selectivity unit (SMU) of 5 m x 5 m x 0.4 m is assumed) 
are summarised in Table 1. 

 
Summary of the classified mineral resources in accordance with CIM guidelines for Madaouela Project using 
cut-off: 0.4 kg/t eU as of March 2, 2016. 

 

Classification  Tonnes (Mt)  Grade (kg/t eU3O8) eU3O8 (t) eU3O8 (Mlb) 

Marianne/Marilyn     

Measured 2.14 1.79 3,835 8.45 

Indicated  14.72 1.43  21,000 46.30  

Inferred 5.04 1.17  5,910   13.02  

Miriam      

Measured  7.26  1.13  8,230  18.14  

Indicated  1.95  0.80  1,580  3.48  

Inferred 0.21  1.26  260  0.57  

MSNE     

Indicated  5.05 1.61  8,111   17.88  

Inferred 0.1 1.34  131   0.29  

Maryvonne     

Indicated  1.23 1.79  2,195   4.84  

Inferred 0.42 1.66  703   1.55  

MSCE     

Inferred 0.72 1.81  1,308   2.88  

Total Measured 9.40  1.29  12,065  26.59  

Total Indicated 22.95  1.44  32,866  72.50  

Total Inferred 6.49  1.28  8,312  18.31  

 

The Company’s mineral resources as at March 2, 2016 are classified in accordance with the Canadian Institute of Mining, Metallurgy and 

Petroleum’s “CIM Definition Standards - For Mineral Resources and Mineral Reserves" in accordance with the requirements of National 
Instrument 43-101 “Standards of Disclosure for Mineral Projects" (the Instrument). Mineral reserve and mineral resource estimates reflect the 

Company's reasonable expectation that all necessary permits and approvals will be obtained and maintained. Mineral resources that are not 

mineral reserves do not have to demonstrate economic viability. Mineral resources are subject to infill drilling, permitting, mine planning, 
mining dilution and recovery losses, among other things, to be converted into mineral reserves. Due to the uncertainty associated with inferred 

mineral resources, it cannot be assumed that all or any part of an inferred mineral resource will ever be upgraded to indicated or measured 
mineral resources, including as a result of continued exploration. The Mineral Resource Statement was prepared by John Arthur, FGS, CGeol 

(CP) and Peter Gleeson FAusIMM (CP) of SRK Consulting (UK) Ltd, both are Qualified Persons as defined by the CIM Code. 



GoviEx Uranium Inc. 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis 

For the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014

 

5  

 

Technical Report 

This update is reported in the Technical Report dated September 20, 2013 and amended on April 28, 2014, 
titled “An Updated Integrated Development Plan for the Madaouela Project, Niger” available on 
www.sedar.com. The Technical Report provides a review of the results of mining and processing studies and a 
preliminary feasibility study of the potential project development, as well as an update to the overall project 
resources. The Technical Report was updated on August 11, 2015.  

The Technical Report was prepared by SRK in accordance with National Instrument 43-101 – Standard of 
Disclosure for Mineral Projects (“NI 43-101”). Robert Bowell, Daniel Guibal, Rick Skelton, Tim McGurk, John 
Arthur and Neal Rigby of SRK endorsed the Technical Report as qualified persons. 

The key findings of the Technical Report were:  

 Mining sequence begins with open pit mining of the Miriam deposit followed by room and pillar 
underground mining of the Marianne/Marilyn and MSNE/Maryvonne deposits.  

 Annual production is forecast at an average 2.69 Mlb U3O8 per annum, based on an 93.7% uranium 
overall recovery, with an 21 year mine-life, producing a total of 56.6Mlb of U3O8.  

 The base case project economics for the Technical Report assume a long-term uranium price of 
US$70 /lb U3O8, and indicate an after-tax NPV of US$339 million at an 8% discount rate, with an IRR 
of 23.5%. Initial capital costs are estimated at US$359 million, and cash operating costs of US$24.49 
/lb U3O8, excluding royalty payments and including by-product credits for molybdenum oxide based on 
average molybdenum oxide annual sales of 1.3 Mlb at a price of US$11 /lb. 

 
The company is currently optimizing the Madaouela Development Plan in order to assess the potential benefits 
of a number of geological and technical factors which may impact the process design, by potentially further 
reducing sulphuric acid consumption and operating costs, thereby potentially increasing probable mineral 
reserves.  

Environmental and Social Impact Assessment  

GoviEx filed an Environmental and Social Impact Assessment (ESIA) with the Minister in charge of the 
environment on March 10, 2015. The ESIA was approved the Minister in charge of the environment on July 28, 
2015. 

 

Definitive Share Purchase Agreement 

 

On March 30, 2016 GoviEx and Denison Mines Corp. ("Denison") announced the execution of a Definitive 
Share Purchase Agreement (the "Agreement") to combine their respective African uranium mineral interests 
(the “Transaction”) to create a leading Africa-focused uranium development company.  
 

The asset portfolio of the combined company will include two permitted uranium development projects – 
including GoviEx’s Madaouela project in Niger and Denison’s Mutanga project in Zambia. It will also include 
Denison’s Falea project, an advanced exploration-stage asset project in Mali, and the exploration-stage Dome 
project in Namibia. Following completion of the Transaction, GoviEx will control one of the largest uranium 
resource bases among publicly listed companies.  
 

Pursuant to the terms of the Agreement, GoviEx will acquire DML Africa from Denison in exchange for 
56,050,450 Consideration Shares and 22,420,180 Consideration Warrants, being four-tenths of a 
Consideration Warrant for each Consideration Share to be issued. Each such Consideration Warrant will be 
convertible into one common share of GoviEx at a price of US$0.15 per share for a period of three (3) years. 
The Consideration Warrants will include an acceleration clause, which will provide that, in the event that the 
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closing price of GoviEx's common shares on the Canadian Securities Exchange (“CSE”) is equal to or greater 
than C$0.24 per share for a period of 15 consecutive trading days, GoviEx may provide holders of the 
Consideration Warrants with written notice that holders have 30 days within which to exercise the 
Consideration Warrants on the original terms, failing which the exercise price of the Consideration Warrants will 
be increased to US$0.18 per share and the term of the Consideration Warrants will be reduced by six months.  

 
At the time of closing the Transaction, Denison will ensure that DML Africa is capitalized with a minimum 
working capital of US$700,000, which is equivalent to the forecasted annual budget for the assets of DML 
Africa.  
 

For so long as Denison holds at least 5% of the issued and outstanding common shares of GoviEx, Denison 
will have the right to appoint one director to the GoviEx board of directors and will have the right to participate 
in future GoviEx equity financings in order to maintain its pro- rata ownership.  
 

As part of the Transaction, GoviEx will undertake a concurrent equity financing by means of a non-brokered 
private placement (the “Placement”) to raise gross proceeds of not less than US$2,000,000, of which Denison 
will provide the lead order for 25% up to a maximum of US$500,000. The Placement is expected to be 
completed prior to, or concurrently with, the closing of the Transaction (“Closing”) and is a condition of Closing.  
 

The Transaction is expected to close on or about May 17, 2016, subject to the receipt of required consents and 
approvals, as well as the satisfaction of other conditions customary for a transaction of this nature.  

Results of Operations 

For the year ended December 2015  
 
For the year ended December 31, 2015 (“2015”), the Company reported a net loss of $5.3 million compared to 
the net loss of $31.4 million in the same period 2014 (“2014”). The decrease of $26 million is mainly due to the 
interest on an early redemption of the convertible debenture in 2014.  
 
A comparison of expenses for the year in 2015 and 2014 is listed below:  
 

 

  

(in thousands of U.S. dollars) 2015 2014

$ $ $

Exploration and evaluation expenses 3,127                    4,018                    (891)                         

General and administrative 884                        1,160                    (276)                         

Gain on derivative liability (640)                      -                             (640)                         

Gain on disposal of plant and equipment (21)                         -                             (21)                           

Depreciation 222                        262                        (40)                           

Foreign exchange loss 93                          42                          51                            

Loss (gain) on uranium loan (332)                      242                        (574)                         

Loss on inventory of uranium concentrate -                             100                        (100)                         

Interest on convertible debenture -                             23,107                  (23,107)                   

Interest on uranium loan 1,186                    1,035                    151                          

Interest income (6)                           (9)                           3                               

Share-based payment 741                        1,484                    (743)                         

Loss and comprehensive loss for the year 5,254                    31,441                  (26,187)                   

Year ended December 31, Increase 

 (decrease)
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Interest expense 

Interest expense started being accrued in April 2012 following the purchase agreement between Toshiba and 
the Company for a $30 million convertible bond and a $10 million uranium loan facility. The interest rate is 15% 
on the convertible bond and 12% on the uranium loan, compounded annually. On June 19, 2014, the 
Company redeemed the entire convertible debenture and recorded an additional $20.5 million interest 
representing the interest accrued from the redemption date to its fifth year in April 2017. The interest in 
2015 represented the year’ interest on uranium concentrate at an average price of $37 per pound.  

Changes in uranium prices have caused fluctuations in the interest and principal owing at each reporting 
period, which amounts have been recognized in the profit and loss as a loss or gain on the uranium loan.  

On September 2, 2015 the Company announced that Toshiba has agreed to a two-year extension of an early 
redemption right of Toshiba’s uranium loan (B Bond), to December 31, 2017. Toshiba has the right to demand 
repayment of the loan and accrued interest if (i) GoviEx fails to deliver a definitive commercial feasibility study 
for the Madaouela Project before December 31, 2017, or (ii) the total production and capital costs, as estimated 
in a feasibility study for the Madaouela Project, are not lower than US$44 per pound of U3O8.  

 

Exploration and evaluation expenses 

During the year ended December 31, 2015, the Company completed the environmental assessment and 
technical update work performed by SRK Consulting, reflected in the increased consulting fees, which was 
offset by the lower camp costs and salaries.  
 

 
General and administrative expenses 

To conserve cash, the Company has reduced its general administrative and corporate activities where 
possible, and focused on supporting the technical update and environmental assessment for its uranium 
project. Certain 2014 amounts were modified to be in line with the current classifications:  

 

On December 17, 2015, the Company announced steps to aggressively reduce operating and sustaining costs 
through a program of targeted compensation adjustments, non-essential retrenchments, cut-backs in 

(in thousands of U.S. dollars) 2015 2014

$ $ $

Wages and benefits 1,338                    1,366                    (28)                           

Consultants and geophysics 1,070                    1,304                    (234)                         

General admin and support 325                        513                        (188)                         

Camp supplies & repairs 320                        619                        (299)                         

Travel 74                          216                        (142)                         

3,127                    4,018                    (891)                         

Year ended December 31, Increase 

 (decrease)

(in thousands of U.S. dollars) 2015 2014

$ $ $

Wages and benefits 527                        561                        (34)                           

Corporate overhead 140                        183                        (43)                           

Professional fees 97                          241                        (144)                         

Investor relations 54                          61                          (7)                             

Travel 41                          85                          (44)                           

Regulatory 25                          29                          (4)                             

884                        1,160                    (276)                         

Year ended December 31, Increase 

 (decrease)
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overheads, and other cost-cutting measures. These changes are forecast to reduce operating costs by 
approximately 50%.  
 
The company’s senior leadership team is proactively participating in the strategic realignment plan and has 
agreed to a 20% reduction in salary and benefits in an effort to reposition the company for future growth.  
 

Share-based payments 

On January 28 and November 3, 2015, the Company granted 3.275 million and 6.725 million stock options at 
an exercise price of C$0.30 and C$0.10 for five years with 25% vesting on the grant and each anniversary 
date. The grant date fair value of these options was $0.12 and $0.02 respectively. 
 
On December 17, 2015, the Company granted 2.8 million stock options with an exercise price of C $0.1125 
that may vest on January 1, 2017, subject to certain conditions as determined by the company. The options 
have an expiry date of December 31, 2017.  

 
On June 19, 2014, the Company modified the exercise prices for all the existing stock options to $2.15, and 
recorded $633,523 incremental share-based expenses in 2014. In addition, 1,200,000 stock options were 
granted at an exercise price of $2.15 per share with five-year term. 25% of these options were vested 
immediately with additional 25% vesting on each anniversary date with expiry date of June 19, 2019.  
 

Gain on derivative liability 

Warrants denominated in a currency other than the Company’s functional currency are deemed to be a 
derivative liability and must be valued at fair value on each reporting date. Any fair value changes are recorded 
to profit and loss. Due to the fluctuation of the Company’s share price, a $0.64 million gain was recorded in 
2015 (2014 - $nil). 
 

Three months ended December 31, 2015  

There are no significant activities that have taken place in the three months ended December 31, 2015 which 
have not been discussed in the analysis above.  

Selected Annual Information 

2015 2014 2013

$ $ $

Total revenue -                             -                             -                             

Net loss for the year (5,254)                   (31,441)                 (23,157)                 

Basic and diluted loss per share (0.03)                     (0.24)                     (0.20)                     

Total assets 58,740                  61,705                  65,868                  

Non-current liabilities 10,890                  -                             -                             

Cash dividends declared -                             -                             -                             

December 31,(in thousands of U.S. dollars except 

for per share amounts)
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Summary of Quarterly Results 

The following table sets forth a comparison of information for the previous eight quarters ending with December 
31, 2015: 
 

(in thousands of U.S. dollars 

except for per share) Q4'15 Q3'15 Q2'15 Q1'15 Q4'14 Q3'14 Q2'14 Q1'14

Exploration and evaluation 575             577         943         1,032     1,356     1,142     768 752

General and administrative 205             186         265         228         359         330         33 438

Depreciation                 59 51           55           57           62           65           66 69

Foreign exchange (gain) 

loss                 59 8             (8)            34           3             18           3 18

Gain on derivative liability             (640) -              -              -              -              -              -              -              

gain on disposal of plant 

and equipment               (21) -              -              -              -              -              -              -              

Interest Income (3)                -              (1)            (2)            (3)            (2)            (2)            (2)            

Interest Expense 280             307         302         297         237         668         21,727 1,510

(Gain) loss in uranium 

concentrate -                  -              -              -              181         (706)       575 50

(Gain) loss on uranium loan             (582) -              (838)       1,088     80           1,412     (1,150)    (100)       

Share-based payments
 (1)

             161 106         181         293         212         245         906 121

Impairment of assets -                  -              -              -              -              -              -              -              

Loss for period 93               1,235     899         3,027     2,487     3,172     22,926   2,856     

Loss per share -              0.01        0.01        0.02        0.02        0.02        0.19 0.02

 
 

The Company’s results have been largely driven by the level of its exploration and evaluation activities. The 
Company has had no revenue from mining operations since its inception. Major variations in costs are 
summarized below: 
 

 Exploration and evaluation expenditures can vary widely from quarter to quarter depending on the stages 
and priorities of the exploration program. 

 Interest expenses vary based on timing, type and amount of debt and resultant fluctuations in uranium 
price. 

 Significant increases and decreases quarter to quarter in the Company’s stock price can have a significant 
impact on the value of the derivative liabilities issued by the Company in conjunction with debt and equity 
instruments. 

 Share-based payments are fair valued through Black-Scholes pricing model when stock options are 
granted and vested. Any change in the assumptions used will impact the share-based expense recorded in 
the period.    

 Foreign exchange gains and losses arise because the Company conducts certain of its activities and holds 
financial assets in U.S. Dollars, Canadian dollars and other currencies, and reports its financial results in 
U.S. Dollars. 
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Liquidity and Capital Resources 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will encounter difficulties in meeting obligations associated with its 
financial liabilities and other contractual obligations. The Company is dependent on raising funds by the 
issuance of shares and debt arrangements in order to finance further development of its uranium properties 
and meet general and administrative expenses in the immediate and long term. As at December 31, 2015, the 
Company had cash on hand approximately $1.0 million.  

Please refer to Note 1, Nature of Operations and Going Concern in the consolidated financial statements for 
the year ended December 31, 2015 for details.  

During the year 2015, the Company raised C$2.5 million through a non-brokered private placement. 
21,935,296 units were issued with a unit exercise price of C$0.1125; each unit consists of one common share 
and one common share purchase warrant exercisable at C$0.18 for a period of two years from the closing 
dates subject to an acceleration clause.  

The Company incurred cash C$35,973 finders’ fees and issued agent warrants of 319,760 subject to the same 
terms and conditions as the warrants issued to the subscribers in the private placement.  

The proceeds of the private placement will be used for general corporate purposes and to fund the continued 
project optimization of the Madaouela project in Niger.  

During the year 2015, the Company spent $4.2 million in operating activities (2014 - $4.9 million) including $3.1 
million in exploration and evaluation activities (2014 - $4.0 million). The ability of the Company to continue its 
exploration and development activities is dependent on the continuing success of its uranium project 
development coupled with its ability to secure additional funding through the equity, debt, joint venture or other 
means of financing.  

Material increases or decreases in the Company’s liquidity and capital resources will be determined by the 
success of the Company in renewing its mineral licenses, obtaining its mining permit and obtaining equity or 
other sources of financing. On June 19, 2014, the Company successfully closed its IPO raising gross proceeds 
of $1.59 million which were primarily used in the environmental and social impact assessment and technical 
report update as well as general administrative and office support.  

Transactions with Related Parties 

The Company is a party to a shareholders’ cost-sharing agreement with a private company pursuant to which the 
Company had various other companies are equal shareholders in Global Mining Management Corp. (“GMM”) and 
through GMM, share office space, furnishings, equipment and communications facilities on a cost recovery basis and the 
employment, on a part-time basis, of various administrative, office and management personnel in Vancouver, British 
Columbia. Costs of the shared office facilities and the shared part-time employees and services providers are recovered 
from the Company proportionate to the time spent by the shared part-time employees and services providers on matters 
pertaining to the Company. The Company has utilized the services of the GMM staff and office since 2007.  

All transactions with related parties acting in their capacity as officers and directors of the Company have occurred in the 
normal course of the Company’s operations and have been measured at their fair value as determined by management.  

Key management, consisting of personnel having authority and responsibility for planning, directing, and controlling the 
Company, includes board of directors, Executive Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer.   
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Outstanding Share Capital  

As of April 21, 2016, the Company has 

a) 168.15 million common shares issued and outstanding; 
b) 14.10 million stock options outstanding at a weighted average exercise price of $0.44, and 4.4 million 

stock options exercisable at a weighted average price of $0.97. 
c) 22.25 million share purchases warrants exercisable at C$0.18 of which 16.23 million expiring on 

September 28, 2017 and 6.0 million on November 3, 2017.  

Off Balance Sheet Arrangements 

None 
 

 
Proposed Transactions 
 
As is typical of the mineral exploration and development industry, the Company periodically reviews 
potential acquisition, dispositions, investment, joint venture and other opportunities that could enhance 
shareholder value. Other than the Definitive Share Purchase Agreement with Denison as disclosed herein, 
there are no proposed transactions that would be considered by management to constitute a material 
change in the affairs of the Company as at the date hereof. 
 
 

Changes in Accounting Policies and Recent Accounting Pronouncements 
 

The Company has not made any changes to its significant accounting policies, as described within Note 2 
during the year ended December 31, 2015. Certain requirements were issued by the IASB that are 
mandatory for annual years beginning on or after January 1, 2016. These changes have not yet been early 
adopted and the Company is currently assessing the impact of adoption. 
 

Critical Accounting Estimates 
 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make estimates 
and assumptions that affect the reported amount of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent 
liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenues and expenditures 
during the reporting period. 
 
Significant estimates and assumptions about the future and other sources of estimation uncertainty that 
management has made could result in a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities in the event actual results differ from assumptions made. These assumptions relate to, but are not 
limited to: the determination the recoverability of mineral exploration rights; the determination of 
environmental obligations; the assumptions used in the determination of the fair value of stock-based 
compensation and derivative liability. Please refer to Note 2 of the Company’s 2015 audited consolidated 
financial statements for a description of the critical accounting estimates and judgment. 
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Financial Instruments 
 

The Company’s cash, amounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued liabilities, uranium loan and 
derivative liabilities are financial instruments.  
 
The derivative liability is measured at fair value and categorized in Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy used 
to measure financial instruments. The fair value of the derivative liability is based on the Black-Scholes 
option pricing model as determined at the reporting date. The recorded amount for cash, amounts 
receivable, accounts payable and accrued liabilities and the uranium loans approximate their fair values.  
 
Unless otherwise noted, it is management’s opinion that the Company is not exposed to significant interest, 
currency or credit risks arising from financial instruments. 
 

Forward Looking Statements 

The MD&A contains certain statements that may be deemed "Forward-Looking Statements."  Forward-Looking 
Statements may include, but is not limited to, statements with respect to the future financial and operating 
performance of the Company, its subsidiaries and affiliated companies, its mining projects, the future prices of 
uranium, the estimation of mineral resources, the realization of mineral resource estimates, costs of production, 
capital and exploration expenditures, costs and timing of the development of new deposits, costs and timing of 
the development of new mines, costs and timing of future exploration, requirements for additional capital, 
governmental regulation of mining operations and exploration operations, timing and receipt of approvals, 
licences, and conversions under applicable mineral legislation, environmental risks, title disputes or claims, 
limitations of insurance coverage and the timing and possible outcome of pending regulatory matters. Often, 
but not always, forward-looking statements can be identified by the use of words such as ‘‘plans’’, ‘‘expects’’, 
‘‘is expected’’, ‘‘budget’’, ‘‘scheduled’’, ‘‘estimates’’, ‘‘forecasts’’, ‘‘intends’’, ‘‘anticipates’’, or ‘‘believes’’ or 
variations (including negative variations) of such words and phrases, or state that certain actions, events or 
results ‘‘may’’, ‘‘could’’, ‘‘would’’, ‘‘might’’ or ‘‘will’’ be taken, occur or be achieved.  These statements reflect the 
Company’s current expectations regarding future events and operating performance and speak only as of the 
date of this MD&A. 
 
Such Forward-Looking Statements are based on a number of material factors and assumptions. The factors 
and assumptions contained in this MD&A that may prove to be incorrect include: general business, economic, 
competitive, political and social conditions; the results of current exploration activities; conclusions of economic 
evaluations and studies; the value of the United States dollar relative to the Canadian dollar, the Euro or the 
CFA franc; project parameters; future prices of uranium; anticipated ore grade or recovery rates; expectation 
that plant, equipment or processes operate as anticipated; obtaining governmental approvals or financing and 
the completion of development or construction activities. 

Forward-Looking Statements is subject to a variety of known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other 
factors that could cause actual events or results to differ from those expressed or implied by the Forward-
Looking Statements, including, without limitation, and to other factors including, the inability of the Company to 
obtain sufficient funding; the risk that mineral resource estimates may not be available; the limited infrastructure 
and mining supplies in the area of the Company’s projects; unforeseen changes in government regulation; 
instability in Niger; disagreements between the government of Niger and local Tuareg groups; public perception 
of nuclear power; and uncertain results of studies, evaluations, exploration and other related activities. 

This list is not exhaustive of the factors that may affect any of our Forward-Looking Statements and readers 
should refer to the heading “Risks and uncertainties” in this MD&A for further risks, uncertainties and other 
factors that could cause future events or conditions to differ materially from those reflected in the Forward-
Looking Statements. Although the Company has attempted to identify important factors that could cause actual 
actions, events or results to differ materially from those described in forward-looking statements, there may be 
other factors that cause actions, events or results to differ from those anticipated, estimated or intended. 
Forward-looking statements contained herein are made as of the date of this MD&A and the Company 
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disclaims any obligation to update any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, 
future events or results or otherwise. There can be no assurance that forward-looking statements will prove to 
be accurate, as actual results and future events could differ materially from those anticipated in such 
statements.  Accordingly, readers should not place undue reliance on forward-looking statements due to the 
inherent uncertainty therein. 

Note to U.S. Readers.  

The Company uses Canadian Institute of Mining, Metallurgy and Petroleum definitions for the terms 
"measured resources”, “indicated resources" and “inferred resources”. The Company advises investors 
that while those terms are recognized and required by Canadian regulations, the U.S. Securities and 
Exchange Commission do not recognize them. Investors are cautioned not to assume that any part or all 
of mineral deposits in these categories will ever be converted into reserves. 

Financial Risks and Management Objectives 

The Company is engaged in mining exploration and development activities which are subject to a number of 
risks and uncertainties, each of which could have an adverse effect on the result, business prospects or 
financial position of the Company.  

The Company’s securities should be considered a highly speculative investment and investors should carefully 
consider all of the information disclosed in the Company’s regulatory filings prior to making an investment in the 
Company.   

The risks noted below do not necessarily comprise all of the risks faced by the Company. Additional risks not 
currently known to the Company, or that the Company currently considers immaterial, may also adversely 
impact the Company’s business, financial results and prospects. 

Risks Related to the Business of the Company 

The Company cannot guarantee that the Madaouela Project will become a commercially viable mine, or that it 
will discover any commercially viable uranium deposits. 

Uranium exploration, development, and operations are highly speculative and are characterized by a number of 
significant inherent risks, which even a combination of careful evaluation, experience and knowledge may not 
eliminate and may result in the inability to develop a project. These risks include, among other things, 
unprofitable efforts resulting not only from the failure to discover additional uranium mineral resources, but also 
from finding uranium mineral resources that are insufficient in quantity and quality to return a profit from 
production. Few properties that are explored are ultimately developed into producing mines. Unusual or 
unexpected formations, formation pressures, flooding, fires, power outages, lack of water, labour disruptions, 
civil instability and the inability to obtain suitable or adequate machinery, equipment or labour are other risks 
involved in mining operations and the conduct of exploration and development programs, as well as the inability 
to obtain required capital. There is no assurance that the foregoing risks will not occur and inhibit, delay or 
cease the development of the Madaouela Project or the Company’s other exploration or development activities, 
all of which could have an adverse impact on the Company’s business, results of operations, financial condition 
and prospects. 

Estimates of mineral resources are, to a large extent, based upon the interpretation of geological data obtained 
from drill holes and other sampling techniques and technical studies. This information is used to calculate 
estimates of the capital costs, operating costs, other financial parameters based upon anticipated tonnage and 
grades of ore to be mined and processed, the configuration of the mineral resource, expected recovery rates, 
comparable facilities and equipment operating costs, anticipated climatic conditions and other factors. As a 
result, it is possible that the actual capital cost, operating costs, other economic parameters and economic 
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returns of any proposed mine may differ from those estimated and such differences could be material and 
could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, results of operations, financial condition and 
prospects. There can be no assurance that the Company will be able to complete the development of the 
Madaouela Project on budget or at all. This could be due to, among other things, and in addition to those 
factors described above, a decline in uranium prices; changes in the economics of the Madaouela Project; 
delays in receiving required consents, permits and licenses; problems with the delivery and installation of plant 
and equipment; cost overruns; changes in governmental regulations, including regulations relating to prices, 
taxes, royalties, infrastructure, land use, importing and exporting of commodities and environmental protection. 
Should any of these events occur, it would have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, results 
of operations, financial condition and prospects. 

The Company may not have sufficient funds to develop its mineral properties or to complete further exploration 
programs.  

The exploration and development of mineral deposits involves significant financial risks over a prolonged period 
of time, which even if there is a combination of careful evaluation, experience and knowledge may not be 
eliminated. Uranium exploration is expensive and major expenditures may be required to establish reserves by 
drilling and to construct mining and processing facilities.  

The Company has limited financial resources from which to satisfy expenditures and its business strategy will 
likely require additional substantial capital investment. The Company currently generates no operating revenue, 
and must finance exploration activity and the development of its mineral properties by other means. The 
sources of external financing that the Company may use for these purposes include project or bank financing, 
or public or private offerings of equity or debt. Financing for the Company’s activates may not be available on 
acceptable terms, or at all.  

In the future, the Company’s ability to continue exploration, development and production activities, if any, will 
depend on its ability to obtain additional external financing. Any unexpected costs, problems or delays could 
severely impact the Company’s ability to continue exploration and development activities, and obtain additional 
financing.  

Negative cash flow from operating activities  

The Company has no history of earnings and had negative cash flow from operating activities since inception. 
The Madaouela Project is in the exploration stage and significant capital investment will be required to achieve 
commercial production therefrom. There is no assurance that the Madaouela Project will generate earnings, 
operate profitably or provide a return on investment in the future. Accordingly, the Company will be required to 
obtain additional financing in order to meet its future cash commitments. 

The Company depends on a single project in Niger and any adverse change to that project or to Niger would 
materially impact the Company. 

The Company’s primary asset is its interest in the Madaouela Project. Any material adverse development 
affecting the progress of this project will have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, results of 
operations, financial condition and prospects. The Company has no other mineral projects of a material nature 
which would mitigate any material adverse development affecting the Madaouela Project. In addition, all of the 
Company’s mineral projects are located in a single jurisdiction, and any material adverse political, economic, 
social or other changes (including those described elsewhere in these risk factors) affecting Niger would have a 
material adverse impact on the Company’s business, results of operations, financial condition and prospects. 
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The Company’s exploration, development and future operations are subject to numerous risks associated with 
operating in foreign jurisdictions. 

The Company’s mineral projects are located solely in Niger, West Africa, and therefore its activities are subject 
to the risks normally associated with the conduct of business in foreign countries. The occurrence of one or 
more of these risks could have a material and adverse effect on the Company’s profitability or the viability of its 
affected foreign operations, which could have a material and adverse effect on the Company’s business, 
results of operations, financial condition and prospects. 

The Company’s ability to carry on its business in the normal course may be adversely affected by political and 
economic considerations such as civil and tribal unrest, war (including in neighbouring states), terrorist actions, 
labour disputes, corruption, sovereign risk, political instability, the failure of foreign parties or governments to 
honour contractual relations, consents, rejections or waivers granted, changing (or arbitrary) government 
regulations with respect to mining including environmental requirements, taxation, land tenure, foreign 
investments, income repatriation and capital recovery, fluctuations in currency exchange and inflation rates, 
import and export restrictions, challenges to the Company’s title to properties, problems renewing licenses and 
permits, opposition to mining from environmental or other nongovernmental organizations, increased financing 
costs, instability due to economic under-development, inadequate infrastructure, and the expropriation of 
property interests. In addition, the government of Niger, or its court system, may not recognize, protect or 
enforce the Company’s legal rights. The Government may take action which is arbitrary or illegal. Any of these 
events could result in conditions that delay or prevent the Company from exploring or ultimately developing its 
mineral projects. 

The economy and political system of Niger should be considered by investors to be less predictable than in 
countries such as Canada. The possibility that the current, or a future, government may adopt substantially 
different policies or take arbitrary action which might halt exploration, involve the re-nationalization of private 
assets or the cancellation of contracts, the cancellation of mining and exploration rights and/or changes in 
taxation treatment cannot be ruled out, the happening of any of which could result in a material and adverse 
effect on the Company’s business, results of operations, financial condition and prospects. 

The Company has no history of production and no revenue from operations. 

The Company has no history of production and no revenue from operations. The Company is an exploration 
and pre-development company and all of its mineral properties are in the exploration stage. The Company has 
no history of mining operations and to date has generated no revenue from such operations. As such, the 
Company is subject to many risks common to such enterprises, including under-capitalization, cash shortages, 
limitations with respect to personnel, financial and other resources and lack of revenues. The Company has not 
defined or delineated any proven or probable reserves on any of its properties. 

The Company has no mineral properties in production or under development. 

The Company does not currently have mineral properties under development. If the development of the 
Company’s properties is found to be economically feasible, the Company will be required to engage in the 
construction and operation of mines, processing plants and related infrastructure. As a result, the Company will 
continue to be subject to all of the risks associated with establishing new mining operations, including: 

 unexpected variations in grade and material mined and processed; 

 unexpected variation in plant performance; 

 potential unrest and other hostilities in the area where the Company’s mineral properties are located 
which may delay or prevent development activities; 

 uncertainty regarding the timing and cost of the construction of mining and processing facilities; 
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 the inability to establish and build the necessary infrastructure, particularly adequate water and power 
supply; 

 the inability to source skilled labour and mining equipment; 

 the inability to obtain necessary environmental and other governmental approvals and permits and the 
timing of the receipt of those approvals and permits; 

 the unavailability of funds to finance development and construction activities; 

 opposition from non-governmental organizations, environmental groups or local groups which may 
delay or prevent development activities; and 

 potential increases in operating costs due to changes in the cost of fuel, power, water materials and 
supplies and changes in capital costs due to changing operational plans and supply inputs. 

Cost estimates to develop a project may increase as more detailed engineering work is completed on a project. 
It is common in new mining operations to experience unexpected costs, problems and delays during 
construction, development and mine start-up. In addition, delays in the early stages of mineral production often 
occur. Accordingly, the Company cannot provide assurance that its activities will result in mining operations at 
its mineral properties. 

Resource estimates may not be reliable. 

The figures presented for mineral resources in this prospectus are only estimates. The estimating of mineral 
resources is a subjective process and the accuracy of mineral resource estimates is a function of the quantity 
and quality of available data, the accuracy of statistical computations, and the assumptions used and 
judgments made in interpreting available engineering and geological information. There is significant 
uncertainty in any mineral resource estimate and the actual deposits encountered and the economic viability of 
a deposit may differ materially from the Company’s estimates. 

Estimated mineral resources may have to be re-estimated based on further exploration or development activity. 
This could materially and adversely affect estimates of the volume or grade of mineralization, estimated 
recovery rates or other important factors that influence mineral resource estimates.  

Mineral resources are not mineral reserves and there is no assurance that any mineral resources will ultimately 
be reclassified as proven or probable reserves. Mineral resources which are not mineral reserves do not have 
demonstrated economic viability. 

Inferred mineral resources are subject to a greater degree of uncertainty. 

There is a risk that inferred mineral resources cannot be converted into measured or indicated mineral 
resources. Due to the uncertainty attached to inferred mineral resources, there is no assurance that inferred 
mineral resources will be upgraded to resources with sufficient geological continuity to constitute proven and 
probable mineral reserves as a result of continued exploration. 

The Republic of Niger has the right to acquire an interest in the Company’s projects that would dilute the 
Company’s interest in its projects. 

In accordance with the Mining Code, the Republic of Niger is entitled to a mandatory non-dilutable 10% 
participation in the Company’s operating subsidiaries in Niger, free of any charge and contributions of any kind. 
In addition, the Republic of Niger has the option to purchase up to an additional 30% interest in the Company’s 
operating subsidiaries (for fair market value), for which the Republic of Niger shall bear all corresponding 
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charges and contributions. In total, the Niger government may participate in the Company’s projects in Niger up 
to a maximum of 40%. The Company’s ownership in its operating subsidiaries may therefore be diluted by the 
Republic of Niger, which would indirectly dilute shareholders and which may negatively affect the market price 
of the Company’s securities.  

The mineral deposits on the Company’s properties may not be commercially viable. 

Whether a uranium or any other mineral deposit will be commercially viable depends on a number of factors, 
some of which depend on the particular attributes of the deposit (such as its size and grade), proximity to 
infrastructure, financing costs and governmental regulations (including regulations relating to prices, taxes, 
royalties, infrastructure, land use, importing and exporting of uranium and other minerals and environmental 
protection). The effect of these factors cannot be accurately predicted, but a combination of these factors may 
result in the Company not receiving an adequate or any return on invested capital. 

Limited infrastructure and mining supplies could adversely affect future operations. 

Mining, processing, development and exploration activities depend, to one degree or another, on adequate 
infrastructure. Reliable roads, power sources and particularly water supply are important determinants that 
affect capital and operating costs. Process reagents, such as sulphuric acid, as well as fuel, will need to be 
imported. An inability to create or access such infrastructure due to weather phenomena, sabotage, 
government or other interference could adversely affect the operations, profitability, financial condition, results 
of operations and prospects of the Company.  

The Company’s exploration licenses may expire and not be renewed, and if they are renewed they are subject 
to a reduction in the license area. . 

The maintenance of exploration licenses is a very detailed and time-consuming process. An exploration 
license, once received, is valid for three years and may be renewed twice for three years each upon application 
to the Minister of Mines and Industrial Development, subject to required reductions of 50% of the applicable 
permit area each time it is renewed. Additionally, the exploration license may be extended for one year for 
technical reasons in order to complete a feasibility study.  

In connection with each of those licenses, the Company agreed to complete an exploration work program and 
to meet certain milestones set forth in the Mining Conventions for each license. If the Company is unable to 
complete the exploration work program and meet such milestones for any reason, it may lose its licenses.  

The Company’s title to its mineral properties may be challenged. 

Although the title to the properties in which the Company holds an interest was reviewed by or on behalf of the 
Company, and title opinions were obtained by the Company with regard to its properties upon their acquisition, 
there still may be undetected title defects affecting such properties. Third parties may have known or unknown 
valid claims underlying portions of the Company’s interests, including claims from prior holders of mineral 
interests in the same area or technical defects in the granting or approval of mineral interests (including 
exploration licences) or in the transfers of any mineral interest. Title may be affected by, among other things, 
undetected defects, including legal defects. The Company does not maintain title insurance, which is generally 
not available for projects in Niger. 

Uranium exploration can be difficult due to the nature of the deposits and therefore exploration costs may be 
difficult to estimate. 

Many sophisticated techniques are used to find uranium such as geophysical and geochemical analyses, 
satellite and airborne radiometric surveys, water sampling, and drilling. Because uranium deposits usually 
occur in discrete sandstone rollfronts, rather than long continuous seams as with coal and oil, the exploration 
process can be difficult and expensive. A drill hole, for example, can slightly miss a large deposit, thereby 
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giving a false indication that there is no uranium present. Likewise, the drill hole can also produce misleading 
results when it hits a tiny pocket of uranium. Therefore, many drill holes are usually needed to characterize the 
extent of the ore deposit. An increase in exploration costs could adversely affect the financial condition of the 
Company. 

The Company will incur losses for the foreseeable future. 

The Company expects to incur losses unless and until such time as its mineral projects generate sufficient 
revenues to fund continuing operations. The exploration and development of the Company’s mineral properties 
will require the commitment of substantial financial resources that may not be available. The amount and timing 
of expenditures will depend on a number of factors, including the progress of ongoing exploration and 
development, the results of consultants’ analysis and recommendations, the rate at which operating losses are 
incurred, the execution of any joint venture agreements with strategic partners and the acquisition of additional 
property interests, some of which are beyond the control of the Company. The Company cannot provide 
assurance that it will ever achieve profitability. 

The Company may not be able to enforce its legal rights in a dispute with foreign persons. 

In the event of a dispute, the Company may be subject to the exclusive jurisdiction of foreign courts or may not 
be successful in subjecting foreign persons to the jurisdiction of the courts in Canada. A foreign court process 
may be conducted under rules and procedures that are different than those found in countries with more 
familiar legal systems, and may not result in a fair hearing for the Company. The Company may also be 
hindered or prevented from enforcing its rights with respect to a government or entity or instrumentality 
because of the doctrine of sovereign immunity. Any adverse or arbitrary decision of a foreign court may have a 
materially adverse impact on the Company’s business, results of operations, financial condition and prospects. 

Changes in government regulation may restrict or prevent the Company’s operations. 

Mining, processing, development and mineral exploration activities in Niger are subject to various laws 
governing prospecting, development, production, taxes, labour standards and occupational health, mine safety, 
toxic substances, land use, water use, and other matters. Although the Company’s management believes that 
its exploration activities are currently carried out in accordance with all applicable rules and regulations, no 
assurance can be given that new rules and regulations will not be enacted or that existing rules and regulations 
will not be applied in a manner which could limit or curtail future development or production. Amendments to 
current laws and regulations governing operations and activities of mining and milling or more stringent 
implementation thereof could adversely affect the business, results of operations, financial condition and 
prospects of the Company. 

The Company’s operations are subject to environmental regulation, which may impose costs on the Company 
and restrict the Company’s operations.  

The Company’s operations are subject to environmental regulation including regular environmental impact 
assessments and the requirement to obtain and maintain certain permits. Such regulation covers a wide variety 
of matters, including, without limitation, prevention of waste, pollution and protection of the environment, labour 
regulations and health and safety. The Company may also be subject under such regulations to clean-up costs 
and liability for toxic or hazardous substances which may exist on or under any of its properties or which may 
be produced as a result of its operations. Environmental legislation and permitting requirements are likely to 
evolve in a manner which will require stricter standards and enforcement, increased fines and penalties for 
non-compliance, more stringent environmental assessments of proposed projects and a heightened degree of 
responsibility for companies and their directors and employees.  
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The Company requires sufficient water to develop its projects, which may not be available 

The mining of uranium on the Company’s Madaouela Project will require a sufficient source of water. The 
Company has evaluated whether the ground water present on or near the Madaouela Project will be sufficient 
to support mining operations, and the data indicates that such will be the case. However, part of this water 
supply is located in the Agaliouk tenement, for which the Company’s exploration license is pending, and there 
can be no assurance it will be granted. While the Company believes the Madaouela Project could proceed 
without the water located on the Agaliouk tenement, there can be no assurance an inability to secure the 
supply would not have an adverse effect on the Company’s development efforts at the Madaouela Project. In 
addition, failure of further works to support the findings to date could prevent or delay mining operations on the 
Company’s Madaouela Project.  

The Company currently maintains no insurance against any risks, other than directors’ and officers’ insurance 
and vehicle insurance in Niger.  

The Company may acquire insurance in the future to protect against certain risks in such amounts as it 
considers reasonable. However, any insurance coverage obtained by the Company may not be adequate to 
cover any resulting liability. The Company may also be unable to maintain insurance to cover certain risks at 
economically feasible premiums. Insurance against risks such as environmental pollution or other hazards as a 
result of exploration and production is not generally available to the Company or to other companies in the 
mining and exploration industry on acceptable terms. The Company might also become subject to liability for 
pollution or other hazards which it may not be insured against or which the Company may elect not to insure 
against because of premium costs or other reasons.  

The potential costs that could be associated with any liabilities not covered by insurance or in excess of 
insurance coverage actually taken out may cause substantial delays and require significant capital outlays, 
adversely affecting the Company’s business, results of operations, financial condition and prospects. 

Resignations by key personnel would materially impact the Company.  

The Company believes that its growth and success depends in significant part on the continued employment of 
the Company’s executive officers and key technical personnel. The Company must also continue to attract and 
retain key management, technical, finance and operating personnel. Experienced management and other 
highly skilled personnel are in great demand. If the Company is unable to attract or retain key personnel, it 
could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, results of operations, financial condition and 
prospects. 

Because the Company incurs expenses in West African CFA Francs and Euros, it is subject to changes in 
foreign exchange rates. 

The Company is exploring properties in Niger for uranium and incurring certain operating expenses in Euros 
and West African CFA Francs, an African currency tied to the Euro. However, the Company maintains its 
accounting records and reports its financial position and results in United States dollars. Exchange rate 
fluctuations in these currencies are beyond the Company’s control and such fluctuations could have an 
adverse effect on the Company’s business, financial condition and results of operations.  

Certain directors of the Company may have conflicts of interest with the Company. 

Certain of the directors and officers of the Company also serve as directors and/or officers of other companies 
involved in natural resource exploration and development and, consequently, there exists the possibility for 
such directors and officers to be in a position of conflict. Any decision made by any of such directors and 
officers of the Company should be made in accordance with their duties and obligations to deal fairly and in 
good faith with a view to the best interests of the Company and its shareholders. In addition, each of the 
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directors is required to declare and refrain from voting on any matter in which such directors may have a 
conflict of interest in accordance with the procedures set forth in applicable laws.  

The Company may be required to redeem the Tranche B Bond early. 

Toshiba is entitled upon notice to the Company, such notice not to take effect prior to December 31, 2017, to 
have the Company repay the Tranche B Bond in full if: (i) the Company has not completed a feasibility study on 
the Madaouela Project prior to December 31, 2017; or (ii) the total production and capital costs per pound of 
U308, as estimated in a feasibility study prepared in respect of the Madaouela Project, is not lower than $44. On 
September 3, 2015, the Company announced that Toshiba has agreed to extend the uranium debt to 
December 31, 2017. If Toshiba redeems the Tranche B Bond before its maturity date and the Company is 
unable to repay the amount owing in full, Toshiba may exercise its security on the shares of the Company’s 
subsidiaries and/or the exploration licenses held by GoviEx Niger Holdings Ltd. 

The Company may become subject to litigation. 

The Company presently has a dispute with one of its former employees regarding his termination. The 
Company believes it has substantial defences to any potential legal claim with respect of this matter and its 
ultimate settlement will not have a material adverse effect on the financial position or results of operations of 
the Company. 
 

All industries, including the mining industry, may be made subject to legal claims, with and without merit. 
Defence and settlement costs can be substantial, even with respect to claims that have no merit. Due to the 
inherent uncertainty of litigation process, the resolution of any particular legal proceeding could have a material 
adverse effect on the Company’s business, results of operations, financial condition and prospects. 

Risks Related to Operations in Niger 

Niger has experienced political instability and uncertainty in the past, and as such, future political stability and 
certainty cannot be assured.  

Since obtaining its independence from France in 1960, Niger has had a succession of governments and 
experienced a military coup d’état in February 2010 after the previously elected president refused to leave 
office at the expiration of his term. See “Republic of Niger – Geopolitical Issues”. Since the coup d’état, a new 
constitution has been adopted by round of elections held on March 2011 and resulted in a victory for 
Mahamadou Issoufou. The handover of power from the military junta to the elected government took place in 
April 2011, and stable government has remained in place since. President Mahamadou Issoufou was 
inaugurated for a second term on April 2, 2016 following a peaceful election process.  

Notwithstanding the political uncertainties described above, all government ministries, including the Ministry of 
Mines and Industrial Development, have continued to operate normally under the direction of their respective 
Ministers. The Company’s operations were largely unaffected by the February 2010 coup d’état and the 
institution of the transitional government. Furthermore, there has been little or no disruption to the supply of 
uranium from Niger. However, there can be no assurance that future unrest or any new government will 
continue to support uranium mining in Niger by the Company or any other party. In addition there can be no 
certainty that a duly elected government will remain in power and not be removed from power by undemocratic 
means. If any future government of Niger adopts policies that do not support mining activities in the country, or 
the activities of the Ministry of Mines and Industrial Development are disrupted or deviate from past practice, 
such events could have a negative impact on the Company’s business, results of operations, financial condition 
and prospects.  
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Safety and security concerns may force the Company to curtail or cease exploration operations. 

Niger has had to respond to the threat posed by regional terrorist organizations, primarily Al-Qaeda in the 
Islamic Maghreb which operates across the Sahara desert. In January 2011, two French citizens were 
kidnapped from a diplomatic neighbourhood in Niamey and later found dead. AQIM later claimed responsibility 
for the kidnappings, which makes it the third kidnapping by AQIM in Niger since April 2010. According to the 
press, AQIM was holding four French citizens, employees and contractors of the French company Areva, who 
were taken from Arlit in September 2010 and released in October 2013. In May 2013, suicide bombers staged 
separate attacks on a military barracks and at the Somiar uranium mining site near Arlit. The Niger Ministry of 
Defence minister says al-Qaeda-linked militants are suspected of carrying out the attacks. 

In the past, the security situation in Niger has been unstable and may worsen with an increasing threat of 
kidnapping, an unpredictable political and security situation, a risk of armed banditry and clashes between 
Niger’s security forces and rebel groups. Foreigners have in the past been targeted by militant groups 
operating in Niger, and attacks by such groups may have an adverse impact on the Company’s operations, 
including its exploration activities. If the situation escalates and poses a risk to the health and safety of the 
Company’s personnel operating in the area, then the Company may be forced to curtail or cease exploration 
activities in some or all areas, which may result in a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, results 
of operations, financial condition and prospects. 

Risks Related to the Uranium Industry 

Declines in the uranium price will adversely impact the Company. 

The Company’s activities will be focussed almost exclusively on the exploration and development of uranium 
mining properties in Niger. The price of uranium is thus an important factor in the future profitability of the 
Company and, in turn, the market price of the Common Shares. Historically, the price of uranium has varied 
widely and is subject to factors outside of the Company’s control. Such factors include, among others: demand 
for nuclear power, political and economic conditions in uranium producing and consuming countries, public and 
political response to a nuclear accident, improvements in nuclear reactor efficiencies, reprocessing of used 
reactor fuel and the re-enrichment of depleted uranium tails, sales of excess civilian and military inventories 
(including the dismantling of nuclear weapons) by governments and industry participants, and production levels 
and production costs in key uranium producing countries. Any such variation in the price of uranium in the future 
could cause the market price of the Common Shares to fluctuate and could increase the Company’s cost of 
capital. 

The Company is subject to strong competition in the uranium industry and the field of nuclear energy.  

According to the World Nuclear Association, ten mining companies produce nearly 90% of world production, 
while 73 electric utilities operate nuclear power plants and buy uranium fuel. The mining and mineral 
exploration industry and in particular, the international uranium industry, is competitive in all of its phases. 
The Company faces strong competition from other mining and exploration companies in connection with the 
acquisition of properties producing, or capable of producing, uranium and uranium oxide. Many of these 
companies have greater financial resources, operational experience and technical capabilities than the 
Company for the acquisition of mineral claims, leases and other mineral interests as well as for the recruitment 
and retention of qualified employees and other personnel. Many of these companies also have mineral projects in 
production. As a result of this competition, the Company may be unable to acquire additional attractive mining or 
exploration properties on terms it considers acceptable or at all. Consequently, the Company’s business, results 
of operations, financial condition and prospects could be adversely affected. 

A failure of the nuclear power industry to expand could adversely affect the Company. 

The expansion of nuclear power in the U.S. and Europe depends critically on regulatory and financial factors 
and appears likely to be modest. Much of the expansion of nuclear power is expected to be in China, India, 
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South Korea and other parts of Asia, Russia, and in countries new to nuclear power, such as the United Arab 
Emirates. There are substantial uncertainties about the pace of these deployments. 

If the nuclear power industry fails to expand, or if there is a reduction in demand by electric utilities for newly-
produced uranium for any reason, it would adversely affect the Company’s business, results of operations, 
financial condition and prospects and could materially impact the market price of the Common Shares.  

The nuclear power industry is uniquely subject to the risk of a change in public opinion. 

Nuclear energy competes with other sources of energy, including natural gas, coal and hydroelectricity. These 
other energy sources are to some extent interchangeable with nuclear energy, particularly over the longer term. 
Sustained lower prices of natural gas, coal and hydro-electricity, as well as the possibility of developing 
other low cost sources for energy, may result in lower demand for uranium. Furthermore, growth of the uranium 
and nuclear power industry will depend upon continued and increased acceptance of nuclear technology as a 
means of generating electricity. Because of unique political, technological and environmental factors that affect 
the nuclear power industry, the industry is subject to public opinion risks which could have an adverse 
impact on the demand for nuclear power, increase the regulation of the nuclear power industry, and delay the 
rate of construction of new nuclear power plants. 

Any nuclear accident would reduce the demand for uranium and adversely affect the Company. 

Nuclear power plant operations and the rate of construction of new plants are potentially subject to disruption 
by a nuclear accident. There have been three such accidents: the 1979 partial core meltdown at Three Mile 
Island in the United States, the 1986 Chernobyl accident in the Ukraine, and the 2011 accident in Fukushima, 
Japan following an earthquake and the resulting tsunami. While neither the Three Mile Island nor Chernobyl 
accident resulted in the shutdown of other nuclear power stations, these events substantially reduced the rate 
of deployment of new power plants.  

As a consequence of the Japanese nuclear incident, most countries, while declaring their support for nuclear 
power, have called for technical reviews of all safety and security systems of existing nuclear plants and those 
under construction and a review of the nuclear safety regulations governing the industry. While the duration 
and magnitude of the total impact of the Fukushima accident on the nuclear power industry are impossible to 
predict, it can be expected to result in the premature closure of certain reactors, particularly older reactors, and 
to delay the forecast growth rate of nuclear capacity. Additionally, a future accident at a nuclear reactor 
anywhere in the world could result in the shutdown of existing plants or impact the continued acceptance by the 
public and regulatory authorities of nuclear energy and the future prospects for nuclear generators, each of 
which could have a material adverse effect on the Company. 

Technical development in the field of nuclear energy could reduce demand for uranium. 

Requirements for the Company’s products and services may be affected by technological changes in nuclear 
reactors, enrichment and used uranium fuel processing. These technical changes could reduce the demand for 
uranium. In addition, the Company’s competitors may adopt technological advancements that give them an 
advantage over the Company. 

Risks Related to the Common Shares 

If the Company issues shares to fund future growth, the shareholders of the Company will suffer dilution. 

The Company may need to obtain additional resources in the future in order to execute the Company’s growth 
strategy, including the possible acquisition of new businesses and assets. The Company may issue additional 
equity securities to finance such operations, development, acquisitions or other projects. The Company cannot 
predict the size or frequency of such future issuances, if any. Sales or issuances of a substantial number of 
equity securities, or the perception that such sales could occur, may adversely affect prevailing market prices 
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for the Common Shares. With any additional sale or issuance of equity securities, investors will suffer dilution of 
their voting power and may experience dilution in the Company’s earning per share.  

The market price for the Common Shares could fluctuate after the Offering based on factors which are not 
related to the Company’s business.  

In recent years, the stock market has experienced significant price and volume fluctuations. This volatility has 
had a significant effect on the market price of securities issued by many companies for reasons unrelated to the 
operating performance of these companies. The market price of the Common Shares could similarly be subject 
to wide fluctuations in response to a number of factors, most of which the Company cannot control, including: 

 the price of uranium; 

 changes in securities analysts’ recommendations and their estimates of our financial performance; 

 changes in market valuations of similar companies; 

 investor perception of the Company’s industry or prospects or the country in which it operates; 

 the public’s reaction to press releases, announcements and filings with securities regulatory authorities 
by other companies in the Company’s industry; 

 changes in environmental and other governmental regulations; and 

 changes in general conditions in domestic or international economies or, financial markets or in the 
mining industry. 

The impact of any of these risks and other factors beyond the Company’s control could cause the market price 
of the Common Shares to decline significantly. 

Future sales of Common Shares by existing shareholders could cause the Common Share price to fall. 

Future sales of Common Shares by any major shareholder could decrease the market price of the Common 
Shares. The Company cannot predict the size of future sales by shareholders, or the effect, if any, that such 
sales will have on the market price of the Common Shares. However, sales of a substantial number of 
Common Shares, or the perception that such sales could occur, may adversely affect prevailing market prices 
for the Common Shares. 

The Company does not intend to pay cash dividends in the foreseeable future. 

No dividends on the Common Shares have been paid by the Company to date. The Company currently plans to 
retain all future earnings and other cash resources, if any, for the future development and operation of its 
business. Payment of any future dividends, if any, will be at the discretion of the Company’s board of directors 
after taking into account many factors, including the Company’s operating results, financial condition, and 
current and anticipated cash needs. The Company does not intend to pay cash dividends in the foreseeable 
future. Moreover, under the terms of the Tranche B Bond, until that bond’s repayment or redemption the 
Company may not declare or pay any dividends or make any distributions on any of its securities (other than 
the payment of interest, principal, fees or costs on debt securities). 

 


